
 

 
 
 

Damian Allen 
Chief Executive 
___________________________________________________________________ 
Issued on: Wednesday, 8 June 2022 
 
Governance Services Officer for this meeting Amber Torrington 

01302 737462 
  
 
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 
www.doncaster.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Agenda 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
To all Members of the 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Committee is to be held as follows: 
  

Venue:    Council Chamber, Floor 2, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster DN1 3BU  
 
Date:       Thursday, 16th June, 2022 
 
Time:      10.00 am 
 
 
(Please Note: Anyone attending the meeting is encouraged to wear a face 
covering throughout the meeting and when using all communal areas in the 
Civic Office, including washrooms and lifts. Face coverings can be removed 
when speaking).  
 
 
BROADCASTING NOTICE  
 
This meeting is being recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Council’s 
web site. The Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act and 
images collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the 
Council’s published policy. Please be aware that by entering the meeting, you 
accept that you may be recorded and the recording used for the purpose set 
out above.  

 

Public Document Pack



 
 
Items for Discussion: 
 
                    PageNo. 
1.   Apologies for absence   

 
 

2.   To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded from the meeting.   
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest, if any.   
 

 

4.   Minutes of the Licensing Committee Meeting held on 25 November 
2021   
 

1 - 2 

A.  Reports where the public and press may not be excluded 
 

 

For Decision  
 

 

5.   Terms of Reference, Procedures and Delegations.   
 

3 - 30 

6.   Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005 and General Licensing 
Update.   
 

31 - 36 

7.   Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy.   
 

37 - 220 

 
 
 

Members of the Licensing Committee  
 

Chair – Councillor Dave Shaw 
Vice-Chair – Councillor Linda Curran 

 
Councillors Nick Allen, Iris Beech, Bev Chapman, Martin Greenhalgh, John Healy 
Charlie Hogarth, Barry Johnson, Sophie Liu, Emma Muddiman-Rawlins 
David Nevett, Thomas Noon and Ian Pearson 

 
 
 



A. 1 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY, 25TH NOVEMBER, 2021 
 
A MEETING of the LICENSING COMMITTEE was held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
CIVIC OFFICE on THURSDAY, 25TH NOVEMBER, 2021, at 10.00 am. 
 
PRESENT:  

Chair - Councillor Dave Shaw 

Vice-Chair - Councillor Linda Curran 

 

Councillors Nick Allen, Martin Greenhalgh, Emma Muddiman-Rawlins, Thomas Noon 
and Ian Pearson. 
 
APOLOGIES: 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Iris Beech, Bev Chapman, 
John Healy, Charlie Hogarth, Barry Johnson and David Nevett. 
 

6 Declarations of Interest, if any 
 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 
 

7 Minutes of the Licensing Committee Meeting held on 17th June, 2021 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting held on 
17th June, 2021, be approved as a correct record. 

 
8 Statement of Licensing Policy 2022 - Gambling Act 2005 

 
The Committee considered a report, presented by David Smith, the Licensing Officer, 
which set out a proposed Statement of Licensing Policy 2022, Gambling Act 2005, 
following its triennial review. 
 
The Council was required under the Gambling Act 2005, to produce a Statement of 
Licensing Policy and to review its Policy triennially.  It was noted that the report was 
the sixth Statement of Policy produced by the Council under the Gambling Act 2005, 
which set out the steps that needed to be taken by Applicants and how the Licensing 
Committee would conduct hearings for applications that could not be resolved. 
 
Members were informed that the Statement had been produced following public 

consultation including those bodies and persons set out at Section 1.10 of the draft 

Policy, which resulted in only one response from a trade representative.  The details of 

the response and the changes made to the policy as a result, were detailed within 

Appendix B to the report.  With the exception of minor administrative changes, the 

proposed Policy was generally unchanged from the current version, a copy of which 

was attached as Appendix C to the report. 

 

Members were requested to note the response to the consultation and recommend 

that Full Council adopt the revised policy. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

A. 2 
 

 

Following the Chair affording Members in the Chamber the opportunity to speak on 
the report, an amendment to the Gambling Policy was MOVED and Seconded in that 
the term ‘Addiction’ be included within the heading ‘Vulnerable Persons’ at paragraph 
7.2 of the revised Policy on page number 47 of the agenda papers. 
 
Following a discussion with Officers on whether the Policy could be amended at this 
stage in the adoption process and a subsequent adjournment to consider relevant 
legislation and guidance, Members were informed that guidance from the Gambling 
Commission, which was one of the consultees, stated that the Commission did not 
seek to define vulnerable persons and it was for regulatory purposes, and therefore, 
the definition in the revised Policy reflected what was in the Gambling Commission 
guidance. 
 
Subsequent to the advice provided to Members of the Committee, the amendment to 
include the term ‘Addiction’ within the heading ‘Vulnerable Persons’ at paragraph 7.2 
of the revised Gambling Policy, was again Moved and Seconded. 
 
A vote was taken on the amendment to the Gambling Policy proposed by Councillor 
Thomas Noon, which was declared as follows:- 
 
For - 2 
 
Against - 5 
 
Abstain - 0 
 
On being put to the meeting, the amendment to the Gambling Policy was declared 
LOST.  However, the Chair, Councillor Dave Shaw, requested that Officers specifically 
consider whether the term ‘Addiction’ could be included in the Statement of Licensing 
Policy 2022, Gambling Act 2005, during the next triennial review. 
 

RESOLVED that the Committee support the reviewed Statement of Licensing 

 Policy 2022, Gambling Act 2005, and recommend it to Cabinet prior to adoption 

 by Full Council. 

 
9 Adjournment of Meeting 

 
RESOLVED that in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 18.11(f), 
the meeting stand adjourned at 10.20 a.m. to be reconvened on this day at 
 10.30 a.m. 
 

10 Reconvening of Meeting 
 
The meeting reconvened at 10.30 a.m. 
 

Page 2



 

Report 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Date: 16 June 2022 
To the Chair and Members of the  
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE, PROCEDURES AND DELEGATIONS 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The purpose of this report is for the Licensing Committee to note the Terms of 

Reference for the discharge of licensing functions, to agree the procedure for 
hearings, to agree the delegation of functions, to agree the appointment of Members 
to the Licensing Sub-Committee and to agree the procedure for dealing with appeals. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2. a) It is recommended that Members note: 
 

(i) The Terms of Reference for the Licensing Committee as detailed in 
Appendix A to this report, which remain unchanged. 

 
(ii) The Terms of Reference for the Licensing Sub-Committees as detailed in 

Appendix A to this report, which remain unchanged. 
  

 b) It is recommended that Members agree: 
 

(i) The procedures set out in Appendices B1, B2 and B3 are the procedures 
for Licensing Committee and Sub-Committee hearings held under the 
Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005 and Town Police Clauses Act 
1847 and Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
respectively, and remain unchanged. 
 

(ii) The delegation of functions set out in Appendix C1, C2 and C3, which 
remain unchanged. 

 
(iii) The appointment of Members to the Licensing Sub-Committee as set out 

in Appendix D, which are unchanged.  
 

(iv) The procedure for dealing with settling appeals after the Sub-Committee 
hearing but before the appeal hearing in the Magistrates’ Court is decided 
as set out in Appendix E and is unchanged. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER 
 
3. Doncaster Council as the licensing authority is required to establish a licensing 

committee and sub-committee(s) in order to discharge its duties under the Licensing 
Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005.  The establishment of defined terms of 
reference, clear procedures and delegations allows the Council to make licensing 
decisions. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
4. The licensing sub-committee terms of reference remain unchanged.  A copy of the 

Terms of Reference is set out in Appendix A to this report for the Committee to note. 
 
5. The Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 enables the Licensing 

Committee to determine its own procedure and those of its Sub-Committees subject 
to the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 and the 
Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of Licensing Committees and Sub-committees) 
(Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2007 respectively.  The procedures are set out in Appendix B1 and B2 of this report 
and are unchanged.  

 
6. The Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy which was 

approved by this committee in January 2021 sets out the procedure for determining 
applications and reviews in relation to the licensing of private hire and hackney 
carriage drivers, operators and vehicles. The procedure is set out at Appendix B3 of 
this report and is unchanged.  
 

7. The Licensing Act 2003 provides that the functions of the Council as the Licensing 
Authority shall be carried out by its Licensing Committee, with the exception of the 
Statement of Licensing Policy.  The Licensing Committee may delegate those 
functions to Sub-Committees or, where permitted, to officers.  The delegation of 
functions are set out in Appendix C1 of this report and are unchanged. 

 
8. The Gambling Act 2005 provides that all decisions relating to premises licences are, 

with the exception of those listed below, delegated to the Licensing Committee that 
has been established under the Licensing Act 2003.  The Licensing Committee may 
delegate those functions to the Sub-Committee or, where permitted, to officers.  
Details of these delegations are set out in Appendix C2 of this report, and are 
unchanged. 
 
Exceptions: 

 A resolution not to issue casino licences (Full Council decision only) 

 Functions in relation to the Statement of Policy (Full Council decision) 

 Setting of fees (Full Council) 
 
9. The Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy details that the 

functions of the Council as the Licensing Authority shall be carried out by its 
Licensing Committee, except where those functions have been delegated to officers. 
These delegations are set out in Appendix C3 and are unchanged. 

 
10. The appointment of the Licensing Sub-Committee and Member make-up process, as 

set out in Appendix D, is unchanged with the minimum number of Members required 

Page 4



to be quorate being 3. 
 
11. For hearings held to consider matters relating to the Licensing Act 2003 or the 

Gambling Act 2005, where more than 3 Members attend those additional Members 
would be able to choose from the following options:  

 

 Stay and take part in the meeting and determine the outcome with the rest of 
the Sub-Committee Members; 

 Sit in the public area as an observer; or 

 Leave the meeting if they so wished. 
 
12. Hearings held to consider Hackney Carriage / Private Hire matters are not public 

meetings and only parties to the hearing may attend. 
 
13. In the case of an appeal against a Sub-Committee decision there is no reason why 

mediation or other discussions should not be held between the Licensing Authority 
and the appellant, once an appeal has been lodged, to either settle the matter 
entirely or to resolve those issues that can be resolved or indeed to identify issues in 
dispute.  The procedure for dealing with settling appeals after the Sub-Committee 
hearing but before the appeal hearing in the Magistrates’ Court is set out in Appendix 
E. The procedure remains unchanged.  

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
14. No other option was considered. 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
15. The Committee must note the Terms of Reference, may adopt its own Procedures, 

may establish one or more Sub-Committees and may determine the delegation of 
functions. 

 
16. The principles behind the delegation of functions are published in Doncaster 

Council’s respective Licensing Policies.  It is recognised that many of the decisions 
and functions will be purely administrative in nature and it is therefore the policy of 
Doncaster Council that functions, so far as possible, should be delegated in the 
interests of speed, efficiency and cost effectiveness. (Section 13 of the Council’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy – Licensing Act 2003, Section 3 of the Council’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy – Gambling Act 2005 and Appendix 19 of the Council’s 
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy) 

 
 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES  
17.  
 

 Outcomes  Implications  

 Doncaster Working: Our vision 
is for more people to be able to 
pursue their ambitions through 
work that gives them and 
Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future; 

 

 
Functions are delegated in the 
interests of speed, efficiency and 
cost effectiveness wherever 
possible.  This ensures that 
licensing decisions can be made in 

Page 5



 Better access to good fulfilling 
work 

 Doncaster businesses are 
supported to flourish 

  Inward Investment 
 

a timely manner. 
 

 Doncaster Living: Our vision is 
for Doncaster’s people to live in a 
borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time; 
 

 The town centres are the 
beating heart of Doncaster 

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home 

 Healthy and Vibrant 
Communities through Physical 
Activity and Sport 

 Everyone takes responsibility 
for keeping Doncaster Clean 

 Building on our cultural, artistic 
and sporting heritage 

 
 Doncaster Learning: Our vision 

is for learning that prepares all 
children, young people and adults 
for a life that is fulfilling; 
 

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within 
and beyond school 

 Many more great teachers 
work in Doncaster Schools that 
are good or better 
Learning in Doncaster 
prepares young people for the 
world of work  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
None 
 

 Doncaster Caring: Our vision is 
for a borough that cares together 
for its most vulnerable residents; 
 

 Children have the best start in 
life 

 Vulnerable families and 
individuals have support from 
someone they trust 

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own 
homes 

 
 Connected Council:  

 A modern, efficient and flexible 

Page 6



workforce 

 Modern, accessible customer 
interactions 

 Operating within our resources 
and delivering value for money 

 A co-ordinated, whole person, 
whole life focus on the needs 
and aspirations of residents 

 Building community resilience 
and self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and 
strengths 

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance  

 

 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
18. It is a requirement of the Licensing Authority, under the Licensing Act 2003 and the 

Gambling Act 2005, to adopt Terms of Reference, the procedure for hearings and 
approve the delegation of functions. 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer: NC Date 12/4/22]  
 
19. Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 empower the Council to 

arrange for the discharge of any of its functions by a Committee or Sub-Committee. 
Whilst these sections do not apply to the Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub-
Committees the Council has chosen to utilise the format as set out in these 
provisions to ensure the good governance of the committee.  The Council is obliged 
by law to appoint a Licensing Committee under the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling 
Act 2005. Further secondary Regulations determine the requirements of a licensing 
hearing and the process to follow. Any additional procedures the Licensing 
Committee choses to recommend and the Council agrees must comply with these 
regulations.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [RT __ Date _12/04/22_] 
 
20. There are no financial implications associated with this decision. 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [Officer DK Date 12/04/2022] 
 
21.  There are no direct HR implications in relation to this report.  
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer PW Date 12/04/22] 
 
22. There are no technology implications in relation to this report. 
 
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [Officer _CT _ Date 22.4.22__] 
 
23. Public Health supports the recommendation.  Robust measures ensure that correct 

and proper procedures are in place to make sure any licensed premises/vehicles that 
are not complying with license agreements can be addressed through a formal 

Page 7



process.  This ensures the health and safety of our residents is protected.   
  
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [Officer DDS Date 11/04/2022] 
 
24. Decision makers must consider the Council’s duties under the Public Sector Equality 

Duty at s149 of the Equality Act 2010.  The duty requires the Council, when 
exercising its functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the act, and to 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a 
‘protected characteristic’ and those who do not share that protected characteristic. 
There are no specific equality implications arising from this report.  However, any 
activities arising from this report will need to be the subject of separate ‘due regard’ 
assessments. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
25. Consultation has taken place between Legal Services and the Licensing Department. 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
26. 

 Report to Annual Council, Terms of Reference Report. 

 Licensing Act 2003 

 Gambling Act 2005 

 Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 

 Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of Licensing Committees and Sub-committees) 
(Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2007 

 Home Office Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 – 
April 2018 

 Gambling Commission Guidance to licensing authorities – April 2021 

 Doncaster Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy (2021) – Licensing Act 2003 

 Doncaster Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy (2022) – Gambling Act 2005 

 Doncaster Council’s Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy (2021) 
 

 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 

David Smith, Licensing Officer 
Tel: (01302) 862546 
Email: david.smith@doncaster.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Dan Swaine 
Director of Economy and Environment 

Page 8



APPENDIX A 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE  
 

This Committee is a Committee of the Council constituted: 
 
(1) In relation to its functions under the Licensing Act 2003, under Section 6 of that Act. 
 
(2) In relation to its functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 
 
(3) In relation to its other functions, under Sections 101 and 102 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 
 

Terms of Reference 
 

FOR RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL:- 
 

1. In respect of the relevant prescribed period to consider the adoption of the Statement 
of Licensing Policy. 

 
2. During the relevant prescribed period to keep the Statement of Licensing Policy 

under review, and to recommend any revisions to it. 
 

FOR RECOMMENDATION TO THE EXECUTIVE AND THEN TO COUNCIL:- 
 
1. In respect of the relevant prescribed period to advise on the preparation, content and 

implementation of the Statement of Gambling Policy. 
 
2. During the relevant prescribed period to keep the Statement of Gambling Policy 

under review, and to recommend any revisions to it. 
 
DELEGATED MATTERS:- 
 
1. To discharge the functions of the Council that are licensing functions within the 

meaning of the Licensing Act 2003 as amended. 
 
2. To discharge the functions of the Local Authority as set out in the Gambling Act 

2005. 
 
3. The appointment of Licensing Sub-Committees under Section 10 of the Licensing Act 

2003. 
 
4. To determine Policies that are relevant to the Council’s functions under Part 3 of the 

Constitution which relate to those licensing and registration functions unless the 
policy must be determined by Full Council.   

 

5. To exercise the Council’s functions under Part 3 of the Constitution which relate to 
those licensing and registration functions except where the function has been 
delegated to Officers of the Council 

Page 9



 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEES 

 
These Sub-Committees are Sub-Committees of the Licensing Committee appointed by that 
Committee and constituted: 
 

(1) Pursuant to section 10 of the Licensing Act 2003, in relation to their functions under 
the Licensing Act 2003,  
 

(2) In relation to their functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

(3) In relation to their functions under Schedule 3 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as amended by section 27 of the Policing 
and Crime Act 2009 

 
(4) In relation to the other licensing and registration functions as set out in Part 3 of the 

council’s constitution  
 

Terms of Reference 
 
1. To determine applications under the Licensing Act 2003, where relevant 

representations are received. 
 
2. To determine applications under the Gambling Act 2005, where relevant 

representations are received. 
 

3. To determine applications under Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982, as amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 
 

4. To determine applications and reviews in relation to the licensing of private hire and 
hackney carriage drivers, operators and vehicles except where those functions have 
been delegated to officers under the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 
 

5. To determine all other applications and reviews in relation to the Council’s functions 
under Part 3 of the Constitution which relate to those licensing and registration 
functions, except where those functions have been delegated to officers 

Page 10



APPENDIX B1 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LICENSING ACT 2003 
LICENSING ACT 2003 (HEARINGS) REGULATIONS 2005 

 
1. Meaning of Expressions used in this Document 
 

“the Act” Licensing Act 2003 
 

“the Regulations” or any particular 
reference to a “Regulation” 

 

The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005 

 

“the Authority” Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council, 
in its capacity as the relevant Licensing 
Authority under the Act, or where the 

context so admits the Committee 
 

“the Committee” the Sub-Committee of the Authority’s 
Licensing Committee constituted under 
the Act to determine the matter before it 

 

“the Chair” the member of the Committee appointed to 
act as Chairperson of the Committee 

 

“the Applicant” the party making the application e.g. the 
licence/certificate holder or prospective 

holder, or the party seeking a review 
 

“responsible authorities” the public or other bodies described in the 
Act as “responsible authorities” and who 

have made representations 
 

“party” means person(s) to whom notice of 
hearing is to be given (including their 

representatives) and “party” and “parties” 
shall be construed accordingly 

 
 

 

  
2. Rights of attendance, assistance and representation at hearings 

 
(a) A party may attend the hearing and may be assisted or represented by any 

other person.  There is no requirement that a party’s representative is legally 
or otherwise professionally qualified. 

 
(b) The hearing shall take place in public, unless the Authority decides to exclude 

the public from all or part of the hearing because it considers that the public 
interest in doing so outweighs the public interest in the hearing, or that part of 
the hearing taking place in public.  A party and any person assisting or 
representing a party, may be treated as a member of the public. 

 

Page 11



(c) The Authority may exclude from a public hearing any person attending who 
acts in a disruptive manner, and refuse to re-admit that person, or impose 
conditions on his/her re-admission.  Any such excluded person may, before 
the end of the hearing, submit to the Authority in writing any such information 
that he/she would have been entitled to give orally. 

 
(d) The Authority may dispense with a hearing if all of the persons required by the 

Act agree that a hearing is unnecessary, have given notice to the Authority 
that they consider a hearing to be unnecessary, and the Authority have given 
notice to all parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. 

 
(e) The Authority has the power to consider adjournments and an extension of 

time limits provided for within the Regulations on the basis it is in the public 
interest to do so. When a request for an adjournment or an extension of time is 
received the request is referred to the Chair for agreement provided the 
request can be accommodated in the statutory time frame. If this is not 
possible the matter shall be determined by the Committee at the prelisted 
hearing.  

 
3. Non-attendance of a party at the hearing 
 

(a) If a party has informed the Authority that he/she does not intend to attend the 
hearing, or be represented at the hearing, the hearing may proceed in his/her 
absence. 

 
(b) If a party who has not so notified the Authority does not attend either in person 

or by his/her representative, the Authority shall adjourn the hearing to a 
specified date if it considers it in the public interest to do so, but it shall 
otherwise proceed with the hearing in that party’s absence. 

 
(c) Where the hearing proceeds in the absence of a party, the Authority shall 

consider the application, representations or notice made by that party. 
 
(d) Where the hearing is adjourned, the Authority shall forthwith, notify the parties 

of the date, time and place to which the hearing has been adjourned. 
 

4. Procedure at the Hearing 
 

The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the Authority.  The following 
procedure is intended to give form to such a discussion to ensure that all parties are 
able to put their case.  Each party shall have equal maximum time in which to 
address the Committee.  The Committee may take into account documentary or 
other information provided by a party before the hearing, or with the consent of all 
other parties at the hearing.  The Committee may change the procedure in individual 
cases, upon the application of a party, or upon its own motion, if it considers it 
necessary to properly determine the business before it. 

 
(a) At the commencement of the hearing, the Chair will make introductions and 

establish that all parties understand the procedure to be followed.  The 
Committee will then receive and determine any application that a party may 
wish to make to permit another person to appear at the hearing, and any 
application that any party wishes to make to vary the following order of 
addresses. 

 

Page 12



(b) The Applicant may then address the Committee and provide any further 
information that the Authority have requested.  At the conclusion of the 
Applicant’s address, members of the Committee may ask the Applicant 
questions.  Following questions by Committee members, any other party that 
wishes to question the Applicant may request permission to do so.  If granted, 
the party or parties receiving permission may question the Applicant. 

 
(c) Other parties entitled to address the Committee or given permission to do so 

under paragraph (a) above, may then do so; and also provide to the 
Committee any information that the Authority have requested.  Following the 
address, the members of the Committee may question the party addressing 
the Committee.  Following any Committee questions, any other party wishing 
to question the party that has addressed the Committee may seek the 
Committee’s permission to do so.  If granted, the party or parties receiving 
permission may question the Applicant. 

 
Order of Addresses under paragraph (c) 

 
 Subject to any direction given by the Committee under paragraph (a) above, 

the order of addresses by other parties, under paragraph (c) above, shall be:- 
 

[1] Any representative of a “responsible authority” (as defined in the Act) 
 

[2] Any other party opposing the Applicant 
 
[3] Any other party not falling within category [1] or [2] above, or category 

[4] below 
 
[4] Any other party supporting the Application 
 
Permission to question or cross-examine the Applicant or other party 

 
A party may question any other party appearing if given permission by the 
Authority. 
 
The Committee will determine any application by a party to question another 
party on its merits. 
 
Cross examination shall not be permitted unless the Authority considers that 
cross examination is required for it to consider the representations, application 
or notice, as the case may require. 
 
The Committee shall determine any application by one party to permit cross 
examination of another on its merits. 
 
Normally, permission will be given to one party to question or cross-examine 
another, only where:- 

 
(i) a material fact put forward by one party is disputed by another party 

and the dispute can be properly determined, only if cross examination 
is permitted; or 

 
(ii) the question that one party wishes to put to the other is non contentious 

and is for the purpose of clarification only. 

Page 13



 
5. The Committee’s Deliberations and Determination 
 

(a) The Authority considers that normally, it will be in the public interest that the 
deliberations of the Committee are conducted in the presence of the note 
taker and legal adviser only, unless an application is made by any party 
present for these to be conducted in public. If any such application is made, 
the Committee shall determine such application. The function of the legal 
adviser shall be to advise the Committee on points of law and procedure only. 

 
(b) Subject to paragraph (a) above, the Chair shall formally exclude the public 

including, the parties and their representatives from the meeting under 
Regulation 14(2), to enable the Committee to deliberate. All persons required 
to vacate the room during the deliberations shall be required to take all their 
personal belongings out of the room except as may be directed by the 
Committee. 

 
(c) If during its deliberations, the Committee require any further information from 

any party in order to assist in its deliberations, the Chair shall reconvene the 
public hearing for the purpose of attempting to secure that further information. 

 
(d) Following the Committee’s deliberations, the public shall be re-admitted to the 

hearing, whereupon the Chair shall announce the determination of the 
Authority, where the provisions of the Act or the Regulations require a 
determination to be made at the conclusion of the hearing or otherwise where 
the Committee is unable to announce its determination. 

 
(e) Following the announcement of any determination of the application, 

representations or notice before the Committee, the hearing shall conclude. 
 

6. Record of proceedings 
 

A record of the hearing will be taken in a permanent and intelligible form.  Any such 
record will be kept for a period of six years from the date that the application or 
review is finally determined (including any appeal or judicial review). 

Page 14



APPENDIX B2 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
HEARING PROCEDURE 

 
Gambling Act 2005 

The Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of Licensing Committees and Sub-committees) 
(Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2007 
 

1. Meaning of Expressions used in this Document 
 

“the Act” Gambling Act 2005 
 

“the Regulations” or any particular 
reference to a “Regulation” 

 

the Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of 
Licensing Committees and Sub-

committees) (Premises Licences and 
Provisional Statements) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2007 
 

“the Authority” Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council, in its capacity as the relevant 
licensing authority under the Act, or 

where the context so admits the 
Committee 

 

“the Committee” the Sub-Committee of the Authority’s 
Licensing Committee constituted 

under the Act to determine the matter 
before it 

 

“the Chair” the member of the Committee 
appointed to act as Chairperson of the 

Committee 
 

“the Applicant” the party making the application e.g. 
the licence holder or prospective 

holder, or the party seeking a review 
 

“Responsible Authorities” the public or other bodies described in 
the Act as “responsible authorities” and 

who have made representations 
 

“party” means person(s) to whom notice of 
hearing is to be given (including their 

representatives) and “party” and 
“parties” shall be construed accordingly 

 

 

Page 15



 
2. Rights of attendance, assistance and representation at hearings 

 
(a) A party may attend the hearing and may be assisted or represented by any 

other person.  There is no requirement that a party’s representative is legally 
or otherwise professionally qualified. 

In conducting a hearing the relevant committee must ensure that each party is 
given the opportunity to— 
 
i. address the relevant committee on any matter that is relevant to the 

application or review, or any representations made on the application or 

review; 

 
ii. call witnesses to give evidence on any matter that is relevant to the 

application or review, or any representations made on the application or 

review; 

 
iii. provide further information on, or explanation of, any matter on which the 

relevant committee has indicated that it will want further clarification. 

 
(b) The hearing shall take place in public, unless the committee direct that all or 

part of a hearing must be in private if it is satisfied that it is necessary in all the 
circumstances of the case, having regard to— 

 
(a) any unfairness to a party that is likely to result from a hearing in public; 

and 
 
(b) the need to protect as far as possible, the commercial or other 

legitimate interests of a party. A party and any person assisting or 
representing a party may be treated as a member of the public. 

 
(c) The Authority may exclude from a public hearing any person attending who 

acts in a disruptive manner and refuse to re-admit that person, or impose 
conditions on his/her re-admission.  Any such excluded person may, before 
the end of the hearing, submit to the Authority in writing any such information 
that he/she would have been entitled to give orally. 

 
(d) The Authority may dispense with a hearing if all of the persons required by the 

Act agree that a hearing is unnecessary, have given notice to the Authority 
that they consider a hearing to be unnecessary, and the Authority have given 
notice to all parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. 

 
(e) The Authority has the power to consider adjournments and an extension of 

time limits provided for within the Regulations on the basis it is in the public 
interest to do so. When a request for an adjournment or an extension of time is 
received the request is referred to the Chair for agreement provided the 
request can be accommodated in the statutory time frame. If this is not 
possible the matter shall be determined by the Committee at the prelisted 
hearing. 

Page 16



3. Non-attendance of a party at the hearing 
 

(a) If a party has informed the Authority that he/she does not intend to attend the 
hearing, or be represented at the hearing, the hearing may proceed in his/her 
absence. 

 
(b) If a party who has not so notified the Authority does not attend either in person 

or by his/her representative, the Authority may adjourn the hearing to a 
specified date if it considers it in the public interest to do so, but it may 
otherwise proceed with the hearing in that party’s absence. 

 
(c) Where the hearing proceeds in the absence of a party, the Authority shall 

consider the application, representations or notice made by that party. 
 
(d) Where the hearing is adjourned, the Authority shall forthwith, notify the parties 

of the date, time and place to which the hearing has been adjourned. 
 

4. Procedure at the Hearing 
 

The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the Authority.  The following 
procedure is intended to give form to such a discussion to ensure that all parties are 
able to put their case.  Each party shall have equal maximum time in which to 
address the Committee.  The Committee may take into account documentary or 
other information provided by a party before the hearing, or with the consent of all 
other parties at the hearing.  The Committee may change the procedure in individual 
cases, upon the application of a party, or upon its own motion, if it considers it 
necessary to properly determine the business before it. 

 
(a) At the commencement of the hearing, the Chair will make introductions and 

establish that all parties understand the procedure to be followed.  The 
Committee will then receive and determine any application that a party may 
wish to make to permit another person to appear at the hearing, and any 
application that any party wishes to make to vary the following order of 
addresses. 

 
(b) The Applicant may then address the Committee and provide any further 

information that the Authority have requested.  At the conclusion of the 
Applicant’s address, members of the Committee may ask the Applicant 
questions.  Following questions by Committee members, any other party that 
wishes to question the Applicant may request permission to do so.  If granted, 
the party or parties receiving permission may question the Applicant. 

 
(c) Other parties entitled to address the Committee or given permission to do so 

under paragraph (a) above, may then do so; and also provide to the 
Committee any information that the Authority have requested.  Following the 
address, the members of the Committee may question the party addressing 
the Committee.  Following any Committee questions, any other party wishing 
to question the party that has addressed the Committee may seek the 
Committee’s permission to do so.  If granted, the party or parties receiving 
permission may question the Applicant. 

 

Page 17



 
Order of Addresses under paragraph (c) 

 
 Subject to any direction given by the Committee under paragraph (a) above, 

the order of addresses by other parties, under paragraph (c) above, shall be:- 
 

[1] Any representative of a “responsible authority” (as defined in the Act) 
 

[2] Any other party opposing the Applicant 
 
[3] Any other party not falling within category [1] or [2] above, or category 

[4] below 
 
[4] Any other party supporting the Application 

 
Permission to question or cross-examine the Applicant or other party 

 
A party may question any other party appearing if given permission by the 
Authority. 
 
The Committee will determine any application by a party to question another 
party on its merits. 
 
Cross examination shall not be permitted unless the Authority considers that 
cross examination is required for it to consider the representations, application 
or notice, as the case may require. 
 
The Committee shall determine any application by one party to permit cross 
examination of another on its merits. 
 
Normally, permission will be given to one party to question or cross-examine 
another, only where:- 

 
(i) a material fact put forward by one party is disputed by another party 

and the dispute can be properly determined, only if cross examination 
is permitted; or 

 
(ii) the question that one party wishes to put to the other is non-contentious 

and is for the purpose of clarification only. 
 
5. The Committee’s Deliberations and Determination 
 

(a) The Authority considers that normally, it will be in the public interest that the 
deliberations of the Committee are conducted in the presence of the note 
taker and legal adviser only, unless an application is made by any party 
present for these to be conducted in public. If any such application is made, 
the Committee shall determine such application. The function of the legal 
adviser shall be to advise the Committee on points of law and procedure only. 

 
(b) Subject to paragraph (a) above, the Chair shall formally exclude the public 

including, the parties and their representatives from the meeting under 
Regulation 8(2), to enable the Committee to deliberate. All persons required to 
vacate the room during the deliberations shall be required to take all their 

Page 18



personal belongings out of the room except as may be directed by the 
Committee. 

 
(c) If during its deliberations, the Committee require any further information from 

any party in order to assist in its deliberations, the Chair shall reconvene the 
public hearing for the purpose of attempting to secure that further information. 

 
(d) Following the Committee’s deliberations, the public shall be re-admitted to the 

hearing, whereupon the Chair shall announce the determination of the 
Authority, where the provisions of the Act or the Regulations require a 
determination to be made at the conclusion of the hearing, or otherwise where 
the Committee is unable to announce its determination, notification will be 
given to all parties within five days. 

 
(e) Following the announcement of any determination of the application, 

representations or notice before the Committee, the hearing shall conclude. 

 

6. Record of proceedings 
 

A record of the hearing will be taken in a permanent and intelligible form.  Any such 
record will be kept for a period of six years from the date that the application or 
review is finally determined (including any appeal or judicial review). 

Page 19



 
APPENDIX B3 

 
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council Taxi Licensing Committee Hearing 

 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847  

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976  
 

Reasons for a Committee Hearing 
 
A Committee hearing may be required for; 
 

 New applicants who do not meet the minimum standards required for the grant of a 

licence without further investigation. 

 Existing licence holders whose actions have fallen below the standards of the 

Councils policy. 

 
Attendance, Assistance and Representation 
 
The applicant/licence holder who is the subject of the Committee hearing will be sent a 
notice of the time, date and location of the hearing. 
 
The applicant/licence holder shall also be sent a report outlining the reasons for the 
Committee hearing. 
 
The applicant/licence holder should complete the form ‘Notice of actions following receipt of 
notice of Committee hearing’ and give the notice to the Licensing Committee not later than 
five (5) working days before the day (or the first day) on which the Committee hearing is to 
be held. 
 
The subject should attend the Committee hearing at the appointed time and may be 
assisted or represented by any person whether or not that person is legally qualified. 
 
Hearings may be held in person or remotely. 
 
Committee Members 
 
The Committee will consist of a minimum of three elected members of the Licensing 
Committee. 
 
Also present at the hearing will be an officer of the Licensing department who will present 
the case to the Committee. This officer is not part of the Committee and is not involved in 
the decision making process. 
 
Representations and Supporting Information 
 
At the hearing you shall be entitled to — 
 

 Give further information in support of your application (where applicable) 

 Give a response to any of the questions raised by the Committee. 

 Give a response or make comment on any items contained within the hearing report 

or raised at the hearing. 

Page 20



 Give a response to any of the reasons why the hearing is being held. 

 
Failure to Attend the Committee Hearing 
 
If you have informed the authority that you are unable to attend the hearing. The Committee 
may -  
 

 With the agreement of all Committee members, rearrange the hearing to a later date 

of which you will be notified. 

 Proceed with the hearing in your absence. 

 
If you fail to attend and have not previously notified the authority. The Committee may – 
 

 Proceed with the hearing in your absence.  

 With the agreement of all Committee members, rearrange the hearing to a later date 

of which you will be notified. 

 
If you fail to attend a hearing where you have previously advised you would be in 
attendance. The Committee may – 
 

 Proceed with the hearing in your absence.  

 With the agreement of all Committee members, rearrange the hearing to a later date 

of which you will be notified. 

 
Where the Committee agrees to rearrange a hearing as a result of the above and sends 
notification of the new date on which the hearing will take place - the hearing will proceed on 
the date specified on the notice regardless of your attendance.  
 
Procedure at the Committee Hearing 
 
At the beginning of the hearing, the authority shall explain the reasons for the Committee 
hearing and the procedure which will be followed. 
 
All persons present at the hearing will introduce themselves. Any persons in attendance 
who have not been invited by the Committee, shall be required to explain their reason for 
attendance and their suitability to remain part of the hearing will be subject to the approval 
of the Committee members. 
 
The Committee hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the chair of the 
Committee. You will be given the opportunity to respond to any questions raised and to 
provide further detail on any matters arising which are relevant to the hearing. 
 
The Committee may require any person attending the hearing who in their opinion is 
behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and may — 
 

 Refuse to permit that person to return, or 

 Permit him to return only on such conditions as the Committee may specify. 

 
Closing Statement and Deliberations 
 

Page 21



Once the Committee has concluded their questions, you will be invited to make a closing 
statement. This is your opportunity to address the Committee and raise any relevant points 
in support of your suitability to hold a licence. 
 
At the conclusion of the hearing, the meeting will close and you will be invited to leave. 
 
The Committee will enter into deliberations. You will not be required to wait for the 
deliberations to conclude as the Committee may need to conduct further checks and 
reconvene at a later date. 
 
Decisions and Appeals 
 
When making a decision the Committee will take into account the representations made at 
the hearing, the Councils Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy and, where a 
licence is already held, all relevant licence conditions and code of conduct. 
 
Where an applicant/licence holder has been convicted of a criminal offence, the Council 
cannot review the merits of the conviction [Nottingham City Council v. Mohammed Farooq 
(1998)] 
 
The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exemptions) Order 1975 provides that all 
convictions, irrespective of age, remain ‘’live’’ for the purposes of a Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire driver’s licence, these occupations being added to the exemptions list from that 
time. 
 
Licensing authorities have a duty to ensure that any person to whom they grant a Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire vehicle driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to be a licensee. 
It may be helpful when considering whether an applicant or licensee is fit and proper to pose 
oneself the following question: 
 
Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you allow a 
person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle 
driven by this person at any time of day or night? 
 
If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’, the individual should 
not hold a licence. 
 
Licensing authorities have to make difficult decisions but the safeguarding of the public is 
paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licensee should be made on the 
balance of probability. This means that an applicant or licensee should not be ‘given the 
benefit of doubt’. If the Committee members are only “50/50” as to whether the applicant or 
licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they should not hold a licence. The threshold used here is lower 
than for a criminal conviction (that being beyond reasonable doubt) and can take into 
consideration conduct that has not resulted in a criminal conviction. 
 
Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides a 
licensing authority with the ability to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence on the following 
grounds: - 
 

a) that he has since the grant of the licence— 

I. been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence; or 

II. been convicted of an offence under or has failed to comply with the provisions 

of the Act of 1847 or of this Part of this Act; 

Page 22



aa) that he has since the grant of the licence been convicted of an immigration offence or 

required to pay an immigration penalty; or 

b) any other reasonable cause 

 

Licensing authorities have the option to suspend or revoke a licence should information be 
received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and proper person. Where the 
licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted of an immigration 
offence the licence should be revoked immediately. Guidance for licensing authorities to 
prevent illegal working in the taxi and private hire vehicle sector has been issued by the 
Home Office. As with the initial decision to license a driver, this determination must be 
reached based on the balance of probabilities, not on the burden of beyond reasonable 
doubt. 
 
Before any decision is made, the licensing authority must give full consideration to the 
available evidence and the driver should be given the opportunity to state his or her case. If 
a period of suspension is imposed, it cannot be extended or changed to revocation at a later 
date. 
 
A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing of a licence should 
further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a decision previously 
made. The decision to suspend or revoke was based on the evidence available at the time 
the determination was made. New evidence may, of course, become available later. 
 
New evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the court reaching a 
different decision to that reached by the council or an appeal may be settled by agreement 
between the licensing authority and the driver on terms which, in the light of new evidence, 
becomes the appropriate course. If, for example, the allegations against a driver were now, 
on the balance of probability, considered to be unfounded, a suspension could be lifted or, if 
the licence was revoked, an expedited re-licensing process used. 
 
A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can be addressed 
though additional training. In this instance the licence would be returned to the driver once 
the training has been completed without further consideration. This approach is clearly not 
appropriate where the licensing authority believes that, based on the information available 
at that time, on the balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a risk to 
public safety. 
 
A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence does 
not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a vehicle or 
Private Hire vehicle operator licence; these decisions must be independent of a driver 
licence refusal and based on the appropriate information i.e. it should not consider 
information that would only be available via an enhanced DBS check but instead that which 
would be disclosed on a basic check. DBS certificate information can only be used for the 
specific purpose for which it was requested and for which the applicant’s full consent has 
been given. 
 
A failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing authority is subsequently 
advised of might be seen as behaviour that questions honesty and therefore the suitability 
of the licence holder regardless of the outcome of the initial allegation. 
 
Where the Committee are unable to reach a unanimous decision, a majority decision will be 
accepted. 
 

Page 23



The Committee will endeavour to inform you of the decision within 7 working days or, where 
they are unable to make the decision within 7 working days; they will inform you within 7 
working days of when a decision is likely to be made. 
 
A decision notice will be sent to you in writing. 
 
Where the decision of the Committee is to suspend / revoke / refuse a licence, the notice 
will also include a statement explaining your right to appeal that decision to the Magistrates 
Court within 21 days. 
 
Deviation for Serious Offences 
 
In circumstances where it is in the interest of public safety to take immediate action against 
an existing licence holder due to the serious nature of the incident which questions the 
suitability for the continuation of a licence, it may be necessary for the Council to deviate 
from this policy. 
 
Committee Hearings will be convened urgently and may consist of less than 3 elected 
members. Notice of the hearing may be given by telephone and the determination will be 
made at the first hearing even if the licence holder does not attend.  
 
Where an immediate risk to the public is identified. The Head of Service, Licensing Manager 
and Licensing Officer have delegated powers to authorise the revocation of a licence with 
immediate effect without the need for a hearing. In these circumstances the officer taking 
the decision will engage with the Chair / Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee to advise 
them of the reasons for the deviation at, or as soon as reasonably practicable, after 
authorising the revocation. 
 
Any deviation from this policy will not remove the licence holders right to appeal the decision 
to a Magistrates Court. 
 
Referrals 
 
Any decision to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is thought to present a risk of 
harm to a child or vulnerable adult, shall be referred to the Disclosure & Barring Service 
(DBS). 
 
Information may also be disclosed to South Yorkshire Police Disclosure Unit. 
 
Where a licence is refused or revoked, an entry will be recorded on the National Register of 
Revocations and Refusals (NR3) database. 

Page 24



         APPENDIX C1 
Delegation of Functions – Licensing Act 2003 

     
 
 

Matters to be dealt with  Sub-Committee  Officers 

Application for personal licence  If a police or Home 
Office objection  

If no objection made  

Application for personal licence with unspent 
convictions (coming to light after grant).  

If a police or Home 
Office objection 

 

Application for premises licence/club premises 
certificate  

If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application for provisional statement  If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application to vary premises licence/club 
premises certificate  

If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application to vary designated premises 
supervisor  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Request to be removed as designated premises 
supervisor  

 All cases 

Application for transfer of premises licence  If a police or Home 
Office objection  

All other cases  

Applications for interim authorities  If a police or Home 
Office objection  

All other cases 

Application to review premises licence/club 
premises certificate  

All cases   

Decision on whether a representation is 
irrelevant frivolous vexatious etc.  

 All cases 

Decision to object when local authority is a 
consultee and not the relevant authority 
considering the application  

All cases   

Determination of an objection to a temporary 
event notice  

All cases   

Determination of application to vary premises 
licence at community premises to include 
alternative licence condition  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Decision whether to consult other responsible 
authorities on minor variation application  

 All cases 

Determination of minor variation application   All cases 

Suspension of premises licences and club 
premises certificates for non-payment of annual 
fees 

 All cases 

Revoke or suspend personal licence All cases Required actions 
before the final 
decision is made. 

Page 25



APPENDIX C2 
Delegation of Functions - Gambling Act 2005  

 

Matters to be dealt with Sub-Committee Officers 

Application for premises licences Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for a variation to a licence Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for a transfer of a licence Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for a provisional statement Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Review of a premises licence All cases  

Application for club gaming /club 
machine permits 

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Cancellation of club gaming/ club 
machine permits 

All cases  

Applications for other permits  All cases 

Cancellation of licensed premises gaming 
machine permits 

 All cases 

Consideration of temporary use notice  All cases 

Decision to give a counter notice to a 
temporary use notice 

All cases  

 

Page 26



 
APPENDIX C3 

 
Delegation of Functions - Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 
Approval of revisions to the Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy is delegated 
to the Licensing Committee.  
 
Determination of New Applications and Renewals (where minimum standards are 
met) 
 
Where an application meets or exceeds all of the required minimum standards, the decision 
to grant or renew a licence is delegated to authorised officers. 
 
Determination of New Applications and Renewals (which do not meet the minimum 
standards) 
 
Where an application falls below the required minimum standards, the decision to grant or 
refuse a New or Renewal application is delegated to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Suspension of Licence (where certain conditions are not met) 
 
Where the licence holder has failed to provide required documents or failed to allow for 
continuing checks of their suitability to hold a licence in accordance with conditions of 
licence (e.g. vehicle insurance, criminal record checks, medicals etc.), the suspension of 
licence is delegated to authorised officers. 
 
Suspension or Revocation of Licence (Conduct) 
 
In cases where consideration is given to the suspension or revocation of a licence, these 
decisions are delegated to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Immediate Revocation of Licence (Public Safety) 
 
Where information is received which, in the opinion of the Council, requires consideration 
for the immediate revocation of a licence, determination is delegated to the Head of Service, 
Licensing Manager or Licensing Officer. 
 

Page 27



 
APPENDIX D 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
Chair: Cllr 1, Vice-Chair:  Cllr 2 
Members:  Cllr 3, Cllr 4, Cllr 5, Cllr 6, Cllr 7, Cllr 8, Cllr 9, Cllr 10, Cllr 11, Cllr 12, Cllr 
13, Cllr 14 
 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEES 
(Appointed under the Licensing Act 2003, section 10) 

 
In the event of there being a Hearing required under the Licensing Act 2003, the Gambling 
Act 2005 or other relevant statutory provision then the Chair of the Licensing Committee 
shall be asked to Chair the Sub-Committee and all other Members shall be asked if they 
can attend. 3 Members shall be enough to be quorate but 4 Members shall be asked to 
attend to ensure the Hearing can go ahead in the event of Member illness or other 
incapacity. 
 
Please note: 
 

1. There is no need for the Sub-Committee to be balanced politically or for Members to 
be barred from taking part in the Hearing when the event or premises etc. is in their 
Ward, 
 

2. If the Chair is unavailable the Vice Chair will be asked to Chair the Sub-Committee.  
If neither is available a chair shall be appointed at the Hearing. 

Page 28



 
APPENDIX E 

 
The procedure for dealing with settling appeals after the Sub Committee hearing but 
before the appeal hearing in the Magistrates’ Court is decided. 
 
Licensing Officers are authorised to conduct discussions with an appellant or other party to 
appeal. However, no agreement is to be made with an appellant reflecting a departure from 
a decision made by the licensing authority or licensing subcommittee without the approval of 
either the chair of the licensing committee or the chair of the relevant licensing 
subcommittee that made the decision subject to the appeal. 
 
Where possible, and in any event where either the licensing officer or the chair of the 
licensing committee or the chair of the relevant licensing sub-committee considers it 
appropriate, responsible authorities and other persons who made relevant representations, 
together with any other responsible authority and other members of the relevant sub-
committee are to be consulted as to the proposed departure from the original decision. 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Report 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
To the Chair and Members of the      16 June 2022 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005 and General Licensing Update 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update Members on the activities of the 

Committee and Sub Committee in the previous year, issues relating to the 
Licensing Act 2003, the Gambling Act 2005, upcoming matters and any 
significant licensing enforcement actions. 
  

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2. It is recommended that Members note the updates referred to in points 2.1 to 

2.3 below. 
 
2.1 For the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022 the following committees were 

convened 
 

 Licensing Committee – 2 occasions 

 Licensing Sub-Committee - 21 occasions 
 

A total of 21 applications / notices were determined by the Licensing Sub-
Committee, 5 of which were applications made under the Licensing Act 2003, 
0 under the Gambling Act 2005 and the remaining 16 were taxi related. 
 

2.2 Statistical details of all other licence applications (Licensing Act 2003 and 
Gambling Act 2005) determined by the Authority and a summary of significant 
licensing enforcement actions, for the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022, 
are attached as Appendix A. 
 

2.3 A revised statement of policy (Gambling Act 2005) was approved by Council 
on 20 January 2022.   
 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER 
 
3. By noting the recommendations of this report, the Licensing Committee are 

kept aware of the latest developments and forthcoming issues thereby 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



 

ensuring they continue to be best placed to make future licensing decisions. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
4. The Licensing Committee have historically requested that the Committee be 

furnished with details of the licensing decisions (Licensing Act 2003 and 
Gambling Act 2005), that are delegated outside the remit of the Committee 
and Sub-Committee, at least annually at the inaugural meeting.  Statistical 
details of these decisions along with a summary of the significant enforcement 
actions taken by the Licensing service are attached at Appendix A.  The 
figures are based on licence applications and enforcement actions that were 
received and completed respectively during the period 1st April 2021 to 31st 
March 2022.  The figures relating to sub-committees refer to hearings that 
were convened during the above period but they may also include decisions 
on some applications that were received in the latter part of the previous year. 

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
5. It is recommended that the Committee note the recommendations in section 

2.  
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
6. No other options are considered. 
 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
7. This effective operation of the Licensing Authority is a key part of the Council’s 

statutory responsibility. 
 

 Outcomes  Implications  

 Doncaster Working: Our vision is for more 

people to be able to pursue their ambitions 

through work that gives them and Doncaster a 

brighter and prosperous future; 

 

 Better access to good fulfilling work 

 Doncaster businesses are supported to 

flourish 

  Inward Investment 

 

It is recognised that licensed 

premises are, quite often, 

businesses and places of 

employment. 

Keeping the Committee up to 

date assists in ensuring that 

licensing decisions can be made 

fairly and in a timely manner with 

the overriding aim of protecting 

the public. 

 Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 

Doncaster’s people to live in a borough that is 

vibrant and full of opportunity, where people 

enjoy spending time; 

 The town centres are the beating heart of 

Doncaster 

 More people can live in a good quality, 

affordable home 

Keeping the Committee up to 

date assists in ensuring that 

licensing decisions can be made 

fairly and in a timely manner with 

the overriding aim of protecting 

the public. 

Page 32



 

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities through 

Physical Activity and Sport 

 Everyone takes responsibility for keeping 

Doncaster Clean 

 Building on our cultural, artistic and sporting 

heritage 

 Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for learning 

that prepares all children, young people and 

adults for a life that is fulfilling; 

 Every child has life-changing learning 

experiences within and beyond school 

 Many more great teachers work in 

Doncaster Schools that are good or better 

Learning in Doncaster prepares young 

people for the world of work 

Keeping the Committee up to 

date assists in ensuring that 

licensing decisions can be made 

fairly and in a timely manner with 

the overriding aim of protecting 

the public.   

 Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a borough 

that cares together for its most vulnerable 

residents; 

 Children have the best start in life 

 Vulnerable families and individuals have 

support from someone they trust 

 Older people can live well and 

independently in their own homes 

Keeping the Committee up to 

date assists in ensuring that 

licensing decisions can be made 

fairly and in a timely manner with 

the overriding aim of protecting 

the public.   

 Connected Council:  

 A modern, efficient and flexible workforce 

 Modern, accessible customer interactions 

 Operating within our resources and 

delivering value for money 

 A co-ordinated, whole person, whole life 

focus on the needs and aspirations of 

residents 

 Building community resilience and self-

reliance by connecting community assets 

and strengths 

 Working with our partners and residents to 

provide effective leadership and governance  

Keeping the Committee up to 

date assists in ensuring that 

licensing decisions can be made 

fairly and in a timely manner with 

the overriding aim of protecting 

the public.   

 

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
8. None 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [MC Churchman Date 4/5/22] 
 
9. There are no specific legal implications associated with this report. All 

necessary steps are taken to ensure the Licensing Committee and sub 
Committee exercise their functions in accordance with that relevant 
Legislation. 

Page 33



 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [RT __ Date 03/05/22__] 
 
10. There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. 

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [Officer DK Date 04/05/2022] 
 
11. There are no specific human resource implications to this type of report. There 

are no HR implications specific to the recommendations in the report, 
however, any emerging matters that impact on the workforce will require HR 
engagement at the appropriate time. 
 

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer PW Date 05/05/022] 

12. There are no specific technology implications in relation to this report.   
 
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [Officer CT__ Date 10/05/2022__] 
 
13. Public Health welcomes the report on licensing activity undertaken by the 

Committee and Sub Committee in the previous year and will continue to work 
closely with Licensing to ensure that health implications are considered as 
part of the decision making process of individual applications. Public Health is 
also assured by the enforcement action that has taken place to ensure that 
licensed activity is operating in accordance with relevant regulation. 

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [Officer DDS Date 11/04/2022] 
 
14. Decision makers must consider the Council’s duties under the Public Sector 

Equality Duty at s149 of the Equality Act 2010.  The duty requires the Council, 
when exercising its functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited 
under the act, and to advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations 
between those who share a ‘protected characteristic’ and those who do not 
share that protected characteristic. There are no specific equality implications 
arising from this report.  However, any activities arising from this report will 
need to be the subject of separate ‘due regard’ assessments. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
15. N/A 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
16. Statement of Licensing Policy – Gambling Act 2005 

 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 

David Smith, Licensing Officer 
Tel: (01302) 862546 
Email: david.smith@doncaster.gov.uk 

 
Dan Swaine 

Director of Economy and Environment 

Page 34



 

Appendix A 
 

Part 1 
 

Statistical Summary of licence applications (Licensing Act 2003) and notices received by the 
Authority for the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022. 

 
 

Application Type 
Number of Applications  

(previous year’s figures shown in brackets) 

 

Personal Licence 
 

 

142 (118) 

 

Premises Licence (New) 
 

 

51 (67) 

 

Premises Licence (Transfer) 
 

 

54 (51) 

 

Premises Licence (Review)  
 

 

0 (2) 

 

Premises Licence (Variation) 
  

 

15 (18) 

 

Premises Licence (Minor Variations) 
 

 

15 (12) 

 

Premises Licence (Change of DPS)  
 

 

177 (114) 

 

Club Certificate (New) 
 

 

1 (0) 

 

Club Certificate (Variation) 
 

 

0 (1) 

 

Club Certificate (Minor Variation) 
 

 

0 (0) 

 

Standard Temporary Event Notice (TEN) 
 

 

143 (40) 

 

Late TEN 
 

 

86 (14) 

 

Total Number of Applications 
 

 

684 (437)  
increase of 56.52% 

 

Page 35



 

Appendix A 
 

Part 2 
 

Statistical Summary of Premises Licence applications (Gambling Act 2005) received by the 
Authority for the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022. 

 

Application Type 
Number of Applications 

(previous year’s figures shown in 
brackets) 

 

Premises Licence - Betting Non Track (New) 
 

 

1 (0) 

 

Club Gaming Permit 
 

 

0 (1) 

 

Club Machine Permit 
 

 

3 (11) 

 

Small Society Lotteries (New) 
 

 

12 (5) 

 

Bingo 
 

 

0 (1) 

 

Total Number of Applications 
 

 

16 (18) 
11.11% decrease 

 

Part 3 
 

Statistical summary of the main licensing enforcement actions taken/commenced by 
Licensing during the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022. 

 

Enforcement Action Taken 
Number of Actions 

(previous year’s figures 
shown in brackets) 

 

Hackney Carriage / Private Hire vehicle licence revoked   
 

1 (0) 

 

Hackney Carriage / Private Hire driver licences revoked 
 

3 (2) 

 

Hackney Carriage / Private Hire driver licence applications 
refused (new applications & applications to renew) 
 

5 (4) 

 

Premises Licence / Club Premises Certificate reviewed / 
revoked (Licensing Act 2003) 
 

1 (2) 

 

Personal Licence Revoked (Licensing Act 2003) 
 

1 (0) 

 

Total 
 

 

11 (8) 
37.5% increase 

 

Page 36



www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 
 

Report 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 

                   
To the Chair and Members of the Licensing Committee 
 
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. To request that the members of the Licensing Committee consider the 

information contained in this report and the impact of amending the Council’s 
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy (‘the Policy’) with regards to 
mandatory CCTV in licensed vehicles, limits on vehicle emissions and limits 
on the maximum age of licensed vehicles.   
 

2. To request that members of the Licensing Committee approve the 
undertaking of a consultation exercise on the proposed amendments to the 
Policy (Appendix 20 of the existing policy) to update the CCTV specifications 
to those shown at Appendix B of this report, to ensure that they are fit for 
purpose and up to date. 
 

3. To request that members determine which, if any, further amendments to the 
policy should be part of a consultation with the licensed trade and members of 
the public. The consultation responses will then be presented to this 
committee to determine any changes to the policy and how the amendments 
will be implemented.   
 

EXEMPT REPORT 
 
4. There are no confidential issues. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5. It is recommended that the members of the Licensing Committee agree all of 

the following: 
 

a. That information contained within this report evidences that 

Date:   16 June 2022 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



consultation should be undertaken regarding the proposed amended 
CCTV specifications shown at Appendix B. 
 

b. That the information shown at Appendix C evidences that consultation 
should be undertaken regarding a proposed  revision to the policy to 
require that all Doncaster licensed Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 
vehicles are required to be fitted with a CCTV system which meets or 
exceeds the specifications set by the authority. 
 

c. That the information shown at Appendix D evidences that consultation 
should be undertaken regarding a proposed revision to the policy to 
require that all Doncaster licensed Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 
vehicles are subject to a limit on permitted emissions levels as set by 
the authority. 
 

d. That no amendment to the existing policy is required regarding the age 
limit of licensed vehicles and that the authority’s position remains that 
there is no age limit. 
 

e. That members note the information at Appendix F showing the national 
statistics for Driver, Vehicle and Operator licenses in England. 

 

f. That members approve the undertaking of a 12 week consultation 
exercise with respect to the proposals contained within 
recommendations (a) to (c) above and in due course the outcome of 
the consultation and final recommendations be reported back to the 
Licensing Committee. 

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
6. The aim of local authority licensing of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

vehicle trades is to protect the public. Doncaster Council is also aware that 
the public should have reasonable access to Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire vehicle services, because of the part they play in local transport 
provision. Licensing requirements which are unduly stringent will tend 
unreasonably to restrict the supply of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
vehicle services, by putting up the cost of operation or otherwise restricting 
entry to the trade. Doncaster Council recognises that too restrictive an 
approach can work against the public interest – and can, indeed, have safety 
implications. 
 

7. For example, it is clearly important that somebody using a Hackney Carriage 
or Private Hire vehicle to go home alone late at night should be confident that 
the driver is ‘fit and proper’ and that the vehicle is safe. But on the other hand, 
if the supply of Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicles has been unduly 
constrained by onerous licensing conditions, then that person’s safety might 
be put at risk by having to wait on late-night streets for a Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire vehicle to arrive; he or she might even be tempted to enter an 
unlicensed vehicle with an unlicensed driver illegally plying for hire. 

Page 38



 
8. In addition, in line with the Doncaster’s Environment and Sustainability 

Strategy and the Department of Transport’s ‘Taxi and Private Hire Licensing – 
Best Practice Guidance for Local Authorities in England’ the Council wants to 
ensure that taxi and private hire vehicle fleets play their part in work to tackle 
and reduce local emissions.  
 

9. Doncaster Council, therefore, wants to be sure that every licensing 
requirement is in proportion to the risk it aims to address; or to put it another 
way, whether the cost of a requirement in terms of its effect on the availability 
of transport to the public is at least matched by the benefit to the public, for 
example through increased safety.  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
10. Doncaster Council’s Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy was 

first approved for adoption by Doncaster Council on the 19 January 2012. 
 

11. The Council also resolved to delegate authority to the Licensing Committee to 
determine future revisions to this Policy. 

 
12. The existing policy is attached as Appendix A. 

 
13. CCTV Specifications: In December 2020 the Council introduced a 

mandatory specification for any CCTV systems licensed drivers voluntarily 
chose to install in their vehicles. As part of the process for preparing this 
report a request for information was sent to a number of CCTV system 
suppliers/installers. Part of that request asked for comments on the existing 
CCTV Technical Specification contained in the Council’s Taxi Policy. The 
questions included:- 

 

 Are the specifications reasonable and achievable? 
 

 Are there any changes to the specifications which you would 
recommend? (if Yes, please provide details) 

 
14. All of the responses indicated that the existing specifications were 

‘reasonable’ and ‘achievable’. A number of the responses highlighted that the 
existing specifications contained some contradictory wording and outdated 
specifications for what is considered to be the industry standard, as used by a 
number of other local authorities. 
 

15. In order to ensure that the specifications are clear and future-proof, based on 
the comments received from the system providers, it is recommended that 
members agree that a consultation exercise be undertaken on the amended 
specification with a view to it replacing the CCTV Technical Specification 
contained in the Taxi Policy.  
 

16. The existing specifications showing the proposed changes which have been 
made is shown at Appendix B.  

Page 39



17. Mandatory CCTV: There is no doubt of a potential vulnerability relating to 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles. Members of the public enter into 
a licensed vehicle putting themselves under the control of a stranger in a 
confined space with no physical control over where they are taken. 
Furthermore, drivers also entrust members of the public into their vehicles, 
transporting them during unsocial hours, and sometimes visiting poorly lit 
routes. They also carry money and as a result, may be vulnerable to being 
victims of a crime. 

18. CCTV systems can act as an additional safeguard, providing protection, 
confidence and reassurance to the public when they are travelling in a 
licensed vehicle, as well as to drivers who can also be victims of violence, and 
abuse. 

19. CCTV systems can act as a deterrent to those with intentions of committing 
an offence to both drivers and passengers, but also where an offence has 
been committed images/audio recordings can capture evidence used in both 
a criminal and enforcement investigations.  

20. However, it is also recognised that mandatory CCTV systems, particularly 
those with audio, can raise privacy concerns amongst both drivers and the 
public. Therefore, in both the existing and proposed specification for CCTV 
systems, various safeguards have been included to mitigate against those 
concerns. For example, as can be seen from appendix B this includes the 
ability to deactivate the CCTV system when the vehicle is being used for 
domestic use (i.e. not transporting members of the public) and the recording 
of audio only takes place if triggered by either the driver or passenger. Should 
the Licensing Committee approve the proposed consultation, a full data 
protection impact assessment will be produced once all the consultation 
responses are received and prior to the matter being reported back to 
Licensing Committee.  

21. In order to seek the committee’s approval to go out to public consultation on 
the proposal to amend the Policy to introduce a mandatory requirement for 
CCTV in licensed vehicles, the following information has been provided in this 
report: 

22. A request was submitted to South Yorkshire Police for statistical information 
to highlight the extent of crime associated with taxis and whether the 
introduction of a mandatory requirement for CCTV in licensed vehicles might 
help prevent and/or reduce some of these crimes. The analytical report which 
shows the parameters, limitations and summary of the data held by South 
Yorkshire Police for the period 01/04/2019 – 23/07/2021 is shown at Appendix 
C.  

23. The Licensing Authority maintain records of complaints received by the 
Council which are related to the taxi trade. Complaints are recorded on the 
authorities system in different ways depending on the nature of the complaint. 
Complaints received by the authority during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 
March 2021 were individually assessed to determine if the incident which was 
being complained about could have been deterred, prevented, resolved or 

Page 40



investigated more efficiently if an in-car CCTV system was operational in the 
vehicle at the time. The results are shown at Appendix C1.  

24. Complaints made to the authority are able to be reported on but as they are 
primarily from members of the public about those in the taxi trade, they do not 
fairly reflect the behaviour which licensed drivers are sometimes subjected to 
by passengers. These incidents often go unreported in all but the most 
serious situations. To highlight some of the actions which licensed drivers are 
subjected to by members of the public; extracts from some local press reports 
showing incidents where the taxi driver has been the victim of a crime and 
where CCTV did or could have played an important part in preventing the 
crime occurring or assisting in capturing the offender, are shown at Appendix 
C2.  

25. It is recognised that the costs of installing and maintaining a mandatory CCTV 
system will be a concern for vehicle owners and needs to be carefully 
considered by the Licensing Committee. To assist the committee with their 
considerations, the approximate costs of supplying and installing a CCTV 
system which meets or exceeds the requirements of the specifications, has 
been provided from six companies who can provide this service in Doncaster. 
The approximate costs for comparison are shown at Appendix C3. 

26. Extracts from the Department for Transport document ‘Statutory Taxi & 
Private Hire Vehicle Standards’ (July 2020), relating to CCTV, are shown at 
Appendix C4. 

27. Extracts from the Department for Transport document ‘Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing – Best practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in 
England (2022 – consultation version)’, relating to CCTV, are shown at 
Appendix C5. 

28. Weighing all these factors in the balance, the preliminary view is that the 
introduction of mandatory CCTV would have a positive net effect on the safety 
of taxi and private hire users and drivers, including children and vulnerable 
adults. However, in accordance with the law and guidance, it is proposed to 
carry out a robust consultation exercise before making a final decisions. 
 

29. Emissions Limits: In September 2019, the Council declared a climate 
emergency and subsequently introduced Doncaster’s Environment and 
Sustainability Strategy 2020-2030. This included the stated aim of reducing 
vehicular emissions by reducing the emissions from the vehicles using our 
roads. In accordance with the Department of Transport’s ‘Taxi and Private 
Hire Licensing – Best Practice Guidance for Local Authorities in England’ the 
Council wants to ensure that taxi and private hire vehicle fleets play their part 
in work to tackle and reduce local emissions. That guidance suggests that the 
short term objectives of Councils should be to mitigate the harm from internal 
combustion engines through the setting of high EURO emission standards 
and gives the example of EURO 6 (for Diesel vehicles, with applicable 
standard for petrol vehicles being EURO 4 or above). Details of the Emissions 
Standards and how the existing fleet of licensed vehicles compares is shown 
at Appendix D. To that end it is proposed to introduce vehicle emission 

Page 41



standards for taxis and private hire vehicles licensed by the Council of EURO 
6 for diesel vehicles and EURO 4 or above for petrol vehicles in a time frame 
to be determined by the Licensing Committee. 
 

30. It is recognised that prior to making a final decision on the introduction of 
vehicle emission requirements, the Council will need to thoroughly assess the 
impact of the proposals in order that the trade can plan for the future. 
Therefore, as part of that process, it is proposed that a robust consultation 
exercise be undertaken to gather the views of the trade and the general public 
before making a final decision on this issue. 
 

31. In order to further assist the committee’s decision on whether to consult on 
this proposal to amend the Policy to introduce a limit on licenced vehicle 
exhaust emissions, the following information has been provided in this report: 

32. In 2021 the Department for Transport published the document ‘Decarbonising 
Transport A Better, Greener Britain’. The full document can be viewed at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan. 
An extract from the document, showing the percentage of greenhouse gas 
emissions by transport, including taxis, in 2019 is shown at Appendix D1.  

33. An Environment & Sustainability Strategy 2020 - 2030 has been developed in 
response to the climate change and biodiversity emergency declaration made 
by Doncaster Council in 2019. The Strategy is derived from the latest 
research, data, opinion and insight gathered from residents, elected 
representatives, and a range of partner organisations, including the findings of 
the Doncaster Climate & Biodiversity Commission. The full document can be 
viewed at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-
decarbonisation-plan Extracts from the document, including the Mayor’s 
foreword, section on transport and shared responsibilities are shown at 
Appendix D2. 

34. Examples of what an emissions policy could look like and how it may be 
implemented are shown at Appendix D3. 

35. Extracts from the Department for Transport document ‘Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing - Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in 
England (2022 - consultation version), relating to emissions limits, are shown 
at Appendix D4. 

36. Age Limits: The Department for Transport document ‘Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing – Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in 
England (2022 – consultation version) states: 

3.11 Licensing authorities should ensure that their various licensing 
requirements are proportionate to the risk they aim to address or the 
policy objective they are seeking to achieve. The cost of a requirement, 
in terms of its effect on the availability of transport to the public, should 
be at least matched by its benefit This might include increased safety 
or accessibility. A detailed, quantitative, cost-benefit assessment is not 
needed in each case, but local licensing authorities are urged to look 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan


carefully at the costs, financial or otherwise, imposed by each of their 
licensing policies and of the equality impacts as required by law. 

Vehicle age limits 

8.28 The frequency of testing required to ensure the ongoing safety of 
vehicles is a separate issue to the setting of maximum age limits at first 
licensing, or maximum age limits beyond which an authority will not 
licence a vehicle. The setting of an arbitrary age limit may be 
inappropriate and counterproductive and result in higher costs to the 
trade and ultimately passengers. For example, a maximum age for first 
licensing may have adverse unintended consequences; a five-year-old 
used electric vehicle will produce less emissions than a new Euro 6 
diesel or petrol fuel car – enabling the trade to make use of previously 
owned vehicles will assist it to transition more rapidly to zero emission 
vehicles and improve air quality. 

8.29 Licensing authorities should not impose age limits for the licensing of 
vehicles but should consider more targeted requirements to meet its 
policy objectives on emissions, safety rating and increasing wheelchair 
accessible provision where this is low. 

37. Historically Doncaster Council has not set a maximum age limit for licensed 
vehicles. Instead, a thorough vehicle inspection test is required before any 
vehicle can be licensed and then, at regular intervals throughout the licence 
period based on the age of the vehicle.  

38. The benefits of imposing an age limit can include; 

 Newer vehicles are less likely to suffer reliability issues 

 Newer vehicles are more likely to emit less harmful emissions 

39. The increased frequency of vehicle testing for older vehicles which is already 
in effect, along with the implementation of an Emissions Policy, can be seen 
to allow the above benefits without imposing the significant cost to drivers to 
routinely replace satisfactory vehicles for a newer vehicle, which would be 
necessary if an age policy was introduced. 

40. For the reasons above, agreement of the committee is sought that a revision 
to the existing Policy with regards to setting vehicle age limits is not required. 

41. National Statistics: The Department for transport (DfT) has produced a 
statistical release which presents information on taxis and private hire 
vehicles in England as at 31 March 2021. The statistics contained in the 
release and the full response data shows the following information which is 
relevant to this report: 

Number of Authorities with Emissions Standards  

 For Hackney Carriages = 58 (19.14%) 

Page 43



 For Private Hire = 52 (17.16%) 

Number of Authorities with Age limits  

 For Hackney Carriages = 219 (72.28%) 

 For Private Hire = 217 (71.62%) 

Number of Authorities where CCTV is required  

 In Hackney Carriages = 14 (4.62%) 

 In Private Hire = 12 (3.96%) 

Number of Authorities where CCTV is required and is capable of recording 
audio  

 In Hackney Carriages = 8 (2.64%) 

 In Private Hire = 8 (2.64%) 

Number of Authorities where CCTV is allowed (but not required)  

 In Hackney Carriages = 279 (92.08%) 

 In Private Hire = 285 (94.06%) 

Number of Authorities where CCTV is not permitted  

 In Hackney Carriages = 7 (2.31%) 

 In Private Hire = 6 (1.98%) 

42. It should be noted that the data was published on 30 June 2021 and many 
authorities may be in a similar position to Doncaster in that they were 
considering the contents of the DfT Statutory Standards and may not have 
updated their Taxi Policy at the time the responses were provided. The 
statistical release can be found at Appendix E. 
 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

43. Option 1 (Recommended) – Agree all of the recommendations of this report 
(5a – 5f) and, at a future meeting, consider the responses to the consultation 
on the proposed amendments to the Policy.  
 

44. Option 2 – Agree one or more, but not all, of the recommendations of the 
report (5a – 5f) and instruct the licensing officer to take the appropriate action 
on each of the recommendations as directed by the committee. 
 

45. Option 3 – Do not agree any of the recommendations and instead determine 
that consultation is not required and that the existing Policy, which was 
revised on 25 January 2021, does not require amendment.  

Page 44



 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION  
 
46. On 25 January 2021, the Licensing Committee determined that a further 

report be submitted to the Licensing Committee to outline the likely cost and 
the impact on both the licensed trade and members of the public, and draft 
proposals on each of the following considerations:- 
 
(i) A mandatory requirement for CCTV to be installed and operational in 

all Doncaster licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensed 
vehicles; 

 
(ii) A Policy which limits the maximum emissions levels permitted for 

Doncaster licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles; and 
 
(iii) A Policy which limits the maximum age at which a vehicle may be 

considered suitable to be granted a Doncaster Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire vehicle licence. 

 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
47.  

 Outcomes Implications  
 Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 

more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future; 

 

 Better access to good fulfilling work 

 Doncaster businesses are 
supported to flourish 

  Inward Investment 
 

It is recognised that licensed 
vehicles, drivers and operators 
are a source of employment, 
businesses and assets to the 
community.  
 
The overriding consideration is 
the protection of the public. 

 Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a 
borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time; 
 

 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster 

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home 

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport 

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean 

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage 

It is recognised that licensed 
vehicles are used by people to 
travel within the borough and 
beyond, transporting people to 
and from school, work and 
places of leisure.  
 
The overriding consideration is 
the protection of the public. 

 

Page 45



 Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 
learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 
is fulfilling; 

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school 

 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better 

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work  

 
None 

 Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents; 

 Children have the best start in life 

 Vulnerable families and individuals 
have support from someone they 
trust 

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes 

It is recognised that licensed 
vehicles can often be the only 
source of transport accessible 
to persons who are considered 
to be vulnerable. 
 
The overriding consideration is 
the protection of the public. 

 Connected Council:  

 A modern, efficient and flexible 
workforce 

 Modern, accessible customer 
interactions 

 Operating within our resources and 
delivering value for money 

 A co-ordinated, whole person, 
whole life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents 

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths 

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance  

 
None 

 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
48. The Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards require all local 

authorities to consider the positive and/or negative impact of a mandatory 
CCTV requirement in licensed vehicles and publish their determination. 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Initials NC Date 25/5/22] 
 
49. Section 177 of The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the Secretary of 

State for Transport to issue statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private 

Page 46



hire vehicle licensing functions to protect children and vulnerable individuals 
who are over 18 from harm when using these services.  The Statutory Taxi & 
Private Hire Vehicle Standards published in July 2020 (“2020 Guidance”) 
does not replace the Best Practice Guidance issued in 2010, but where the 2 
conflict, the 2020 Guidance  should take precedence. Paragraph 1.3 of the 
2020 Guidance states that the Department of Transport expects these 
recommendations to be implemented unless there is a compelling local 
reason not to.   

 
50. In order for the Licensing Committee to lawfully consider revisions to the 

Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy to introduce a 
mandatory requirement for all vehicles licensed by the Council to be fitted with 
CCTV and emission limits for vehicles licensed by the Council, the Committee 
need to be provided with and consider all relevant information on the 
proposals. This would include the likely impact of such requirements on the 
trade and the public, and the likely costs involved for the trade. In addition, to 
comply with the duty on the Council to act fairly when considering making 
significant changes to its current policy, the Council is required to undertake a 
consultation exercise with relevant stakeholders on the proposals. Part 7.9 of 
the 2020 Guidance states that all licensing authorities should consult to 
identify if there are local circumstances which indicate that the installation of 
CCTV in vehicles would have either a positive or an adverse net effect on the 
safety of taxi and private hire vehicle users, including children or vulnerable 
adults, and taking into account potential privacy issues.  
 

Part 7:13 of the 2020 Guidance adds that imposition of a blanket requirement 
to attach CCTV as a condition to a licence is likely to give rise to concerns 
about the proportionality of such an approach and will therefore require an 
appropriately strong justification and must be kept under regular review. 
 

51. A lawful consultation requires: (i) that it takes place when the proposals are 
still at a formative stage; (ii) sufficient reasons are put forward for the proposal 
to allow for intelligent consideration and response; (iii) adequate time to be 
given for consideration and response; and (iv) the product of the consultation 
would have to conscientiously take into account by the Committee before a 
final decision could be taken on the proposals. 
 

52. In due course when considering the final proposals that are raised by this 
report, Elected Members are reminded of their obligations under section 149 
Equality Act 2010.  This section contains the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) which obliges public authorities, when exercising their functions, to 
have ‘due regard’ to the need to: 

a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

which the Act prohibits; 

b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share relevant 

protected characteristics and those who do not; and 

c) foster good relations between people who share relevant protected   

characteristics and those who do not. 

Page 47



 Protected characteristics are age, gender, disability, race, sex, sexual 

 orientation, gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy and 

maternity.  Only the first aim of the PSED set out in paragraph (a) above applies 

to a further protected characteristic of marriage and civil partnership. 

 

Having due regard to advancing equality involves: - 

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 

protected characteristic; 

 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where they 

are different to the needs of other people; and 

 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in 

other activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

When a further report is submitted to the Licensing Committee following the 

proposed consultation exercise elected members must consciously consider and 

have due regard to the three aims of the general equality duty when dealing with 

the recommendations. .   

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [Initials …RT… Date…10/05/22…] 
 
53. Any additional costs that arise as a result of this decision will be met from the 

additional income generated through the application fee. 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [Initials DK Date 11/05/2022] 
 
54. There are no direct HR Implications in relation to the Taxi Policy Report and 

the proposal to adopt the new version. 
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Initials …PW Date …12/05/22] 
 
55. There are no specific technology implications relating to the recommendation 

in this report.  The service has consulted with a number of CCTV system 
suppliers/installers in relation to the proposed updates to the CCTV 
specification and made reference to relevant Department for Transport 
standards and best practice 
 

HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [Initials  RL Date 10/05/2022] 
 

56. The licensing of Hackney Carriages and Private hire vehicles provides a level 
of assurance to members of the public that use them that the vehicle and the 
person operating the vehicle are safe. Taxis provide an important part of 
transport infrastructure for many Doncaster residents to enable them to make 
regular or adhoc journeys – they play an important part in connecting 
individuals with services and experiences and provide a safe option for our 
roads when people choose to drink alcohol. 
 

Page 48



57. Finding the right balance of licensing requirements is important to maintain 
the provision and ensure the level of safety expected. Appropriate measures 
should be taken to maintain driver and customer safety, including minimising 
the impact taxis can have on air pollution. Where the recommendation is to 
consult on measures for vehicle emissions and CCTV, the consultation should 
ensure a wide range of views are included and that all implications are 
understood. 

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials DDS Date 29/11/2021] 
 
58. Decision makers must consider the Council’s duties under the Public Sector 

Equality Duty at s149 of the Equality Act 2010.  The duty requires the Council, 
when exercising its functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited 
under the act, and to advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations 
between those who share a ‘protected characteristic’ and those who do not 
share that protected characteristic.  

 
CONSULTATION 

 
59. Prior to the approval of the existing Policy, a 2 week survey took place with 

the licensed trade in September 2020 followed by a full consultation which 
took place for 4 weeks during October and November 2020.  
 

60. The information contained in the Appendices of this report came as a result of 
direct requests for information, and/or information which is freely available in 
the public domain. Sources include; 
 
(i) South Yorkshire Police 
(ii) Records held by the Licensing Department 
(iii) Local Press 
(iv) CCTV suppliers and installers 
(v) AutoExpress Website 
(vi) Suppliers of electric Hackney Carriage vehicles 
(vii) Department for Transport 
(viii) DMBC Pollution Team 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
61. Department for Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards. 

 
62. Doncaster Council Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy. 

 
63. Department for Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing – Best 

Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in England (2022 – consultation 
version) 

 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
David Smith:  Licensing Officer 

Page 49



Telephone:  01302 862546 
Email:   david.smith@doncaster.gov.uk 

 
Dan Swaine 

Director of Economy and Environment 

Page 50



Revision Date 25 January 2021 Policy Version 10.1 

Hackney Carriage 
& Private Hire 

Licensing Policy  

APPENDIX A

Page 51



Page 2 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Contents  
 

Section Title Page 

1 Document History 4 

2 The Role of Licensing: Policy Justification 6 

3 Introduction 7 

4 Review of Policy and Procedures 8 

 Taxi and Private Hire Licensing: Best Practice Guidance 
2010 

8 

 Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards: July 2020 8 

 Consultation 9 

 Review 2020 9 

 Implementation 10 

5 Hackney Carriage and/or Private Hire Driver Licence – 
New and Renewal Applications 

11 

 Fee 12 

 Driving Standards 13 

 Medical Fitness 13 

 Criminal Record 14 

 Conduct 16 

 Knowledge Test & Language Proficiency 16 

 Safeguarding Awareness 17 

 Qualifications 17 

 Disclosing and Sharing Licensing Information 18 

 Drivers Dress Code 18 

 Minor Breaches 18 

 Renewal of Licences 18 

 Change of Licence Type 19 

 Surrender / Suspension / Revocation, Refusal of Licence 
or Failure to Complete Application 

19 

 Right of Appeal 20 

 Duration of Drivers’ Licences 20 

6 Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Licences 21 

 Licence Fee 22 

 Insurance 22 

 Criminal Records Checks 22 

 Testing of Vehicles 23 

 Licence Continuity and Renewals 23 

 Type of Vehicle 24 

 Seating Capacity 25 

 Accessibility 25 

 Quantity Restrictions of Vehicle Licences 26 

 Minor Breaches 26 

 Licensed Vehicle Age and Emissions 26 

 Right of Appeal 27 

 Duration of Vehicle Licence 27 

7 Private Hire Operator’s Licence 28 

 Criminal Records Checks 29 

 Safeguarding Awareness 29 

 Recruitment of Ex-offenders 30 

Page 52



Page 3 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 Fees 30 

 Licence Duration 30 

 Qualifications 30 

 Drivers Dress Code 30 

 Minor Breaches 31 

 Renewal of Licences 31 

 Surrender / Suspension / Revocation or Refusal 31 

 Right of Appeal 32 

 Record Keeping 32 

 Use of ‘out of town’ Hackney Carriages acting as Private 
Hire Vehicles in the Doncaster Council District 

32 

 Use of Passenger Carrying Vehicles (PCV) Licensed 
Drivers 

32 

8 Enforcement 34 

 Minor Breaches 34 

 Joint Authorisation of Enforcement Officers 35 

9 Technology, Communication and Recognition 36 

Appendix 1 Map of Doncaster Borough 37 

Appendix 2 Relevant Convictions Policy 38 

Appendix 3 Assessing Applicants and Existing Drivers for a Hackney 
Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Driver Licence in 
Accordance with C1 Standard. 

43 

Appendix 4 Dress Code for Licensed Drivers 44 

Appendix 5 Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Examination 
Retest Policy 

45 

Appendix 6 Hackney Carriage Vehicle Specifications 47 

Appendix 7 Hackney Carriage Vehicle Additional (Recommended) 
Specifications 

51 

Appendix 8 Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence Conditions 52 

Appendix 9 Private Hire Vehicle Specifications 58 

Appendix 10 Private Hire Vehicle Additional (Recommended) 
Specifications 

61 

Appendix 11 Private Hire Vehicle Licence Conditions 63 

Appendix 12 Limousine Private Hire Vehicle Specifications 70 

Appendix 13 Fire Engine Private Hire Vehicle Basic Standards 73 

Appendix 14 Horse Drawn Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence 
Conditions 

76 

Appendix 15 Private Hire Operator Licence Conditions 79 

Appendix 16 Private Hire Driver Licence Conditions & Licensed Driver 
Code of Conduct 

84 

Appendix 17 Penalty Point System 88 

Appendix 18 Taxi Licensing Committee Hearing 94 

Appendix 19 Delegation 99 

Appendix 20 CCTV Technical Specification 100 

 
  

Page 53



Page 4 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

1. Document History 
 
This Policy was first approved for adoption by Doncaster Council on the 19th January 
2012. The Council also resolved to delegate authority to the Licensing Committee to 
determine future revisions to this Policy. All revisions are detailed below. 
 
 

Date Committee Resolution Start Date 

19th January 2012 Council Approve Policy and delegate authority 
for determination of future revisions to 
the Licensing Committee 

1st February 
2012 

24th January 2013 Licensing  Policy amended to allow medical 
certificates to be completed by any 
doctor registered or practising in the UK 
or in any other EU/EEA country. 

24th January 
2013 

19th September 
2013 

Licensing Policy amended to reflect the change of 
organisation name from the Criminal 
Records Bureau to the Disclosure & 
Barring Service. 

19th September 
2013  

19th December 
2013 

Licensing Policy amended to give all licensed 
drivers the option of a 1 or 3 year 
duration licence on renewal. 

19th December 
2013 

18th September 
2014 

Licensing Policy amended to change driver licence 
duration to 3 years. 

1st January 2015  

25th June 2015 Licensing Policy amended with regard to the 
requirements for character referees for 
new drivers.  

25th June 2015 

17th March 2016 Licensing 1. Policy amended with regard to the 
duration of driver and private hire 
operator licences, to reflect legislative 
changes introduced by the Deregulation 
Act 2015. 
2. Vehicle specifications amended with 
regard to insurance write offs following 
the abolition of the VIC scheme. 

17th March 2016 

15th December 
2016 

Licensing PHV specification amended to permit 
factory fitted tinted windows. 

15th December 
2016 

15th December 
2016 

Licensing Policy amended to provide for the 
existing requirement for the practical 
driving assessment and wheelchair 
exercise to be delivered in-house, 
following the decision of the DVSA to 
stop providing the service. 

15th December 
2016 

15th December 
2016 

Licensing Policy amended to require all licensed 
drivers and operators to undertake 
safeguarding awareness training and to 
attend refresher training. 

1st January 2017 
for new 
applicants. 
31st March 2017 
for existing 
licence holders. 

15th December 
2016 

Licensing  Private Hire Operator licence conditions 
amended to include a condition relating 
to ‘out of town’ Hackney Carriages 

15th December 
2016 for new 
licences and 

Page 54



Page 5 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

acting as Private Hire Vehicles in the 
Doncaster Council district. 

renewals.  Steps 
to be taken to 
apply conditions 
to existing 
licences as 
expediently as 
lawfully possible 
and then allow 3 
months to 
comply. 

2nd March 2017 Council Private Hire Operator licence fee 
structure amended (section 5.6) 

1st April 2017 

22nd September 
2017 

N/A - no 
material 
change to 
policy 

HV and PH vehicle specifications 
amended to reflect the insurance 
industry reclassification of repairable 
salvage. (Business Safety & Licensing 
Manager on behalf of Assistant Director 
– Environment) 

1st October 2017 

23rd November 
2017 

N/A – no 
material 
change to 
policy 

HC condition ‘Prohibition of Front Seat 
Passengers’ revised to facilitate the use 
of the front seat(s) in vehicles where the 
partition fully encloses the driver as per 
the spirit of the existing policy (Business 
Safety & Licensing Manager on behalf of 
Assistant Director – Environment)  

23rd November 
2017 

10 December 
2020 

Licensing 
Committee 

Policy revised following the publication 
of the Department for Transport 
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards (July 2020) and a public 
consultation. 

1 April 2021 

25 January 2021 Licensing 
Committee 

Amended to give notice that within 12 
months the Licensing Committee shall 
consider and determine if CCTV, 
Emissions limits and Vehicle age limits 
shall become mandatory, and where 
relevant, will publish a date by which all 
licensed vehicles must be compliant. 

1 April 2021 (to 
be determined by 
1 April 2022) 

Page 55



Page 6 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

2. The Role of Licensing: Policy Justification 

 
The aim of local authority licensing of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle trades 
is to protect the public. Doncaster Council is also aware that the public should have 
reasonable access to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle services, because of 
the part they play in local transport provision.  Licensing requirements which are unduly 
stringent will tend unreasonably to restrict the supply of Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire vehicle services, by putting up the cost of operation or otherwise restricting entry 
to the trade.  Doncaster Council recognises that too restrictive an approach can work 
against the public interest – and can, indeed, have safety implications. 
 
For example, it is clearly important that somebody using a Hackney Carriage or Private 
Hire vehicle to go home alone late at night should be confident that the driver is ‘fit and 
proper’ and that the vehicle is safe.  But on the other hand, if the supply of Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire vehicles has been unduly constrained by onerous licensing 
conditions, then that person’s safety might be put at risk by having to wait on late-night 
streets for a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle to arrive; he or she might even 
be tempted to enter an unlicensed vehicle with an unlicensed driver illegally plying for 
hire. 
 
Doncaster Council, therefore, wants to be sure that every licensing requirement is in 
proportion to the risk it aims to address; or to put it another way, whether the cost of a 
requirement in terms of its effect on the availability of transport to the public is at least 
matched by the benefit to the public, for example through increased safety.  This is not 
to propose that a detailed, quantitative, cost-benefit assessment should be made in 
each case; but it is to say that Doncaster Council does look carefully at the costs – 
financial and otherwise – imposed by all of its licensing policies. 

Page 56



Page 7 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Introduction  
 
The Licensing Department at Doncaster Council (“the Council”) is responsible for 
dealing with all applications for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licences including 
drivers, vehicles and Private Hire operators. The Department also deals with 
complaints and enforcement in relation to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire matters. 
 
The licensing of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers, vehicles and operators 
aims to secure the following objectives: 
 

 That all licensed drivers, proprietors and operators are “fit and proper” persons 

to ensure the highest levels of public safety and good practice.  

 That all licensed vehicles are roadworthy and fit for use.  

 To encourage the use of environmentally friendly vehicles.  

 To encourage the use of vehicles that are accessible to persons who have 

disabilities.  

 
The Council will ensure that these aims are met by setting minimum requirements for 
the licensing of drivers, vehicles and operators. These requirements include: 
 

 Medical checks 

 Criminal record clearance 

 Driving ability 

 Knowledge of the area 

 Customer care 

 Safeguarding 

 Disability awareness 

 DVLA driving licence checks 

 
 Accurate record keeping 

 Routine inspections by Council officers 

 Insurance certificate checks  

 Strict mechanical testing of vehicles 

 
 Investigation of complaints 

 Enforcement of legislation and licence conditions with appropriate action taken 

in accordance with the Council’s enforcement policy statement.  

 Ongoing training, development and monitoring of the Council’s Licensing 

Committee and officers.  

 Provision of information to the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trade and 

members of the public through press releases, publications, trade bulletins, the 

Council website, social media and attendance at relevant forums. 

Page 57



Page 8 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

4. Review of Policy and Procedures  
 
4.1 Taxi and Private Hire Licensing: Best Practice Guidance 2010 
 
The Department for Transport has national responsibility for Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire legislation in England and Wales.  Following widespread consultation, the 
Department produced Best Practice Guidance for licensing authorities which sets out 
standards which can be considered good practice in this area of licensing, although it 
also recognised that individual licensing authorities should produce their own policies 
in relation to specific licensing matters.  
 
4.2 Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards: July 2020 
 
Whist the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards (‘the 
standards’) is on protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will benefit 
from the recommendations contained in it. There is consensus that common core 
minimum standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle 
sector, and the recommendations in the standards document are the result of detailed 
discussion with the trade, regulators and safety campaign groups. The Department 
for Transport therefore expects the recommendations to be implemented unless 
there is a compelling local reason not to. 
 
The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards reflect the significant changes 
in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas since the 2010 
version of the Department’s Best Practice Guidance. This includes extensive advice 
on checking the suitability of individuals and operators to be licensed; safeguarding 
children and vulnerable adults; the Immigration Act 2016 and Common Law Police 
Disclosure (which replaced the Notifiable Occupations Scheme). 
 
The standards replace relevant sections of the Best Practice Guidance issued by the 
Department in 2010, where there is a conflict between the Statutory Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards and the Best Practice Guidance, the standards take 
precedence. 
 
The standards set out a framework of policies that, under section 177(4) of the Policing 
and Crime Act 2017, licensing authorities “must have regard” to when exercising their 
functions. These functions include developing, implementing and reviewing their taxi 
and private hire vehicle licensing regimes. “Having regard” is more than having a 
cursory glance at a document before arriving at a preconceived conclusion. 
 
“Having regard” to these standards requires public authorities, in formulating a policy, 
to give considerations the weight which is proportionate in the circumstances. Given 
that the standards have been set directly to address the safeguarding of the 
public and the potential impact of failings in this area, the importance of 
thoroughly considering these standards cannot be overstated. It is not a question 
of box ticking; the standards must be considered rigorously and with an open mind. 
 
In the interest of transparency, all licensing authorities should publish their 
consideration of the measures contained in Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards, and the policies and delivery plans that stem from these.  
 

Page 58



Page 9 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards does not purport to give a 
definitive statement of the law and any decisions made by a licensing authority remain 
a matter for that authority. 
 
The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards have been taken into 
consideration in preparing this policy.  
 
4.3 Consultation 
 
The Council is keen to hear the views of persons who may be affected by this policy 
and has identified people and organisations that may be interested in commenting on 
this document. Prior to adoption of the policy the Council consulted widely and invited 
comments from any interested party in particular those listed below.  
 

Representatives of the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Trade 

 

South Yorkshire Local Authorities and 
other bordering Authorities  

Private Hire Association 

 

Primary Care Trusts 

All existing licensed Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Drivers. 

Doncaster Council Children’s 
Services(school contracts) 

 

South Yorkshire Police 
 

Disability Rights Commission 
 

Ward Councillors  
Citizens Advice Bureau 

 

Town and Parish Councils 
 

Age Concern 
 

MPs and MEPs 
 

Chamber of Commerce  
 

Local Businesses and Residents 
 

Hearing Dogs for Deaf People 
 

Safer Doncaster Partnership 
Representatives for the Blind and 
Partially Sighted People  

 

Doncaster Women’s Centre 
 

Passenger Transport Executive / 
Transport providers 

Local Traders (Frenchgate Centre / 
Lakeside etc.) 

 

 
4.4 Review 2020 
 
Following the publication of the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 
Standards, the Council has undertaken a review of the policy. Prior to drafting an 
amended policy, the Licensing Officer carried out an online survey to gauge the local 
opinion of the standards as well as other considerations for changes to the policy. 
 
The responses helped to shape the amended policy, which was then subject to a wider 
consultation with various people including; 
 

 Members of the public 

 Union representatives of licensed Hackney Carriage & Private Hire drivers 

 All Doncaster licensed Hackney Carriage & Private Hire drivers, operators and 

vehicle licence holders. 

 Elected members 

Page 59



Page 10 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 Town and Parish Councils 

 South Yorkshire Police 

 Public Health 

 Corporate Health & Safety 

 Health & Safety 

 Doncaster Safeguarding Children Board 

 Doncaster Education School Contracts  

 Local Businesses and residents 

 Neighbouring local authorities 

 Pubwatch 

4.5 Implementation  
 
This policy first took effect in February 2012 and is kept under review and revised as 
appropriate. 
 
A full review and consultation was undertaken in the later part of 2020 following the 
publication of the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards. The revised policy was approved by the Licensing Committee on 10 
December 2020 and takes effect on the 1 April 2021. 
 
The Council will review all existing licences to ensure compliance with this policy. 
Where a licence holder is identified as not meeting the criteria of this policy, provided 
that there is no risk to the safety of the public, a reasonable opportunity will be given 
in order to become compliant. 
 
Where a more subjective change has been introduced, for example an amended policy 
on previous convictions, then each case will be considered on its own merits. Where 
there are exceptional, clear and compelling reasons to deviate from this policy, 
consideration will be given to doing so. 

Page 60



Page 11 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

5. Hackney Carriage and/or Private Hire Driver 
Licence – New and Renewal applications 

 
Sections 51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
require that a district council shall not grant a driver’s licence to drive a Private Hire 
vehicle or Hackney Carriage unless they are satisfied that an applicant is a fit and 
proper person. 
 
When determining an application, the Council must be satisfied that the answer to the 
following question is ‘yes’ - 
 
‘without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you 
allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone 
in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night?’ 

 
If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to this question is ‘no’, the individual 
should not hold a licence. 

 
In order for the Council to establish whether an applicant is fit and proper the applicant 
must provide evidence of:  

 

 Honesty and trustworthiness  

 Driving standard  

 Medical fitness 

 Criminal history  

 Safeguarding awareness 

 Relevant knowledge of the borough 

 Knowledge of licensing legislation 

 Customer service skills 

 Understanding of English (spoken, written and reading) 
 
All applicants are strongly advised to read the Council’s Statement of Policy 
about Relevant Convictions before considering whether to apply for a Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire vehicle driver’s licence. 
 
Application forms must be completed in full.  Any incomplete forms will be returned to 
the applicant as invalid.  
 
Applications will only be accepted as valid if they include and/or are accompanied by 
the following: 
 

1. Correct application form provided by the Council (which may be in an electronic 
format), completed in its entirety and signed by the applicant. 

 
2. The appropriate fee.  

The current fees are available at www.doncaster.gov.uk/licensing 
 

3. Evidence that the applicant holds a full DVLA driving licence.  
Applicants must have held a full DVLA licence for at least 2 years (section 5.2) 

 

Page 61

https://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/business-investment/licensing


Page 12 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

4. A completed medical certificate (section 5.3) less than 3 months old. 
 

5. Evidence of having passed Doncaster Council’s practical driving assessment 
and, where applicable, wheelchair exercise within the previous 12 months. 

 
6. Evidence of having passed the relevant Doncaster knowledge test (new 

applications only) within the previous 12 months. 
 

7. Evidence of having attended a Doncaster Council approved safeguarding 
awareness session, within the previous 12 months.   

 
8. 1 recently taken, colour, passport sized photograph of the applicant, no hats 

(unless worn for religious reasons), or sunglasses. 
 
9. DVLA mandate completed and signed by the applicant (this may be sent to you 

electronically upon submission of your application). 
 

10. Application for an Enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) criminal record 
certificate completed by the applicant with accompanying identification, or a 
current valid Enhanced disclosure certificate, obtained via an approved body, 
which can be verified as current via the DBS update service.  The certificate 
must include a check of both the adults’ and children’s barred lists. (section 5.4)  

 
11. 2 character referees.  Each referee must have known the applicant for at least 

two years, must not be related to the applicant, must not be connected to the 
taxi/private hire trade and must not be an elected member of Doncaster Council. 
(New applications only) 

 
12. All applicants who have previously spent an extended period (three or more 

continuous months) outside the UK are required to provide criminal records 
information or a ‘certificate of good character’ from the appropriate embassy 
(section 5.4)  

 
13. Evidence of your right to work. 

 
14. 2 forms of identification confirming the applicants address. 
 

5.1 Fee 
 
All applications must be accompanied by the appropriate fee as prescribed from time 
to time by the Council. Licensing fees are reviewed on an annual basis and approved 
by the Council. 
 
No refunds are payable where applications are not pursued or completed or where 
applications are refused e.g. as a result of relevant criminal records, where relevant 
information has been withheld or where applicants fail to meet application 
requirements. The Licensing authority can advise individual applicants who have 
queries in relation to this issue and any such information is strictly confidential.  
 
  

Page 62



Page 13 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

5.2 Driving Standards 
 
It is a statutory requirement that a licence will not be issued to any person who at the 
time of the application has not held a full driving licence for a continuous period of one 
year immediately prior to the date of receipt of a valid application by the Council. To 
further evidence an applicant’s driving ability, Doncaster Council requires all applicants 
to have held a full DVLA driving licence for a period of at least 2 continuous years 
immediately prior to making an application. 
 
Driving licences issued by EU / EEA States and Countries are permitted to count 
towards a maximum of a 1 year period of qualification requirement for the grant of a 
private hire and/or hackney carriage licence. You must also have held a full DVLA 
driving licence for at least 1 year, which must be valid at the time of your application, 
in order to satisfy the 2 year driving licence requirement. 

 
In order to establish that an applicant has reached an acceptable driving standard, new 
applicants will also be required to have successfully undertaken Doncaster Council’s 
practical driving assessment.  Existing drivers may also be required to undertake this 
assessment where serious concerns are raised about the standard of their driving. 
 
All new applications for a driver’s licence will be required to successfully undertake 
Doncaster Council’s practical driving assessment without exception. 
 
Applicants for a Hackney Carriage or Joint driver’s licence must have also undertaken 
Doncaster Council’s wheelchair exercise. 
 
Driver assessments and the wheelchair exercise are delivered by one of Doncaster 
Council’s competent assessors. 
 
Practical driving assessments and/or wheelchair exercise require payment of the 
published fee at the time of booking. Appointments can be cancelled by telephone or 
email up to 48 hours before the appointment without incurring any costs. No refunds 
will be provided for cancellations made with less than 48 hours’ notice, failing to attend 
or any other action on your part which prevents the appointment taking place. 
 
All applicants for Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle drivers’ licences will be 
assessed on their individual merits.  Doncaster Council does not consider it necessary 
to set a maximum age limit for drivers provided that regular medical checks are made 
(see 5.3), nor does it consider a minimum age limit, beyond the statutory limitations 
and one additional year of driving experience (totalling 2 years), to be appropriate. 
 
5.3 Medical Fitness 
 
There is a general recognition that it is appropriate for Hackney Carriage / Private Hire 
vehicle drivers to have more stringent medical standards than those applicable to 
normal car drivers because: 
 

 they carry members of the public who have expectations of a safe journey; 

 they are on the road for longer hours than most drivers; and 

 they may have to assist disabled passengers and handle luggage. 
 

Page 63



Page 14 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Doncaster Council supports the widely held view that Group 2 medical standards 
applied by the DVLA in relation to bus and lorry drivers should also be applied by local 
authorities to Hackney Carriage / Private Hire vehicle drivers.   
 
The Councils Group 2 medical standards certificate signed by a doctor registered or 
practising in the United Kingdom will be required from all applicants regardless of any 
medical checks they may have undertaken for other purposes.  The applicant is 
responsible for the payment of all fees required for any medical examination. 
 
Once licensed, medical certificates will remain valid until the driver’s 45th birthday or, 
in the case of new drivers aged 40 years and over, for a minimum of five years and, 
thereafter, will be required at five yearly intervals up to age 65 unless restricted to a 
shorter period for medical reasons.  From age 65 years a Group 2 medical standards 
certificate will be required annually.  
 
The Group 2 medical standards preclude the licensing of drivers with insulin treated 
diabetes.  However, exceptional arrangements do exist for drivers with insulin treated 
diabetes, who can meet a series of medical criteria, to obtain a licence to drive category 
C1 vehicles.  It is the policy of Doncaster Council to apply the C1 standards to taxi and 
Private Hire vehicle drivers with insulin treated diabetes.  The criteria is summarised in 
Appendix 3. 
 
Should concerns arise regarding the health of a licensed driver, the Council at any time 
may request further information or a further medical examination to be carried out and 
submitted. The Council reserves the right to revoke or suspend a licence if requested 
information is not submitted within 4 weeks of the request and a satisfactory 
explanation is not given for the failure to provide such information or where the 
information provided raises further concerns as to the applicant’s fitness to carry out 
his/her duties as a licensed driver. 
 
Doncaster Council have produced a medical form and guidance which new applicants 
and existing licence holders are required to be completed by their own GP, or a medical 
professional, during the assessment of their medical fitness to drive. The form can be 
provided upon request or downloaded from the relevant licence page of the local 
authority website: 
www.doncaster.gov.uk/licensing. 
 
Medicals can be carried out by the applicants own GP or by any suitably qualified 
medical professional who has access to the applicants medical history. 
 
5.4 Criminal Record 
 
Prior to consideration of any application, the Council will obtain from the applicant a 
Disclosure & Barring Service Enhanced Certificate in respect of the applicant, to be 
assessed in accordance with the Council’s statement of policy about relevant 
convictions. Applicants are advised to take this opportunity to subscribe to the 
DBS update service. 
 
It is recognised that many vehicles are used for the carriage of children and 
vulnerable persons and the Enhanced Disclosure is most appropriate with a check of 
the adults’ and children’s barred lists. It is the policy of Doncaster Council that no 
person will be granted a licence if they appear on either barred list. 

Page 64

http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/licensing


Page 15 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
Once licenced, existing drivers will be required to submit a new Enhanced Certificate 
6 months from the licence granted date, or be able to demonstrate that their existing 
certificate is still up to date via the DBS update service.  The licence holder will be 
responsible for paying the relevant fee.  
 
All licensed drivers are required to subscribe to the DBS update service to 
enable the licensing authority to routinely check for new information every six 
months. 
 
Where the authority is unable to check the update service, the licence holder will be 
required to produce a new Enhanced Disclosure Certificate. Should the licence holder 
fail to produce a current (less than one month old) Enhanced Disclosure Certificate 
within a period specified in the request, the authority will suspend the licence with 
immediate effect.  
 
Prior to consideration of any new or renewal application, all applicants who have 
previously spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the 
UK are required to provide criminal records information or a ‘certificate of good 
character’ from the appropriate embassy.  For information on applying for overseas 
criminal record information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home 
Office guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants 
 
A licence will not normally be granted to any applicant who does not comply with the 
minimum requirements as set out in the Council’s Statement of Policy about Relevant 
Convictions (see Appendix 2). Where several minor offences have been committed 
the Council will take into consideration any pattern of offending.  The Council can 
also take into consideration spent convictions and cautions when determining an 
application for a driver’s licence.  
 
Existing licence holders are required to notify the licensing authority in writing or by 
email within 48 hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction (including a 
caution) of any sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any 
motoring offence. An arrest for any of the offences within this scope will result in a 
review by the authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to do so.  
The licensing authority will consider what, if any, action in terms of the licence should 
be taken based on the balance of probabilities.  
 
Importantly, a failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing 
authority is subsequently advised of might be seen as behaviour that questions 
honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome 
of the initial allegation. 
 
A licence may be suspended or revoked pending the outcome of any investigation or 
trial where an existing driver is found to be awaiting trial or has been charged with a 
serious crime relating to; 
 

 Driving or being in charge of a vehicle whilst under the influence of drink or 
drugs 

 A drug related offence  

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


Page 16 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 A sexual offence 

 A violence offence  

 Dishonesty 
 
A licence may also be suspended or revoked where information received raises 
grave doubts as to the fitness of a driver, regardless of whether criminal charges are 
brought. 
 
Any application from a new applicant charged with a serious offence as outlined 
above will not be determined until the outcome of that matter has been determined. 
 
Where an existing driver commits an offence and/or breaches the licence 
conditions/byelaws, the nature and number of incidents will be taken into 
consideration when considering if the driver continues to be considered ‘fit and 
proper’.  Complaints in relation to existing drivers will generally be held on file and 
taken into consideration for a period of three years from receipt, although where a 
further warning is issued during this period, the original warning will be kept on file 
from the date of the most recent warning. Where a licence is revoked for persistent 
breach of licence conditions a period of time specified in Appendix 2 will be required 
to elapse before a further application can be considered. 
 
Where a licence holder or applicant has 3 driving penalty points imposed on them 
during the term of their current licence or application, they shall notify the Council in 
writing (or by email) within 7 days. Offences resulting in more than 3 points shall be 
required to be notified within 48 hours as above.  
 
5.5 Conduct 
 
The Council may also take into consideration conduct that has not resulted in a 
criminal conviction.  
 
Drivers of licensed vehicles are often the first person that a visitor to the borough will 
interact with, for example when they enter Doncaster via the train station or airport. 
Licensed drivers should recognise the importance of conducting themselves in a 
professional, respectful, compliant and courteous manner at all times. 
 
Any person who acts in a manner below the expected standard of the Council when 
interacting by any means (including social media) with members of the public, police 
officers, council staff, or who persistently fails to comply with the conditions of 
licence, will raise serious doubt as to their suitability to hold a licence. 
 
5.6 Knowledge Test & Language Proficiency 
 
First time applicants are required to have passed the Doncaster Council written and 
oral knowledge test in English, within the previous 12 months, prior to the submission 
of a driver’s licence application.  
 
The knowledge test consists of questions relating to the conditions of the licence, the 
laws relating to the licence, geographical knowledge of the area, customer care and 
disability awareness.   
 

Page 66



Page 17 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Where an application for a drivers licence is received from an applicant who has 
previously held an equivalent licence in Doncaster the applicant will not be required to 
sit a knowledge test unless their previous licence lapsed more than 1 year prior to the 
date of the new application. 
 
A lack of language proficiency could impact on a driver’s ability to understand written 
documents, such as policies and guidance, relating to the protection of children and 
vulnerable adults and applying this to identify and act on signs of exploitation. Oral 
proficiency will be of relevance in the identification of potential exploitation through 
communicating with passengers and their interaction with others. 
 
In order to achieve the objective stated above, any applicant who does not satisfy the 
Council of their ability to read, write and understand English to an acceptable level will 
not be considered suitable to be granted a licence. 
 
Knowledge test appointments require payment of the published fee at the time of 
booking. Appointments can be cancelled by telephone or email up to 48 hours before 
the appointment without incurring any costs. No refunds will be provided for 
cancellations made with less than 48 hours’ notice, failing to attend or any other action 
on your part which prevents the appointment taking place. 
 
5.7 Safeguarding Awareness 
 
In order for the Council to establish whether an applicant is fit and proper, the applicant 
must provide evidence of attending a Doncaster Council approved safeguarding advice 
and guidance session within the 12 months prior to making an application. The session 
will provide an awareness of: 
 

 Understanding the need to protect vulnerable adults, young people and 

children. 

 Identifying possible victims of abuse and exploitation by understanding 

indicators of risk. 

 Identifying sources of advice and pathways for reporting concerns. 

 Understanding their roles and responsibilities in relation to personal safety and 

security. 

 County lines exploitation. 

Licence holders must undertake Doncaster Councils recognised refresher training at 
least once every 36 months.  Applications for renewal will only be considered where 
the applicant can show they have previously attended a Doncaster Council approved 
safeguarding training session within 36 months of the date of expiry of their current 
licence. 
 
5.8 Qualifications 
 
The Council strongly encourages licence holders who wish to develop and evidence 
their professional standards through additional external training and obtaining 
qualifications relevant to their role.  
 
  

Page 67



Page 18 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

5.9 Disclosing and Sharing Licensing Information 
 
Applicants and licence holders are required to disclose if they hold or have previously 
held a licence with another authority and to disclose if they have had an application for 
a licence refused, or a licence revoked or suspended by any other licensing authority. 
 
Making a false statement or omitting to provide the information requested may be a 
criminal offence. 
 
The authority will utilise tools such as the National Register of Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Driver Licence Refusals and Revocations (known as ‘NR3’) to search and 
share information with other licensing authorities. 
 
Where the Council become aware that a person holds / has previously held a licence 
with another authority, we will contact that authority and request that they provide any 
relevant information which will assist in reaching a decision about their suitability to 
hold a licence. 
 
Doncaster Council will also consider providing responses to similar requests received 
from other authorities, where relevant information is held and it is appropriate to do so. 
 
Failing to declare information, which the authority later becomes aware of, will be 
considered as an act of dishonesty. 
 
5.10 Drivers Dress Code 
 
Doncaster Council is committed to encouraging the professional image of the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire trade, and considers that drivers of licensed vehicles are 
vocational drivers.  The Council considers, therefore, that drivers should conform to a 
minimum standard of dress, as set out in Appendix 4, in order to raise and maintain 
the profile of the licensed trade.  The Authority does not impose such standards by 
way of conditions to any licence. It is expected, however, that such standards will be 
maintained at all times.  
 
5.11 Minor Breaches 
 
Doncaster Council has introduced a points-based system of enforcement, as set out 
in Appendix 17, which allows minor breaches to be recorded and considered in context 
while referring those with persistent or serious breaches to the Licensing Committee. 
This has the benefit of consistency in enforcement and makes better use of the 
Licensing Committee and officer’s time. 
 
5.12 Renewal of Licences  
 
It is the responsibility of the licence holder to ensure that their licence is renewed prior 
to the expiry of their current licence.   
 
A licence may be renewed up to 2 months prior to the expiry date. 
 
Any licence that is not renewed within 1 month following expiry will not be renewed and 
a new application in full will be required.  
 

Page 68



Page 19 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Where a licence holder will not be available at the time of renewal, for example due to 
an extended holiday, then they may apply in writing to the Licensing Officer, prior to 
the expiry date, explaining their circumstances and request a waiver.  If granted, this 
waiver will allow the licence holder to renew their licence after the expiry date or 
depending on the circumstances, the licence may be renewed early.  
 
In any case, following expiry of a licence, the driver will not be considered licensed and 
will not be permitted to drive a licensed vehicle until such time as the licence has been 
renewed and a new licence has been issued. 
 
The Council will endeavour to issue reminder letters at least six weeks prior to the 
expiry of a licence although there is no statutory duty for the Council to do so and the 
responsibility ultimately lies with the licensee to ensure that complete applications for 
renewal are submitted on time.  
 
Prior to consideration of any new or renewal application, all applicants who have 
previously spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the 
UK are required to provide criminal records information or a ‘certificate of good 
character’ from the appropriate embassy.  For information on applying for overseas 
criminal record information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home 
Office guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants 
 
5.13 Change of Licence Type 
 
Licensees wishing to change from holding either a Private Hire licence or a Hackney 
Carriage licence to a Joint Private Hire and Hackney Carriage licence will only be 
required to undertake any additional tests and checks that are relevant to the additional 
use being applied for. 
 
In either of the above scenarios the published fee(s) will be required on application and 
no refund will be payable in respect of an existing licence. 
 
5.14 Surrender / Suspension / Revocation, Refusal of Licence or Failure to 

Complete Application 
 
Where refusal, suspension or revocation of an application/licence is considered, 
subject to the exceptions below, the applicant/driver will, be invited to attend a Taxi 
Licensing Committee Hearing to discuss the concerns. During this meeting the 
applicant/licence holder, or their appointed representative, will be given an opportunity 
to state their case in relation to the issue(s) of concern.  Following this hearing the 
Committee will determine the most appropriate action. 
 
Where the licence holder no longer meets one of the basic requirements (e.g. failure 
to evidence a current Enhanced Disclosure Certificate, failure to provide a new medical 
certificate) the action of immediate suspension will be taken by a duly authorised 
officer.    
 
Where the authority are notified of a serious incident where the immediate revocation 
of a licence is deemed necessary and the only effective action to prevent the risk of 

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


Page 20 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

harm to the public, the Head of Service, the Licensing Manager or, in his absence, the 
Licensing Officer have the authority to approve the immediate revocation of a licence. 
 
In the event of a voluntary surrender of a driver’s licence before its expiry, the 
authority reserves the right to consider the revocation or suspension of the licence 
where the reason for surrender is that the licence holder can no longer be considered 
as a fit and proper person to hold a licence, for example, where a licence holder 
receives a conviction, driving ban or is medically unfit. 
 
In the event of a voluntary surrender, suspension, revocation, refusal of licence or 
where the applicant or the authority determine that the application process cannot be 
completed, there shall be no refund of the licence application fee. 
 
Where a licence is refused, revoked or suspended the Council reserves the right to 
record information on the National Register of Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Driver 
Licence Refusals and Revocations (known as ‘NR3’) to share information with other 
licensing authorities. 
 
5.15 Right of Appeal 
 
Any person who is aggrieved by the Council’s refusal to grant, suspension or 
revocation of a driver’s licence may appeal to a Magistrates’ court within 21 days of 
being notified in writing of the decision. 
 
In line with s61 (2B) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as 
amended by s.52 of the Road Safety Act 2006, where it appears to the Council that it 
is in the interests of public safety for any revocation to have immediate effect there will 
be no right to drive as a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage driver pending an appeal.  
This power will only generally be invoked where there are allegations of serious 
violence offences, offences of a sexual nature or where there is considered to be a 
serious risk to passengers or members of the public in allowing the driver to continue 
as a licensed driver. 
 
5.16 Duration of Drivers’ Licences 
 
Every licence granted to any person to drive a Private Hire and/or Hackney Carriage 
vehicle shall remain in force for 3 years from the date of issue or such lesser period as 
may be considered appropriate in the circumstances of the case. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, where immigration leave is time-limited to less than the 
statutory length for a driver licence, the licence will be issued for a duration which does 
not exceed the applicant’s period of leave. 

Page 70



Page 21 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

6. Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Licences  

 
Section 47(2) of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 permits a District Council to require 
that a Hackney Carriage licensed by them under the Act of 1847 to be of such design 
or appearance or bear such distinguishing marks as shall clearly identify it as a 
Hackney Carriage.  
 
Section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 states that 
the Council shall grant a Private Hire vehicle licence provided the Council is satisfied 
that the vehicle is: 
 

 Suitable in type, size and design for the use of a Private Hire Vehicle; 

 Not of such a design and appearance as to lead any person to believe that the 
vehicle is a Hackney Carriage; 

 In a suitable mechanical condition; 

 Safe; 

 Comfortable; and 

 That there is in force in relation to the use of the vehicle a policy of insurance 
that complies with the Road Traffic Act 1988.  

 
Once licensed, a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle remains a Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire vehicle until the licence either expires, is suspended or 
revoked.  A licensed vehicle can, subject to very limited exemptions, only ever 
be legally driven by a driver who holds the relevant Hackney Carriage or Private 
Hire drivers’ licence and appropriate insurance. 
 
To allow flexibility for new types of vehicles to be readily considered to be licensed the 
Council has set down basic vehicle specifications leaving it open to the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire trade to put forward vehicles of their own choice which can 
be shown to meet these criteria. 
 
With regard to Hackney Carriages, it is the policy of Doncaster Council to only license 
purpose built Hackney Carriages which are wheelchair accessible and fitted with a 
partition between the driver and passenger compartments.  The driver’s compartment 
must never be used to carry any fare paying passenger(s). 
 
All applications submitted for the grant of a licence are advised to apply at least 15 
working days before the licence is required to allow time for the vehicle to be tested 
and the licence to be processed.  
 
Application forms must be completed in full, accompanied by all required documents 
and signed.  Any incomplete forms will be deemed invalid and shall be returned / 
rejected. 
 
Applications will only be acceptable as valid if they include and/or are accompanied by 
the following: 
 

1. Application form provided by the Council (which may be in an electronic format), 
completed in its entirety and signed. 

 
2. The appropriate fee. 

Page 71



Page 22 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
3. Confirmation of approval for the vehicle issued by the approved Vehicle Testing 

Station (section 6.4) 
 

4. Vehicle registration document showing the applicant to be the registered keeper 
or other acceptable proof of ownership (the V5 New Keeper Supplement 
completed by the applicant or an official receipt from a registered company in 
the case of newly manufactured vehicles).  

 
5. Certificate of insurance for the vehicle which covers the activity required (i.e. 

public or private hire – section 6.2) and which is valid on the date that the licence 
is due to come into force. 
 

6. A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old, will be required 
annually for each individual / director / partner applying for a vehicle proprietor’s 
licence. It is recognised that where the applicant is also a licensed driver or 
operator they will already be subject to requirements to produce Disclosure 
Certificates and therefore will not be required to produce a further certificate 
when applying to licence a vehicle. However, should the vehicle licence holder 
cease to be a licensed driver and/or operator then a Basic Disclosure Certificate 
will be required immediately.  

 
6.1 Licence Fee 
 
All applications must be accompanied by the appropriate fee as prescribed by the 
Council; the current scale of fees is available from the Council at 
www.doncaster.gov.uk/licensing.  
 
Licensing fees are reviewed on an annual basis and adopted by the Council following 
advertisement by a notice in a local newspaper. The notice will also be displayed at 
the Council Offices to allow for any comments to be made.  
 
In the event of the surrender of a vehicle licence before its expiry a pro-rata refund will 
be offered subject to the published administration fee.  

 
6.2 Insurance  
 
All Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles must be insured for the appropriate 
activity of public hire / hire and reward, such insurance to provide as a minimum 
requirement insurance cover for third party fire and theft and also to include legal 
liability for passengers and luggage. 
 
The Council considers vehicle insurance to be a high priority and, therefore, requires 
all proprietors to provide evidence of continuous insurance cover throughout the period 
of the licence.  Failure to provide evidence of insurance will result in the vehicle licence 
being suspended. 
 
6.3 Criminal Records Checks 
 
Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for vehicle licensing. A Basic 
Disclosure from the DBS is required for all applicants (where the applicant is a 
partnership or company, a Basic DBS will be required for each partner or Director).  

Page 72



Page 23 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
Basic Disclosure certificates shall be requires at the time of initial application and 
annually from the grant of a licence. The print date on the certificate shall be less 
than one month prior to the date it is presented to the authority. 
 
Prior to consideration of any new or renewal application, all applicants who have 
previously spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the 
UK are required to provide criminal records information or a ‘certificate of good 
character’ from the appropriate embassy.  For information on applying for overseas 
criminal record information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home 
Office guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants 

 
6.4 Testing of Vehicles 
 
In addition to the MOT testing requirements all licensed vehicles are required to be 
tested at the Council’s testing station. 
 
All vehicle licence applications/renewals must be accompanied by confirmation of 
approval issued by the Council’s testing station. 
 
Dependent on the age of the vehicle, interim testing may be required during the period 
of the licence.  The testing frequency is set out in the table below.  The age of the 
vehicle will be determined on the start date of the licence from the date of first 
registration as stated on the vehicle registration document. 
 

Age of Vehicle Test Frequency 

Less than 4 years Annually 

Over 4 years but less than 7 years 6 Monthly  

Over 7 years 4 Monthly 

 
Where concerns arise during the period of the licence regarding the mechanical fitness 
of a licensed vehicle the Council may request a further test to be undertaken and a 
further confirmation of approval to be produced at the Licensee’s expense.  However, 
the Licensing Authority cannot require a vehicle to have more than 3 tests per year. 
 
6.5 Licence Continuity and Renewals 
 
In order to ensure that a vehicle remains continuously licensed the vehicle must be 
presented for test and pass on or before the next test due date.  The test due date is 
stated on the documents provided by the Council at the time the licence is granted 
and/or after each inspection test. 
 
Vehicles may be presented for test up to 1 month prior to the test due date. 
 
Vehicles which are being licensed for the first time or which are tested after the expiry 
of the licence must be licensed within 10 working days of the date of the test otherwise 
the vehicle will be required to undergo a further test at the expense of the applicant.  
This additional test will not count towards the maximum of 3 tests per year.   
 

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


Page 24 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Where an application for renewal is made more than 10 working days after the expiry 
of the licence the application will be considered as a new application. 
 
Any vehicle failing its examination test will be required to undertake and pass a further  
examination test before it can be licensed or, in the case of an existing licensed vehicle, 
before it can continue to be used as a licensed vehicle.  This further examination is 
known as a retest.   
 
The Council’s policy with regard to retests and, where applicable, the fee is set out in 
Appendix 5.  Retests do not count towards the limit of 3 tests per year.   
 
The applicant is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any mechanical 
inspections.  
 
The Council will suspend the vehicle licence if the vehicle is not presented for its interim 
test by the due date. 
 
Following expiry of a licence the vehicle will not be considered to be licensed and will 
not be permitted to be used as a licensed vehicle until such time as a licence has been 
granted.  
 
The Council will endeavour to issue reminder letters at least four weeks prior to the 
expiry of a vehicle test although there is no statutory duty for the Council to do so and 
the responsibility ultimately lies with the licensee to ensure that tests/applications are 
completed prior to expiry/due date.   
 
Prior to consideration of any new or renewal application, all applicants who have 
previously spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the 
UK are required to provide criminal records information or a ‘certificate of good 
character’ from the appropriate embassy.  For information on applying for overseas 
criminal record information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home 
Office guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants 
 
Vehicle test appointments require payment of the published fee at the time of booking. 
Appointments can be cancelled by telephone or email up to 48 hours before the 
appointment without incurring any costs. No refunds will be provided for cancellations 
made with less than 48 hours’ notice, failing to attend or any other action on your part 
which prevents the appointment taking place. 
 
6.6 Type of Vehicle 
 
In order to assess vehicle suitability, the Council will take into account passenger 
safety, comfort and the design of the vehicle. 
 
In order to be considered suitable to be licensed as a Hackney Carriage the vehicle 
must comply with the basic specification set out in Appendix 6, comply with the 
conditions listed in Appendix 7 and pass the Council’s vehicle inspection test. 
 

Any vehicle complying with the basic specification set out in Appendix 9 will be 
considered suitable to be licensed as a Private Hire Vehicle subject to it complying 

Page 74

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


Page 25 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

with the conditions listed in Appendix 11 and passing the Council’s vehicle inspection 
test. 
 

The Council will license Stretch Limousines which meet the basic specifications for 
Stretch Limousines as listed in Appendix 12. 
 

In exceptional circumstances the Council’s basic requirements for vehicles may be 
waived to facilitate the licensing of Novelty Vehicles although confirmation should be 
sought from the Licensing Officer prior to any application being made.  Whilst all 
applications for Novelty Vehicles will be considered on their own merits the Council 
has produced model standards and conditions for Fire Engines and Horse Drawn 
vehicles as set out in Appendices 13 and 14 respectively. 
 

In addition to meeting the relevant vehicle specifications all Private Hire Vehicles, 
including Novelty Vehicles, will have to comply with the Private Hire vehicle conditions. 
(Appendix 11) 
 
6.7 Seating Capacity 
 

No vehicle capable of carrying more than 8 passengers can be licensed by the Council. 
 

In order to facilitate the licensing of a wide variety of vehicle types and to encourage 
more environmentally friendly vehicles the Council has not set a limit on the minimum 
number of seats but instead requires a minimum space standard per passenger as 
detailed in the basic specifications for vehicles. 
 

It is the proprietor’s and operator’s responsibility to ensure that they established the 
number of passengers at the time of booking.  This is particularly important for those 
proprietors and operators who choose to utilise smaller vehicles. 
 

6.8 Accessibility  
 

Doncaster Council is committed to social inclusion and ensuring a wide variety of 
vehicle types are available for disabled residents to avoid discrimination in terms of 
travel arrangements. 
 

All Hackney Carriage vehicles are required to be wheelchair accessible. The Council 
strongly encourage the availability of wheelchair accessible Private Hire vehicles. 
 

The Council recognises individual choice and preferences of the travelling public.  In 
order to encourage a wide variety of vehicle types the Council will not be unnecessarily 
restrictive with regard to wheelchair accessible vehicles with the obvious proviso that 
they must allow wheelchair passengers to be boarded and transported safely and in 
comfort.  Vehicles that allow side or rear boarding of wheelchair passengers will be 
considered for licence. 
 

Any equipment fitted to a licensed vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into 
the vehicle must comply with and have been tested in accordance with the 
requirements of the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 – or as 
amended from time to time. 
 

Where the vehicle is designed or adapted to carry a wheelchair, the proprietor shall 
ensure that the driver has received sufficient training to board and convey wheelchair 
users.  
 

Page 75



Page 26 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Signage is to be fixed to the outside of all vehicles to convey to passengers that the 
vehicle has been designed or adapted to carry a wheelchair.  
 
In accordance with sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010, Doncaster Council 
will publish on its website, a list of all licensed wheelchair accessible vehicles 
(‘designated vehicles’). Where the driver of a designated vehicle does not hold an 
exemption on medical grounds which has been issued by the local authority from 
transporting a passenger in a ‘reference wheelchair’ (as defined in Schedule 1 of the 
Public Service Vehicle Accessibility Regulations 2000), he/she shall be committing a 
criminal offence to refuse to carry passengers in wheelchairs, to fail to provide them 
with appropriate assistance, or to charge them extra. 
 
Drivers of any licensed vehicle cannot refuse to carry an assistance dog (as defined in 
the Equality Act 2010) unless they have a medical exemption issued by the Council. 
Such exemptions shall only be issued following receipt of a medical report produced 
by the driver’s registered general practitioner. 
 
6.9 Quantity Restrictions of Vehicle Licences 
 

Whilst the law prohibits the Council from setting a limit on the number of Private Hire 
vehicle licences it issues, quantity restrictions can be set to regulate the number of 
licensed Hackney Carriages. 
 

In 2010 the Council commissioned an independent survey of Hackney Carriage usage.  
The 2010 study identified that there is no evidence of significant unmet demand for 
Hackney Carriages in Doncaster.  On this basis the Council has discretion in its 
Hackney Carriage licensing policy and may either: 
 

 continue to allow market forces to dictate the number of Hackney 

Carriage licences; 

 issue any number of additional plates as it sees fit, either in one 

allocation or a series of allocations; or 

 introduce a limit on the number of vehicles.  

 

In the interests of the travelling public and having regard to the accepted best 

practice it is the policy of Doncaster Council not to impose quantity restrictions but to 

allow the number of licences issued to maintain a market level. 

 
6.10 Minor Breaches 
 
Doncaster Council has introduced a points-based system of enforcement, as set out 
in Appendix 17, which allows minor breaches to be recorded and considered in context 
while referring those with persistent or serious breaches to the Licensing Committee. 
This has the benefit of consistency in enforcement and makes better use of the 
Licensing Committee and officer’s time. 
 
6.11 Licensed Vehicle Age and Emissions (see Appendix 7 & 10) 
 
Doncaster Council recognises that newly manufactured vehicles are subject to more 
stringent regulations on safety and emissions than some older vehicles. In the 
interests of public safety and protection of the environment, it is strongly 
recommended that: 

Page 76



Page 27 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
 any vehicle being considered for the initial grant of a licence should be less 

than 5 years old, 

 any vehicle being considered for the renewal of a licence should be less than 

10 years old, 

 all vehicles should meet or exceed the Euro 6 emissions standard. 

6.12 Right of Appeal 
 
Any person who is aggrieved by the Council’s refusal to grant, suspension or 
revocation of a licence may appeal to a Magistrates’ court within 21 days of being 
notified in writing of the decision. 
 
6.13 Duration of Vehicle Licence 
 
Every licence granted to any proprietor of a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage vehicle 
shall remain in force for 1 year from the date of issue or such lesser period as may be 
considered appropriate in the circumstances of the case. 
 

  

Page 77



Page 28 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

7. Private Hire Operator’s Licence 
 
The objective of licensing Private Hire vehicle operators is, again, the safety of the 
public, who will be using operators’ premises, vehicles and drivers arranged through 
them.  The Council will grant a Private Hire operator licence provided that the Council 
is satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence.  
 
In order for an operator to prove that they are fit and proper they must provide evidence 
that they: 
 

 are of good repute; 

 are of appropriate financial standing (i.e. have enough money to run the 
business); 

 have adequate arrangements for monitoring drivers, vehicles and the keeping 
of records; 

 have attended a safeguarding awareness session approved by Doncaster 
Council and demonstrated a commitment to cascade this knowledge to all staff 
directly involved with the day to day operation of the business in particular those 
involved in taking bookings and dispatching vehicles and drivers; 

 are capable of ensuring that they, their staff and licensed drivers obey all the 
rules. 

 
All applicants for initial grant of a licence should allow at least four weeks before the 
licence is required to enable the local authority to undertake the necessary vetting 
procedures as detailed in this document.  The process may take considerably longer 
if planning consent is required.  In any case, the licence will not be issued unless 
confirmation of the relevant planning consent can be demonstrated. 
 
Any application for the renewal of a licence which is not made before the expiry of the 
previous licence will be treated as an application for a new licence. 
 
Applications will only be acceptable if they include the following: 
 
1. Application form provided by the Council (which may be in an electronic format), 

completed in its entirety, signed and accompanied by all supporting documents. 

 

2. A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old at the time of 

application, will be required annually for each individual / director / partner 

applying for the operator’s licence. It is recognised that where the applicant is also 

a licensed driver or licensed vehicle proprietor they will already be subject to 

requirements to produce Disclosure Certificates and therefore will not be required 

to produce a further certificate on application or annually following the grant of an 

operator’s licence. However, should the Private Hire Operator cease to be a 

licensed driver and/or licensed vehicle proprietor then a Basic Disclosure 

Certificate will be required immediately.  

 

3. Evidence of having attended Doncaster Councils approved safeguarding 

awareness session, within the previous 12 months (or 36 months for renewals).   

Page 78



Page 29 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
4. Evidence of appropriate Planning Permission or confirmation from the Councils 

Planning department that Planning Permission is not required. 
 

5. A copy of your policy on employing ex-offenders in roles of booking and dispatch 
staff. 
 

6. The appropriate fee 
 
7.1 Criminal Records Checks 
 
Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for Private Hire vehicle 
operator licensing. A Basic Disclosure from the DBS is required for all applicants 
(where the applicant is a partnership or company, a Basic DBS will be required for 
each partner or Director).  
 
Basic Disclosure certificates shall be requires at the time of initial application and 
annually from the grant of a licence. The print date on the certificate shall be less 
than one month prior to the date it is presented to the authority. 
 
Prior to consideration of any new or renewal application, all applicants who have 
previously spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the 
UK are required to provide criminal records information or a ‘certificate of good 
character’ from the appropriate embassy.  For information on applying for overseas 
criminal record information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home 
Office guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants 
 
7.2 Safeguarding Awareness 
 
In order for the Council to establish whether an applicant is fit and proper, the applicant 
must provide evidence of attending a Doncaster Council approved safeguarding advice 
and guidance sessions within the 12 months prior to making an application. The 
session will provide an awareness of: 
 

 Understanding the need to protect vulnerable adults, young people and 

children. 

 Identifying possible victims of abuse and exploitation by understanding 

indicators of risk. 

 Identifying sources of advice and pathways for reporting concerns. 

 Understanding their roles and responsibilities in relation to personal safety and 

security. 

 County lines exploitation. 

 

Licence holders must undertake Doncaster Councils recognised refresher training at 
least once every 36 months.  Applications for renewal will only be considered where 
the applicant can show they have previously attended a Doncaster Council approved 
safeguarding training session within 36 months of the date of expiry of their current 
licence. 

Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


Page 30 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
7.3 Recruitment of Ex-offenders 
 
Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions to their staff but they cannot 
pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. The operator must 
demonstrate to the Licensing Authority that all staff that have contact with the public 
and/or oversee the dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public.  
 
The operator is required to keep a register of all staff that will take bookings or dispatch 
vehicles. The register must evidence that the operator has had sight of a recently 
issued Basic DBS check for all individuals named in the register and that the frequency 
of checks and employment of persons with prior convictions are compatible with the 
operators own policy on employing ex-offenders. 
 
As with the threshold to obtaining a Private Hire operator’s licence, those with a 
conviction for offences provided in Appendix 2, other than those relating to driving, may 
not be suitable to decide who is sent to carry a child or vulnerable adult unaccompanied 
in a car. 
 
7.4 Fees 
 
For licences applied for or renewed prior to 1st April 2017, the fee payable for an 
operator’s licence is based on a sliding scale relative to the number of private hire 
vehicles to be operated.  On receipt of the appropriate fee, the permitted number of 
vehicles can be increased at any time during the period of the licence. 
 
For licences applied for or renewed after 1st April 2017 there is a single 
application/renewal fee and, once granted, there is no limit on the number of vehicles 
that may be operated. 
 
7.5 Licence Duration 
 
Operator licences, once issued, are valid for 5 years or such lesser period as may be 
considered appropriate in the circumstances of the case.  Applications for renewal 
must be received on or before the expiry of the current licence. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, where immigration leave is time-limited to less than the 
statutory length for an operator’s licence, the licence will be issued for a duration which 
does not exceed the applicant’s period of leave. 
 
7.6 Qualifications 
 
The Council strongly encourages licence holders who wish to develop and evidence 
their professional standards through additional external training and obtaining 
qualifications relevant to their role.  
 
7.7 Drivers Dress Code 
 
Doncaster Council is committed to encouraging the professional image of the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire trade, and considers that drivers of licensed vehicles are 
vocational drivers.  The Council considers, therefore, that drivers should conform to a 
minimum standard of dress, as set out in Appendix 4, in order to raise and maintain 

Page 80



Page 31 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

the profile of the licensed trade.  The Authority does not impose such standards by 
way of conditions to any licence. It is expected, however, that such standards will be 
maintained at all times and supported by operators. 
 
7.8 Minor Breaches 
 
Doncaster Council has introduced a points-based system of enforcement, as set out 
in Appendix 17, which allows minor breaches to be recorded and considered in context 
while referring those with persistent or serious breaches to the Licensing Committee. 
This has the benefit of consistency in enforcement and makes better use of the 
Licensing Committee and officer’s time. 
 
7.9 Renewal of Licences  
 
It is the responsibility of the licence holder to ensure that their licence is renewed prior 
to the expiry of their current licence.   
 
A licence may be renewed up to 2 months prior to the expiry date. 
 
Any licence that is not renewed within 1 month following expiry will not be renewed and 
a new application in full will be required.  
 
Where a licence holder will not be available at the time of renewal, for example due to 
an extended holiday, then they may apply in writing to the Licensing Officer, prior to 
the expiry date, explaining their circumstances and request a waiver.  If granted, this 
waiver will allow the licence holder to renew their licence after the expiry date or 
depending on the circumstances, the licence may be renewed early.  
 
In any case, following expiry of a licence, the operator will not be considered licensed 
and will not be permitted to accept Private Hire bookings until such time as the licence 
has been renewed and a new licence has been issued. 
 
The Council will endeavour to issue reminder letters at least four weeks prior to the 
expiry of a licence although there is no statutory duty for the Council to do so and the 
responsibility ultimately lies with the licensee to ensure that complete applications for 
renewal are submitted on time, including Basic DBS Certificates. 
 
Prior to consideration of any new or renewal application, all applicants who have 
previously spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the 
UK are required to provide criminal records information or a ‘certificate of good 
character’ from the appropriate embassy.  For information on applying for overseas 
criminal record information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home 
Office guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants 
 
7.10 Surrender / Suspension / Revocation or Refusal 
 
Where refusal, suspension or revocation of an application/licence is considered, 
subject to the exceptions below, the applicant/licence holder will be invited to attend a 
Taxi Licensing Committee Hearing to discuss the concerns. During this hearing the 
applicant/licence holder or their appointed representative, will be given an opportunity 

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


Page 32 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

to state their case in relation to the issue(s) of concern.  Following this hearing the 
Committee will determine the most appropriate action. 
 
Where the licence holder no longer meets one of the basic requirements (e.g. failure 
to evidence a current Basic Disclosure Certificate), the action of suspension will be 
taken by a duly authorised officer.    
 
Where the authority are notified of a serious incident where the immediate revocation 
of a licence is deemed necessary and the only effective action to prevent the risk of 
harm to the public, the Head of Service, Licensing Manager or, in his absence, the 
Licensing Officer have the authority to approve the immediate revocation of a licence. 
 
In the event of a voluntary surrender of a Private Hire Operators licence before its 
expiry, the authority reserves the right to consider the revocation or suspension of the 
licence where the reason for surrender is that the licence holder can no longer be 
considered as a fit and proper person to hold a licence, for example, where a licence 
holder receives a conviction. 
 
7.11 Right of Appeal 
 
Any person who is aggrieved by the Council’s refusal to grant, suspension or 
revocation of a Private Hire Operators licence may appeal to a Magistrates’ court within 
21 days of being notified in writing of the decision. 
 
7.12 Record Keeping 
 
Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires 
Private Hire vehicle operators to keep records of the particulars of every booking 
invited or accepted, whether it is from the passenger or at the request of another 
operator. See Appendix 15.  
 
7.13 Use of ‘out of town’ Hackney Carriages Acting as Private Hire Vehicles in 

the Doncaster Council District 
 
It is reasonable for the public of Doncaster, when booking a Private Hire vehicle from 
a Doncaster licensed Private Hire Operator, to expect that Doncaster Council have 
determined that the vehicle is suitable and that the driver is a ‘fit and proper’ person. 
 
Where a Private Hire Operator employs the services of an ‘out of town’ Hackney 
Carriage (i.e. one where the vehicle and driver are licensed with another local authority) 
they are, by condition of their licence, required to afford customers the opportunity to 
make an informed decision as to whether they wish to hire that vehicle prior to making 
their booking.  Please see Appendix 15. 
 
7.14 Use of Passenger Carrying Vehicles (PCV) Licensed Drivers 
 
PCV licensed drivers are subject to different checks from Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire vehicle licensed drivers as the work normally undertaken, i.e. driving a 
bus, does not present the same risk to passengers. Members of the public are entitled 
to expect when making a booking with a Private Hire vehicle operator that they will 
receive a licensed Private Hire vehicle and driver. The use of a driver who holds a PCV 
licence and the use of a Public Service Vehicle (PSV) such as a minibus to undertake 

Page 82



Page 33 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

a Private Hire vehicle booking is not be permitted without the informed consent of the 
booker. Please see Appendix 15.  

Page 83



Page 34 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

8. Enforcement 
 

Doncaster Council acknowledges that well-directed enforcement activity benefits not 
only the public but also the responsible people in the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire trade.  It is the policy of Doncaster Council to actively seek out those operators 
who are evading the licensing system, not just licensing and regulating those who 
come forward seeking the appropriate licences. 
 
An integral part of Doncaster Council’s enforcement strategy will be routine spot 
checks which can result in the suspension or, ultimately, revocation of operator, vehicle 
and/or drivers’ licences. 
 
Whilst Doncaster Council is committed to securing compliance with all aspects of 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing, the Council will pay particular attention 
to ensuring licensed vehicles are adequately insured and routinely tested.  
 
Doncaster Council will actively monitor licensed vehicle insurance.  Where evidence of 
continuous insurance is not deposited promptly with the licensing office the vehicle will 
be suspended.  The suspension will not be lifted until evidence of insurance is 
produced. 
 
Where a licensed vehicle is overdue an inspection test or fails to pass the test by the 
due date the plates must be deposited with the licensing authority or the vehicle will be 
suspended. 
 
The Council considers that its enforcement costs should not, wherever possible, be 
borne by compliant responsible licence holders.  Subject to the exception below, the 
Council will charge a non-punitive administration fee for all suspensions to cover the 
cost of administering the suspension and any vehicle examination costs that may be 
incurred.  No administration fee shall be applied where a vehicle is suspended by the 
vehicle examiner arising from a scheduled test. 
 
Where a vehicle licence is suspended for a physical or mechanical defect, e.g. a 
defective tyre or defective meter, the suspension fee must be paid before the vehicle 
will be re-examined.  The suspension, however, will not be lifted until the defect has 
been rectified to the satisfaction of a suitably authorised officer of the Council.  In all 
other cases the suspension fee must be paid at the time the defect is rectified e.g. on 
production of valid insurance. 
 
To ensure that all enforcement action is proportionate and consistent officers will follow 
the Doncaster Council Enforcement Policy. 
 
8.1 Minor Breaches 
 
Doncaster Council has introduced a points-based system of enforcement, as set out 
in Appendix 17, which allows minor breaches to be recorded and considered in context 
while referring those with persistent or serious breaches to the Licensing Committee. 
This has the benefit of consistency in enforcement and makes better use of the 
Licensing Committee and officer’s time. 
 
  

Page 84



Page 35 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

8.2 Joint Authorisation of Enforcement Officers 
 
To mitigate the opportunities for drivers to evade regulation, where the need arises, 
Doncaster Council will jointly authorise officers from other authorities so that 
compliance and enforcement action can be taken against licence holders from outside 
of their area.  
  

Page 85



Page 36 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

9. Technology, Communication and Recognition 
 
Doncaster Council recognises that since this policy was first introduced in 2012 the 
advancement in technology means that face to face and telephone bookings between 
passenger and operator are reducing and being replaced by online ‘app’ based 
systems. The licensing authority do not seek to restrict the use of such systems 
provided that they are compliant with statutory requirements and this policy. 
 
Equally, the trade will recognise that communication between licence holders and the 
licensing authority has also moved on from what was once a face to face reception to 
a more online based service.  
 
To ensure that lines of communication and information sharing remain active, the 
licensing authority have introduced social media accounts (Facebook & Twitter) and a 
‘Driver Bulletin’ which is periodically sent to all licensed drivers who have provided the 
authority with a contact email address. The bulletin contains up to date information, 
guidance, training material and local updates directly to the Doncaster licenced 
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire trade. If you would like to be added to the distribution 
list, please send your request and email address to licensing@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
The licensing authority know that the abhorrent incidents which have been linked to 
the licensed trade in recent years has had an effect on the public perception of taxi 
drivers as a whole. While it remains the case that the primary concern of the licensing 
authority it to protect the public, we also want to share the positive impact that the taxi 
trade has on the people of Doncaster. For example, it has long been the policy that all 
Doncaster Hackney Carriage vehicles are wheelchair accessible to allow wheelchair 
users the ability to travel throughout the borough. 
 
We are encouraging the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trade and the public who 
use their services to share their good news and achievements with the licensing 
authority to help ‘promote the positive’. 
 
If you are a driver and have any positive stories to share about you or your colleague, 
if you have completed relevant training for your role, if you are a passenger and have 
a compliment about the service you received, or if you are an operator and have 
introduced a new safety system or internal policy, then please email 
licensing@doncaster.gov.uk 
 

  

Page 86

mailto:licensing@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@doncaster.gov.uk


Page 37 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 1 
 

Map of Doncaster Borough 
 

Page 87



Page 38 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 2 
 

Relevant Convictions Policy 

 
When submitting an application for a licence you are required to declare any motoring 
offences and any non-motoring convictions or cautions you may have in addition to 
completing a Disclosure & Barring Service check.  The information received will be 
treated in confidence. 
 
The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will not debar you from gaining 
a licence unless the authority considers that one or more convictions render you 
unsuitable. 
 
In making this decision the authority will consider the nature of the offence, how much 
time has passed since the completion of any sentence, how old you were at the time 
of the offence and any other factors which may be relevant.   
 
To facilitate a consistent approach the licensing authority has adopted the 
recommendations on previous convictions contained in the Statutory Taxi & Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards in addition to those contained in the previous policy.  
 
The authority will consider each case on its own merits, and all applicants / licence 
holders will receive fair and impartial consideration (see Appendix 18).  
 
Any applicant refused a licence, or any licence holder who has their licence suspended 
or revoked, on the ground that he/she is not a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold such a 
licence has a right of appeal to a Magistrates’ Court. 
 
If you would like to discuss what effect a conviction might have on your application you 
may request a call from a senior member the Licensing office for advice, in confidence, 
by emailing licensing@doncaster.gov.uk  

  

Page 88

mailto:licensing@doncaster.gov.uk


Page 39 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 

Assessment of Previous Convictions 
 
General Policy 
 
Each case will be decided on its own merits, but the overriding consideration is the 
protection of the public. There may be cases where, although none of the following 
specific sections directly apply, the circumstances of the application lead to the 
conclusion that refusal to grant a licence at the present time would be appropriate. 

 
This policy will also be used to assist the Licensing Committee when considering 
appropriate action; whether in relation to, suspension or revocation of a licence or in 
relation to an application for renewal of a licence, arising out of a driver being convicted 
or cautioned during the period of a licence. 
 
Where a period of time is given below, it should be taken to be a minimum in 
considering whether a licence should be granted or renewed. 
 
Any reference to the term Conviction shall be taken to include Cautions and Fixed 
Penalty Notices. The Council may also take into consideration conduct that has not 
resulted in a criminal conviction. However, it is accepted that the time periods given 
below may be reduced by up to half in these circumstances, if it is determined 
appropriate to do so based on the merits of each case.   
 
Crimes Resulting in Death 
 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the 
death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another 
person they will not be licensed. 
 
Exploitation 
 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or 
has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual 
irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be 
licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, 
psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list. 
 
Offences Involving Violence against the Person 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or 
connected with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 
years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Possession of a Weapon 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon 
related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
  

Page 89



Page 40 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Sexual Offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal 
sexual activity, a licence will not be granted. 
In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant 
who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list. 
 
Dishonesty 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an element 
of the offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Drugs 
 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or 
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed. 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant 
may also have to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own expense to 
demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 
 
Drunkenness 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drunkenness, or related to being drunk, a 
licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the completion 
of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may also have to 
undergo testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not alcohol 
dependant.  
 
Discrimination 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any 
form, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Motoring Convictions 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 
responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the 
granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring convictions may 
indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user and one 
that is suitable to drive professionally. 
 
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee may 
not take their professional responsibilities seriously. However, it is accepted that 
offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic 

Page 90



Page 41 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

offence may not necessitate the revocation of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
vehicle driver licence providing the authority considers that the licensee remains a fit 
and proper person to retain a licence. 
 
Drink Driving / Driving Under the Influence of Drugs 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of 
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the 
influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 
 
Using a Hand-held Device Whilst Driving and Other Major Traffic Offences 
 

Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐
held device whilst driving, or other major traffic offence (e.g. a single offence which 
results in six or more penalty points), a licence will not be granted until at least five 
years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban 
imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
Attempted or, Aiding and Abetting Crime 
 
An applicant with a conviction for an attempted crime or aiding and abetting a crime 
will be treated in the same way under these guidelines as if the applicant had been 
convicted of the substantive crime. 

 
Persistent Criminality 
 
Applicants with more than one conviction, including sentences imposed by the Courts, 
may be considered as having shown a persistent disregard for the law, even if they 
meet the relevant minimum period of time passed for each conviction. In these 
circumstances, a period of five years free of conviction should be added to the 
minimum time period of the most recent conviction before an application can be 
considered. 

 
Immigration Offences 
 
Where a licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted of an 
immigration offence the licence should be revoked immediately. 

 
Other Relevant Offences 
 
Offences under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, any Hackney Carriage Byelaws, Equality Act 
2010 or any other new or existing Act relevant to the Hackney Carriage or Private 
Hire licensed trade (The Acts). 

 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence under ‘the Acts’, a licence will not 
be granted until a period of seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence. 
 
  

Page 91



Page 42 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Previous Non-renewal or Revocation 
 
Any former Private Hire/Hackney Carriage licensee, who has had his/her licence 
renewal refused or licence revoked by any local authority because of misconduct, will 
not be considered eligible for a fresh grant until seven years have elapsed from the 
date of the refusal to renew or revocation of licence or, in the case of an appeal, from 
the date the appeal is dismissed. 

Page 92



Page 43 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 3   
 

Assessing Applicants and Existing Drivers for a 
Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Driver 
Licence in Accordance with C1 Standard. 

 
The following arrangements mean that those with good diabetic control and who have 
no significant complications can be treated as “exceptional cases” and are not 
therefore precluded from being licensed as Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle 
drivers.  The criteria is: 

 
 To have been taking insulin for at least 4 weeks; 

 
 Not to have suffered an episode of hypoglycaemia requiring the assistance of 

another person whilst driving in the last 12 months; 

 
 To attend an examination by a hospital consultant specialising in the treatment 

of diabetes at intervals of not more than 12 months and to provide a report from 

such a consultant in support of the application which confirms a history of 

responsible diabetic control with a minimal risk of incapacity due to 

hypoglycaemia; 

 
 To provide evidence of at least twice daily blood glucose monitoring at times 

when driving either a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle; 

 
 To have no other condition which would render the driver a danger when driving 

a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle; and 

 
 To sign an undertaking to comply with the directions of the doctor(s) treating the 

diabetes and to report immediately to the Doncaster Licensing Authority any 

significant change in condition. 

Page 93



Page 44 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 4 
 

Dress Code for Licensed Drivers 
 

In order to raise and maintain the profile of the licensed trade Doncaster Council is 
committed to encouraging the professional image of the trade and it considers that 
drivers should conform to a minimum standard of dress, as set out below.   
 
Whilst the Authority does not wish to impose such standards by way of conditions to 
any licence it expects, however, that such standards will be maintained at all times. 
 
We would recommend that all clothing, as a minimum should be clean, ironed 
and in good condition. 
 
Tops 
 

 Shirts, blouses, T-shirts or similar, should cover the shoulders and be capable 
of being worn inside trousers, skirts or shorts. 

 Shirts or blouses can be worn with a tie or open-necked. 
 

Trousers/Shorts/Skirts 
 

 Trousers may be either full length or shorts. 

 Drivers should not wear above the knee shorts or skirts. 
 

Footwear 
 

 Footwear should fit around the heel of the foot (safety shoes with protected 
toecaps are recommended, but not required). 
Generally 

Offensive Clothing 
 

 The Council disapproves of all clothing that depicts any national, political, racial, 
cultural, sexual or other potentially offensive language or symbols. 
 

Safety Clothing and Uniform 
 

 The Council supports the use of a uniform for licensed drivers and/or the 
wearing of safety clothing if desired, such as a high visibility waistcoat or 
overcoat. 

 
Examples of Unacceptable Standards of Dress within this Code include: 
 

 Bare chests 

 Vest tops 

 Unclean or damaged clothing or footwear 

 Clothing with offensive words, logos or graphics 

 Sportswear promoting sports teams 

 Clothing with studs or sharp edges 

 Beach type footwear (e.g. Flip flops and mules) 

 Baseball caps or ‘hoodies’ 

 Tracksuits or Shellsuits

Page 94



Page 45 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 5 

 

Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Examination 
Retest Policy 

 
Any vehicle failing its examination test will be required to undertake and pass a further  
examination test before it can be used or, in the case of an existing licensed vehicle, continue 
to be used as a Private Hire/Hackney Carriage vehicle.  This further examination is known 
as a retest. 
 
Subject to the exemptions overleaf, if the vehicle is retested before the end of 10 working 
days following the day of failure then only the retest fee will be charged. 
 
If a vehicle fails on not more than 5 items from the list overleaf and is retested before the 
end of 10 working days following the day of failure then no retest fee will be charged.  (A 
retest for failure of any item(s) not listed below will incur a retest fee.) 
 
Only 1 retest is permissible per test.  Any vehicle failing a retest will be required to 
undergo the full examination test for which the full test fee will be charged.  
  
Any vehicle not presented for retest before the end of 10 working days following the day 
of failure will be required to undergo a full examination test for which the full test fee will 
be charged. 
 
Payable retest appointments require payment of the published fee at the time of booking. 
Appointments can be cancelled by telephone or email up to 48 hours before the 
appointment without incurring any costs. No refunds will be provided for cancellations 
made with less than 48 hours’ notice, failing to attend or any other action on your part 
which prevents the appointment taking place. 
  

Page 95



Page 46 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Retest items  

 

No additional fee for vehicles failing up to 5 items 

 

Anti-lock brake system (ABS) warning Seats 

Body condition (1) Steering wheel 

Tailgate Vehicle Identification Number 

Boot lid Windscreen 

Brake pedal anti-slip devices Windscreen wipers / washers 

Direction indicators / hazard warning Wheels and tyres (including spare) 

Doors Fire Extinguisher 

Exhaust emissions First Aid Kit 

Fuel filler cap Roof sign – through meter (2)  

Headlamp aim Meter & Fare card (2) 

Horn Wheelchair ramps (2) 

Lamps Wheelchair restraints (2) 

Loading door No-smoking signs 

Mirrors Road fund licence 

Rear reflectors Copy of conditions carried in vehicle 

Registration plates Plates & door signs (3)  

Seat belts (but not anchorages) Current MOT certificate 

 
(1) Where the examination of the body is carried out solely for the purpose of 

ascertaining whether there are any sharp edges or projections likely to cause 
injury 

 
(2) Hackney Carriage only 

 
(3) Existing licensed vehicles only 

Page 96



Page 47 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 6 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle  
Specifications 

 
These standards apply to vehicles which are presented to Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council on primary application for licensing as a Hackney Carriage and shall 
continue to apply at all times thereafter. 
 
No licence will be issued in respect of a Hackney Carriage which does not comply with 
ALL of the following requirements. 
 
Type of Vehicle 
 
The vehicle must be a London-style cab or other approved right hand drive vehicle with 
wheelchair accessibility, comply with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and 
comply with any specific safety or environmental conditions required by the Licensing 
Authority.  Any manufacturer of a modified vehicle must be able to demonstrate that they 
have undertaken comprehensive testing to ensure that the vehicle meets relevant 
European Directives and that the original manufacturer has approved the development 
and design of modified vehicles. 
 
Any vehicle not complying with these basic vehicle specifications may be considered on 
an individual basis and may be subject to individual standards and conditions. 
 
Insurance Write Offs 
 
Vehicles that are categorised by insurance companies as a Category A (Scrap) or B 
(Break) salvage will not be accepted as suitable for a licence.   
 
Vehicles that have been categorised by an insurance company as a Category S 
(Structural) or N (Non-structural) salvage will not be considered suitable to be licensed 
unless the vehicle has first undergone a Roadworthy Vehicle Inspection, carried out by a 
suitably competent and independent vehicle engineer assessor, and a report has been 
produced. 
 
Colour 
 
The vehicle must be finished in the original manufacturers colour without alterations 
unless otherwise approved by the Council.  
 
Condition 
 
The vehicle must meet the specification laid down by the Council in respect of 
mechanical, body and interior condition. 
 
Engine 
 
The engine must be of the manufacturers recommended specification and fitment and of 
a type and capacity suitable for use as a Hackney Carriage. 
 
  

Page 97



Page 48 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Body style and Interior Configuration 
 
The body must be of the fixed-head type construction, with a fitted partially glazed 
(acrylic) partition or fitted grill separating the driver from passengers. If a sliding window 
is fitted it must open a maximum of 115 millimetres only. 
 
Passenger Compartment Floor Covering 
 
The floor covering must be of non-slip material which can be easily cleaned. The outer 
edge at the entrance for passengers must be fitted with non-slip treads. 
 
Steps 
 
The top of the tread for any entrance must be level with the floor of the passenger 
compartment and must not exceed 380 millimetres above ground level when the vehicle 
is unladen. 
 
Doors 
 
The doors must be constructed so as to allow an unrestricted opening of at least 750 
millimetres across the doorway.  The minimum angle of the door when fully open must 
be 90 degrees.  The doorway must have a clear height of at least 1200 millimetres. 
 
Sliding doors must have a minimum of 750 millimetres across the doorway. 
 
Grab handles must be fitted at door entrances to assist passengers when entering and 
exiting the vehicle. 
 
Double catches of an approved type must be fitted to all doors. 
 
If the boot lid is hinged at the bottom then a restriction must be fitted to prevent it being 
used as a luggage platform. 
 
Passenger Seats 
 
Passenger seats must measure not less than 400 millimetres per passenger, across the 
width of the front of the seat cushion.  The measurement from the front edge of the seat 
cushion to the rear cushion must be no less than 400 millimetres. 
 
The front, rearward facing, drop down seats must measure at least 400 millimetres across 
the width and at least 355 millimetres from the front to the rear of the seat.  They must 
also be able to be secured when not in use and must not obstruct doorways. 
 
Suitable means must be provided to assist passengers to rise from the rear seat with 
particular attention being paid to the needs of the elderly and disabled. 
 
Seat belts shall be installed for all passengers and maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s specification at the time of manufacture of the vehicle.  
 
A maximum capacity for seating of eight, providing all the seating complies with the basic 
standards and is seating that is provided by the manufacturer at the time of manufacture, 
or is of a type approved by the manufacturer.  
 
  

Page 98



Page 49 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Driver’s Compartment 
 
The driver’s compartment must have adequate room for the driver. 
 
All instruments and controls must be within sight and easy reach of the driver. 
 
The driver’s seat must be adjustable for both height and reach. 
 
The driver must have a means of communication with passengers.  
 
A sun visor that is adjustable by the driver must be fitted. 
 
Wheels and Tyres  
 
The vehicle shall have four road wheels and the vehicle manufacturers recommend size, 
speed rating and weight rating of tyres shall be used.   
 
The vehicle must carry a full size spare tyre or meet the approved manufacturers’ method 
of dealing with punctured tyres. 
 
Interior Lighting 
 
Adequate lighting must be provided for the driver and the passenger. 
 
Separate lighting controls must be provided for both passenger and driver. 
 
An illuminated control switch must be fitted in an approved position in the passenger 
compartment.   
 
Lighting must also be provided at floor level to every passenger door and be activated by 
the opening of those doors. 
 
Heating and Ventilation 
 
An adequate heating and ventilation system must be fitted for the driver and the 
passengers with a means provided for independent control by the driver and passengers. 
 
Luggage 
 
Provision for carrying luggage must be available.   
 
A safe and secure method of retaining luggage must be provided. 
 
Taxi Sign 
 
A taxi sign of an approved pattern must be fitted.  It should be clearly visible both by day 
and by night when the Hackney Carriage is not hired. 
 
Glass and Window Requirements 
 
The windscreen of the vehicle must be of a laminated construction and all other windows 
and glass must be of an approved safety type. 
 
Windows must be provided at the sides and at the rear of the vehicle. 
 

Page 99



Page 50 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Passenger door windows must be capable of being opened easily by passengers.  
 
The control for opening a door window must be easily identified so as not to be mistaken 
for any other control. 
 
Tinted Glass 
 
Glass allowing a minimum of 75% light ingress on front windscreens and not less than 
70% light ingress on all side and rear passenger windows, which does not inhibit the 
ability to see passengers or the driver from the outside of the vehicle, is required. 
 
Vehicles can be presented for an informal test on the tint meter at no cost.  Contact the 
Licensing team to arrange a convenient test time. 
 
Facilities for Wheelchair Passengers 
 
A ramp or ramps must be available at all times for the purpose of access for a wheelchair 
and its occupant into the vehicle.   
 
An adequate locating device must be fitted to ensure that the ramp/ramps will not slip or 
tilt when in use.   
 
Suitable stowage must be provided to enable the ramp/ramps to be stowed in the boot 
or the luggage compartment securely and safely when not in use. 
 
Anchorages of an approved design must be provided for the security of the wheelchair 
and its occupant within the vehicle. Such anchorages must be either floor or chassis 
linked.   
 
Floor linked anchorages must be of a suitable approved design which distributes the load 
evenly over the floor area. 
 
Restraints for a wheelchair and the person seated in a wheelchair must be independent 
of each other. 
 
Safe and secure storage must be provided for wheelchairs when they are not in use, 
when folded or otherwise carried within the passenger compartment. 
 
The passenger compartment should be of a suitable size for the ‘reference wheelchair’ 
as defined in schedule 1 of the Public Service Vehicle Accessibility Regulations 2000. 
 
The reference wheelchair has: (a) total length of 1200mm including extra-long footplates 
(b) total width of 700mm (c) sitting height (from ground to top of head) of 1350mm. 
 
Other Regulations 
 
The vehicle must at all times comply with all aspects of any regulations and legislation 
relating to motor vehicles in force at the time of licensing. 
 
The vehicle must also comply with the Council’s Conditions of Licence.  
  
A Current MOT Certificate must be provided from the date of first registration. 

  

Page 100



Page 51 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 7 
 

DONCASTER METROPOILITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle  
Additional (Recommended) Specifications*(see footnote) 

 
The following standards are not mandatory but are strongly encouraged. 
 
A licence may still be considered in respect of a Hackney Carriage which does not comply 
with all of the following recommendations. 
 
Fixing Brackets 
 
Licensed vehicle identification plates should be fixed to the front and rear exterior of the 
vehicle using brackets designed specifically for this purpose. 
 
Vehicle Age  
 
The vehicle being considered for the initial grant of a licence should be less than 5 years 
old on the day the licence commences. 
 
The vehicle being considered for the renewal of a licence should be less than 10 years 
old on the day the licence commences. 
 
Vehicle Emissions 
 
The vehicle should meet or exceed the Euro 6 emissions standard. 
 
CCTV  
 
CCTV equipment which meets the specifications agreed by the Council (Appendix 20 of 
the Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy) should be fitted in the 
vehicle.  
 
*Please note that on the 25 January 2021 the Licensing Committee determined that 
before 1 April 2022 they would consider and determine if the recommendations 
above should become mandatory requirements. Should the Committee determine 
to make any of the above a mandatory requirement, the licensing authority will 
publish a date by which all licensed vehicles must be compliant. 
 

Page 101



Page 52 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 8 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licence Conditions 

 
These conditions are made under Section 47 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 by Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council with respect to 
Hackney Carriages. 
 
Maintenance and Testing of Vehicle 
 
At all times when in use or available for hire the vehicle and all its fittings shall be kept in 
an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements shall 
be fully complied with.  
 
In addition to the MOT requirements, licensed vehicles are required to be tested at the 
Council’s approved testing centre.  
 
All vehicles will be subject to an annual test and, dependant on the age of the vehicle, 
subject to interim tests as follows: 
 

Age of Vehicle Test Frequency 

Less than 4 years Annually 

Over 4 years but less than 7 years 6 Monthly 

Over 7 years 4 Monthly 

 
Vehicles presented for test must be washed and the engine cleaned, the interior must be 
cleaned and all seats must be maintained, clean and free from rips and tears. 
 
All vehicles must be presented with a view to passing the inspection and test and any 
vehicle that fails to pass the test will be subject to a retest at a retest fee which will be 
reviewed annually alongside the normal fees and charges for such items. 
 
Any vehicle failing a vehicle test will be subject to a retest fee in accordance with the 
Authority’s retest policy. 
 
Any vehicle owner who disputes the result of a test must make it clear before leaving the 
test station that they dispute the result and the report will be examined by a supervisor 
for ratification one way or another. 
 
Vehicles which are subject to individual basic standards may be required to undergo a 
greater or lesser number of tests dependent on the vehicle type and use. 
 
Alteration of Vehicle 
 
At any time while the licence is in force no alteration or change in the specification, 
design, condition or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the 
Council, and the proprietor shall ensure that the vehicle complies with the Council’s 
Specification for Hackney Carriages at all times.  
  
  

Page 102



Page 53 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Fire Extinguisher 
 
A fire extinguisher must be carried at all times and must be of FOC approved 2 kilogram 
dry powder type complying with British Standard 5423 (1987) or 1 kilogram dry powder 
type complying with standards EN3 or BSI M920. 
 
The fire extinguisher must be regularly maintained and annually inspected by a company 
who are registered by the Government Approved British Approvals for Fire Equipment 
(BAFE).  
 
The fire extinguisher must be securely mounted in the cab of the vehicle and must be 
readily visible and available for immediate use in an emergency by the driver. 
 
The fire extinguisher should be used only to aid the evacuation of passengers from the 
vehicle in the event of a fire. 
 
The Registration Number of the vehicle shall be permanently and legibly marked on the 
fire extinguisher. 
 
First Aid Kit 
 
A first aid kit must be carried at all times and must consist of a minimum of the following:- 
 

 10 Plasters individually wrapped 

 1 Sterile Eye Pad 

 1 Triangular Bandage 

 Safety Pins 

 Sterile Dressings individually wrapped:  

o 1 large 

o 3 medium 

o 2 small 

 

No medicines, cream, lotions or tablets of any kind are to be carried. 
 
The First Aid Kit must be permanently and legibly marked with the Registration Number 
of the vehicle it is carried in. 
 
Licensed Vehicle Identification Plates 
 
The current external licence plates, issued by the Council, identifying the vehicle as a 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle must be securely fixed to both the front and the rear of the 
vehicle either to the bodywork or exterior of the vehicle in a prominent and visible position, 
i.e. vehicle bumper, or at a similar level to the vehicles number plate without causing 
interference or obstruction, in brackets or in such a manner as to be easily removed by 
an authorised officer of the Council or a Police Constable. 
 
Under no circumstances should the external plates be positioned inside the vehicle, on 
the exterior of the vehicle windows, in any manner which would obscure them from being 
viewed or in a way which would restrict their removal by an authorised officer of the 
Council or a Police Constable. 
 
The smaller interior plate shall be fixed and displayed within the vehicle in such a position 
as to be clearly visible to passengers at all times. 
 

Page 103



Page 54 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Under no circumstances, throughout the period of the licence, must the identification 
plates to be removed except where the written consent of the Council has been obtained. 
 
All external and interior identification plates are granted on loan by the Council and 
remain the property of the Council. 
  
Table of Fares 
 
A current table of fares must be displayed in a prominent position in the interior of the 
vehicle where it can be viewed by passengers. 
 
Signs, Notices etc. 
 
No signs, notices, advertisements, plates, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, 
emblems or devices whatsoever shall be displayed on, in or from the vehicle except 
where they are required by legislation or where they are required or allowed by these 
conditions. 
 
This condition shall not apply to any indication on a taximeter, nor shall it apply to a sign 
which:- 
 

 is displayed in, on or from the vehicle while it is stationary; and 

 which contains only the name and address of the operator of the vehicle (or his 

business name and address) and the name of a passenger or passengers to be 

carried in the vehicle; and 

 is displayed following a prior arrangement made to carry the passenger or 

passengers named in the sign. 

The proprietor shall ensure that any sign or notice relating to Hackney Carriages which 
may be required from time to time by the Council shall be fixed and maintained in the 
vehicle in a conspicuous position as directed by the Council. 
 
Before displaying the signs the proprietor shall notify the Council’s Licensing Officer of 
the precise wording he/she wishes to use and shall display only that wording which has 
been approved by the Council. 
 
Multimedia advertising will be considered but must be approved by the Council before 
being installed in any vehicle. 
 
Any advertisements requested by the proprietor will be considered by the Council and if 
approved can be displayed. 
 
No approval will be given for any sign, notice, etc. which is intended to cover all or part 
of any window. 
 
The proprietor shall ensure that any notice issued by the Council, stating the Plate 
Number, the vehicle registration number and the date on which re-inspection of the 
vehicle is due, is at all times, fixed to the front windscreen of the vehicle in such a position 
so as to be readily and clearly visible and readable from the outside of the vehicle.  
 
Insurance 
 
A valid insurance policy shall be in force for the vehicle. 
 

Page 104



Page 55 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

At or before the time when a cover note or certificate of insurance expires or is cancelled, 
evidence of the continued validity of appropriate insurance cover for the vehicle shall be 
produced to the Licensing Office. 
 
Failure to produce such evidence shall result in the vehicle being immediately liable to 
suspension on the date of expiry shown on the cover note or certificate of insurance 
previously produced to the Licensing Office. 
 
Where vehicle insurance documents are produced which do not specify the registration 
number of the vehicle or vehicles covered by the policy, it will be necessary to produce 
an endorsement to the policy which specifies the registration number of the vehicles 
covered by that policy. 
 
Failure to produce such an endorsement shall mean that the vehicle will be immediately 
liable to suspension on the date of expiry shown on the cover note or certificate of 
insurance. 
 
Only a Hackney Carriage driver licensed by Doncaster Council, with appropriate 
insurance, is authorised to drive a Hackney Carriage vehicle licensed by Doncaster 
Council, unless the vehicle is under test by a mechanic or subject to test. 
 
Taximeter  
 
A calendar controlled taximeter must be fitted and operate correctly at all times.  
 
The meter must be sealed by the relevant approved body whenever a fare change or 
alteration is made.  
 
The seal must remain intact whenever the vehicle is in use as a licensed vehicle.  
 
The taximeter must be checked at least once per year by a competent person.   
 
All meters fitted to Hackney Carriages must be British Standard Approved or an 
equivalent European Standard Approved.  
 
The taximeter must be operated at all times when carrying a fare. 
 
Taxi Sign and Roof Light Wiring 
 
An illuminated taxi sign of a type approved by the Council shall be fitted to the Hackney 
Carriage roof. 
 
The taxi sign shall be wired so that the light is extinguished when the taximeter in the 
vehicle is brought into operation and shall remain extinguished throughout the whole of 
the time the taximeter is in operation. 
 
Hackney Carriage Drivers’ Licence 
 
Before the proprietor of a Hackney Carriage allows or employs any licensed person to 
drive the vehicle he shall ensure that the licence of that driver is delivered to him.   
 
The proprietor shall then retain the licence in his possession until such a time as the 
driver ceases to be allowed or employed to drive the vehicle. 
 
  

Page 105



Page 56 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Change of Address, Telephone Number or Email Address 
 
The proprietor shall notify the Council, in writing, including by email, of any change of his 
address, telephone number or email address during the period of the licence.   
 
Notice of the change shall be given within seven days of it taking place. 
 
Convictions 
 
A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old, will be required annually 
for each individual / director / partner applying for a vehicle proprietor’s licence. It is 
recognised that where the applicant is also a licensed driver or operator they will already 
be subject to requirements to produce Disclosure Certificates and therefore will not be 
required to produce a further certificate when applying to licence a vehicle. However, 
should the vehicle licence holder cease to be a licensed driver and/or operator then a 
Basic Disclosure Certificate will be required immediately. 
 
The proprietor shall, within 48 hours, disclose to the Council, in writing, including by email, 
details of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any offence, (where the 
proprietor is a company or partnership, this shall include any director or partner) during 
the period of the licence. 
 
CB Radio, Mobile Phones or other Communication Devices 
 
The use or operation of any Citizen Band Radio, Mobile Phone or other Communication 
Device in the vehicle (other than one which allows communication between the 
passenger and driver) is prohibited at all times that the vehicle is hired.   
 
The use of such equipment in the case of an emergency shall not constitute a breach of 
this condition. 
 
Television Receiving Apparatus or Monitors (screens) 
 
No person shall install or use television receiving apparatus or monitors in a motor vehicle 
if the screen is partly or fully visible - directly or by reflection - to the driver while in the 
driving seat or if the controls - other than the sound volume control and the main switch 
- are within reach of the driver while in the driving seat. 
 
No person shall use television receiving apparatus, monitor or similar in a motor vehicle 
under circumstances or in a position where it might cause distraction to the driver of any 
other vehicle on the road. 
 
CCTV  
 
CCTV equipment fitted to a licensed vehicle must meet the specifications agreed by the 
Council (Appendix 20 of the Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy). 
 
Damage to Vehicle 
 
Any damage to a Hackney Carriage which affects its safety, performance or appearance 
must be reported by the proprietor to the Council as soon as reasonably practicable and 
in any case within 72 hours of the occurrence of the damage. 
 

Page 106



Page 57 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

A Hackney Carriage shall not be used to carry passengers until it has been competently 
repaired and/or assessed by a competent person and declared to be safe and compliant 
with all conditions and evidence of this assurance has been provided to the Council and 
the Council are satisfied. 
 
Prohibition of Passengers in the Driver’s Compartment 
 
Fare-paying passengers must only be carried in the passenger compartment.   
 
Under no circumstance are fare-paying passengers permitted to be carried in the driver’s 
compartment, (the area containing the driver’s seat and surrounded by a fixed partition) 
even if passenger seats are fitted. 
  
Regulations 
 
All relevant Regulations made by the Department for Transport (or equivalent) must be 
complied with at all times. 
 
Suspension of Vehicle Licence 
 
Where a vehicle licence is suspended, in addition to remedying the matters giving rise to 
the suspension, the proprietor of the Hackney Carriage vehicle is required to pay the 
Council’s published suspension administration fee. 
 
Use of Non-Standard Spare Wheels, Emergency Repair kits etc. 
 
A temporary use spare wheel, run flat tyres (when punctured) or puncture repair kit must 
only be used to enable the vehicle to be driven to a place of repair.   
 
Where use is required whilst carrying a fare the journey may be allowed to continue 
provided that the driver complies fully with the manufacturers’ operating restrictions.   
 
Any such non-standard wheel or tyre must be replaced before taking another fare. 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



Page 58 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 9 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Private Hire Vehicle 
Specifications 

 
These standards apply to vehicles which are presented to Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council on primary application for licensing as a Private Hire Vehicle and shall 
continue to apply at all times thereafter. 
 
No licence will be issued in respect of a Private Hire Vehicle which does not comply with 
ALL of the following requirements.  
 
Suitability of Vehicle 
 
The vehicle must be of a size, type and design suitable for use as a Private Hire vehicle 
and the make or design of the vehicle shall not be such as to be likely to lead any person 
to believe that it is a Hackney Carriage licensed by Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
Any vehicle not complying with these basic vehicle specifications may be considered on 
an individual basis and may be subject to individual standards and conditions. 
 
Insurance Write Offs 
 
Vehicles that are categorised by insurance companies as a Category A (Scrap) or B 
(Break) salvage will not be accepted as suitable for a licence.   
 
Vehicles that have been categorised by an insurance company as a Category S 
(Structural) or N (Non-structural) salvage will not be considered suitable to be licensed 
unless the vehicle has first undergone a Roadworthy Vehicle Inspection, carried out by a 
suitably competent and independent vehicle engineer assessor, and a report has been 
produced. 
 
Colour 
 
The vehicle must be finished in the original manufacturers colour without alterations 
unless otherwise approved by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Condition 
 
The vehicle must meet the specification laid down by the Council in respect of 
mechanical, body and interior condition.  
 
The bodywork shall have no significant signs of corrosion. 
 
Body Style and Ride Height 
 
The vehicle may be a saloon, estate, hatchback, minibus or other multi-purpose vehicle 
(MPV). 
 

Page 108



Page 59 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Access to the vehicle shall not be more than 460 millimetres from the ground level.  
Where access exceeds this height adequate steps must be provided. 
 
Wheels and Tyres  
 
The vehicle shall have four road wheels and must carry a full size spare tyre or meet the 
approved manufacturers’ method of dealing with punctured tyres. 
 
Drive 
 
The vehicle must be a right hand drive vehicle. 
 
Doors 
 
The vehicle shall have a least four doors, 2 front and 2 rear.   
 
Except in the case of a specially adapted vehicle e.g. wheelchair accessible vehicle or 
minibus, a rear opening hatchback door will not generally be considered or counted as a 
door for means of entry or egress 
 
Vehicles shall have front driver and front passenger doors and two unrestricted, outward 
opening or sliding entry/exit doors for the rear passengers one of which must be on the 
near side. 
 
Each passenger must have two means of exit from the vehicle  
 
All exit and emergency doors must open from the interior. 
 
Seating Capacity 
 
The vehicle shall seat not more than eight passengers.   
 
The rearmost row of seats and seats capable of being the rearmost seats e.g. fold away 
seats in some MPVs must be forward facing. 
 
The seating capacity will be determined by the Council based upon the manufacturer’s 
specification as stated on the vehicle registration document, the orientation of the seating 
and the dimensions of the seating. 
 
Each 400 millimetres of seat base shall constitute a seat, (unless it is impossible for a 
person to sit there, e.g. due to no leg room). All measurements are taken across the front 
of the seat cushion. 
 
The seating must be capable of being configured to achieve 600 millimetres minimum 
leg room available to any passenger.  The measurement will be taken from the base of 
the seat to the rear of the seat in front.  Where there is no seat in front the measurement 
will be taken from the base of the seat to the nearest obstruction in front. 
 
All seats within the vehicle, front and rear, must be fitted with working seat belts. 
 
Tints to Windows 
 
All tinted and anti-glare windows must comply with the relevant Road Traffic Act and / or 
Construction and Use Regulations requirements. 
 

Page 109



Page 60 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Only tinted and anti-glare windows fitted by or equivalent to those fitted by the vehicle’s 
manufacturer are acceptable. 
 
Luggage Space 
 
Provision for carrying luggage must be available.   
 
A safe and secure method of retaining luggage must be provided. 
 
Regulations 
 
The vehicle must at all times comply with all aspects of any Regulations and Acts relating 
to motor vehicles in force at the time of licensing and where required must have a current 
MOT Certificate.   
 
The vehicle must also comply with the Council’s Conditions of Licence. 
 
Partition Screens 
 
The professional installation of a partition screen which separates the driver from the 
passengers is permitted subject to the following requirements: 
 

 The screen has undergone a complete risk assessment to ensure all airbags can 
deploy as per manufacturer’s integral safety systems. 

 

 The screen will not be screwed into any metal or body of the vehicle. There is no 
alteration to the vehicle which can be viewed as a modification by an insurer. 

 

 The screen has been tested for durability and flexibility to ensure it’s not easily 
cracked nor shattered in the event of a road traffic accident. 
 

 The screen is transparent, both driver and passenger are able to see each other 
clearly. 

 

 Due diligence paperwork will be provided by the installer which shows the 
completion of installation. This should include a risk assessment and a diagram 
showing that no areas of the vehicle are affected by the screen. 

 
  

Page 110



Page 61 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 10 
 

DONCASTER METROPOILITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Private Hire Vehicle  
Additional (Recommended) Specifications (see footnote) 

 
The following standards are not mandatory but are strongly encouraged. 
 
A licence may still be considered in respect of a Private Hire vehicle which does not 
comply with all of the following recommendations. 
 
Semi-permanent Door Signs 
 
Approved door signs should be attached to licensed Private Hire vehicles using a non-
damaging adhesive and shall be constructed of a material which prevents their removal 
without tearing. 
 
Fixing Brackets 
 
Licensed vehicle identification plates should be fixed to the front and rear exterior of the 
vehicle using brackets designed specifically for this purpose. 
 
Vehicle Age*  
 
The vehicle being considered for the initial grant of a licence should be less than 5 years 
old on the day the licence commences. 
 
The vehicle being considered for the renewal of a licence should be less than 10 years 
old on the day the licence commences. 
 
Vehicle Emissions* 
 
The vehicle should meet or exceed the Euro 6 emissions standard. 
 
CCTV*  
 
CCTV equipment which meets the specifications agreed by the Council (Appendix 20 of 
the Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy) should be fitted in the 
vehicle.  
 
Wheelchair Passengers 
 
Vehicles of a type which are wheelchair accessible are welcomed by the Council. For the 
safety of wheelchair passengers, the following specifications are recommend: 
 
A ramp or ramps must be available at all times for the purpose of access for a wheelchair 
and its occupant into the vehicle.   
 
An adequate locating device must be fitted to ensure that the ramp/ramps will not slip or 
tilt when in use.   
 
Suitable stowage must be provided to enable the ramp/ramps to be stowed in the boot 
or the luggage compartment securely and safely when not in use. 

Page 111



Page 62 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
Anchorages of an approved design must be provided for the security of the wheelchair 
and its occupant within the vehicle. Such anchorages must be either floor or chassis 
linked.   
 
Floor linked anchorages must be of a suitable approved design which distributes the load 
evenly over the floor area. 
 
Restraints for a wheelchair and the person seated in a wheelchair must be independent 
of each other. 
 
Safe and secure storage must be provided for wheelchairs when they are not in use, 
when folded or otherwise carried within the passenger compartment. 
 
The passenger compartment should be of a suitable size for the ‘reference wheelchair’ 
as defined in schedule 1 of the Public Service Vehicle Accessibility Regulations 2000. 
 
The reference wheelchair has: (a) total length of 1200mm including extra-long footplates 
(b) total width of 700mm (c) sitting height (from ground to top of head) of 1350mm. 
 
 
*Please note that on the 25 January 2021 the Licensing Committee determined that 
before 1 April 2022 they would consider and determine if the recommendations 
identified above (*) should become mandatory requirements. Should the 
Committee determine to make any of the above a mandatory requirement, the 
licensing authority will publish a date by which all licensed vehicles must be 
compliant. 
 
 

Page 112



Page 63 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 11 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Private Hire Vehicle 
Licence Conditions 

 
These conditions are made under Section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 by Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council with respect to all 
Private Hire Vehicles. 
 
Maintenance and Testing of Vehicle 
 
At all times, when in use or available for hire, the vehicle and all its fittings shall be kept 
in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements shall 
be fully complied with, including in particular those contained in Motor Vehicles 
(Construction and Use) Regulations. 
 
In addition to the MOT requirements, licensed vehicles are required to be tested at the 
Council’s approved testing centre.   
 
All vehicles will be subject to an annual test and, dependant on the age of the vehicle, 
subject to interim tests as follows: 
 

Age of Vehicle Test Frequency 

Less than 4 years Annually 

Over 4 years but less than 7 years 6 Monthly 

Over 7 years 4 Monthly 

 
Vehicles presented for test must be washed and the engine cleaned, the interior must be 
cleaned and all seats must be maintained, clean and free from rips and tears. 
 
All vehicles must be presented with a view to passing the inspection and test and any 
vehicle that fails to pass the test will be subject to a retest at a retest fee which will be 
reviewed annually alongside the normal fees and charges for such items. 
 
Any vehicle failing a vehicle test will be subject to a retest fee in accordance with the 
Authority’s retest policy. 
 
Any vehicle owner who disputes the result of a test must make it clear before leaving the 
test station that they dispute the result and the report will be examined by a supervisor 
for ratification one way or another. 
 
Vehicles which are subject to individual basic standards may be required to undergo a 
greater or lesser number of tests dependent on the vehicle type and use.  
 
Alteration of Vehicle 
 
At any time whilst the licence is in force, no alteration or change in the specification, 
design, condition or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the 
Licensing Office, and the proprietor shall ensure that the vehicle complies with the 
Council’s relevant Private Hire Vehicle Specifications at all times. 
 
  

Page 113



Page 64 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Fire Extinguisher 
 
A fire extinguisher must be carried at all times and must be of FOC approved 2 kilogram 
dry powder type complying with British Standard 5423 (1987) or 1 kilogram dry powder 
type complying with standards EN3 or BSI M920. 
 
The fire extinguisher must be regularly maintained and annually inspected by a company 
who are registered by the Government Approved British Approvals for Fire Equipment 
(BAFE).   
 
The fire extinguisher must be securely mounted in the cab of the vehicle and must be 
readily visible and available for immediate use in an emergency by the driver. 
 
The fire extinguisher should be used only to aid the evacuation of passengers from the 
vehicle in the event of a fire. 
 
The Registration Number of the vehicle shall be permanently and legibly marked on the 
extinguisher. 
 
First Aid Kit 
 
A first aid kit must be carried at all times and must consist of a minimum of the following:- 
 

 10 Plasters individually wrapped 

 1 Sterile Eye Pad 

 1 Triangular Bandage 

 Safety Pins 

 Sterile Dressings individually wrapped: 

o 1 large 

o 3 medium 

o 2 small 

 

No medicines, cream, lotions or tablets of any kind are to be carried. 
 
The First Aid Kit must be permanently and legibly marked with the Registration Number 
of the vehicle it is carried in. 
 
Licensed Vehicle Identification Plates 
 
The current external licence plates, issued by the Council, identifying the vehicle as a 
Private Hire Vehicle must be securely fixed to both the front and the rear of the vehicle 
either to the bodywork or exterior of the vehicle in a prominent and visible position, i.e. 
the vehicle bumper, or at a similar level to the vehicles number plate without causing 
interference or obstruction, in brackets or in such a manner as to be easily removed by 
an authorised officer of the Council or a Police Constable. 
 
Under no circumstances should the external plates be positioned inside the vehicle, on 
the exterior of the vehicle windows, in any manner which would obscure them from being 
viewed or in a way which would restrict their removal by an authorised officer of the 
Council or a Police Constable. 
 
The smaller interior plate shall be fixed and displayed within the vehicle in such a position 
as to be clearly visible to passengers at all times. 
 

Page 114



Page 65 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Under no circumstances, throughout the period of the licence, must the identification 
plates to be removed except where the written consent of the Council has been obtained. 
 
All external and interior identification plates are granted on loan by the Council and 
remain the property of the Council. 
 
Fares / Table of Fares 
 
A table of fares may be displayed for passenger information within the vehicle provided 
it is in a form and type of print previously submitted to and approved by the Council. 
 
In the absence of a table of fares, a notice should be displayed for the benefit of 
passengers to the effect that the fare should be agreed between passenger(s) and 
operator, and confirmed with the driver before commencement of the journey.  
 
Taximeter 
 
If fitted, a calendar controlled taximeter must be fitted and operate correctly at all times. 
 
The meter must be sealed by the relevant approved body whenever a fare change or 
alteration is made.  
 
The seal must remain intact whenever the vehicle is in use as a licensed vehicle. 
 
The taximeter must be checked at least once per year by a competent person. 
 
All meters fitted to Private Hire vehicles must be British Standard Approved or an 
equivalent European Standard Approved. 
 
Damage to Vehicle 
 
Any damage to a Private Hire vehicle which affects its safety, performance or appearance 
must be reported by the proprietor to the Council as soon as reasonably practicable and 
in any case within 72 hours of the occurrence of the damage. 
 
A Private Hire Vehicle shall not be used to carry passengers until it has been competently 
repaired and/or assessed by a competent person and declared to be safe and compliant 
with all conditions and evidence of this assurance has been provided to the Council and 
the Council are satisfied. 
 
Signs, Notices, Distinguishing Marks etc. 
  
The use of any exterior distinguishing marks, letters, writing, numbers or any sign or 
device, notices, advertisements, plates, whether illuminated or not, is prohibited in 
respect of any Private Hire vehicle, except where they are required by legislation or where 
they are required or allowed by these conditions 
 
This condition shall not apply to a taximeter or a sign which:- 
 

 is displayed in, on or from the vehicle while it is stationary; and 

 which contains only the name and address of the operator of the vehicle (or his 

business name and address) and the name of a passenger or passengers to be 

carried in the vehicle; and 

Page 115



Page 66 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 is displayed following a prior arrangement made to carry the passenger or 

passengers named in the sign. 

 
The proprietor shall ensure that a sign approved by the Council and bearing the words 
‘Doncaster Private Hire Vehicle’, the name and telephone number of the Operator and 
‘Illegal hire if not pre-booked’ is affixed to the near and off side doors of the vehicle at all 
times. 
 
The overall size of the sign shall be 600 millimetres x 300 millimetres.   
 
The proportion of the Council’s mandatory wording to the Operator’s wording shall be 
50:50.   
 
The heading should be 100 millimetres in height and the bottom panel 50 millimetres in 
height.   
 
The size of the lettering shall be uniform and must be black on a yellow background for 
the heading and bottom panel and by approval with the Licensing Office for the middle 
panel. 
 
This requirement for door signage shall not apply to Private Hire limousines and other 
novelty vehicles. 
 
The proprietor shall ensure that any sign or notice relating to Private Hire vehicles which 
may be required from time to time by the Council shall be fixed and maintained in the 
vehicle in a conspicuous position as directed by the Council. 
 
Any advertisements requested by the proprietor will be considered by the Council, and if 
approved can be displayed, but shall be limited to where they advertise: 
 

 that the vehicle is a Private Hire vehicle  

 details of the Private Hire Operator  

 that the vehicle is wheelchair accessible  

 
No approval will be given for any sign, notice, etc. which is intended to cover all or part 
of any window. 
 
Under no circumstances shall roof signs or the words ‘taxi’ or ‘taxis’ be allowed. 
 
The proprietor shall ensure that any notice issued by the Council, stating the Private Hire 
vehicle Plate Number, the vehicle registration number and the date on which re-
inspection of the vehicle is due, is at all times, fixed to the front windscreen of the vehicle 
in such a position so as to be readily and clearly visible and readable from the outside of 
the vehicle. 
  
Insurance 
 
A valid insurance policy shall be in force for the vehicle. 
 
At or before the time when a cover note or certificate of insurance expires or is cancelled, 
evidence of the continued validity of appropriate insurance cover for the vehicle shall be 
produced to the Licensing Office. 
 

Page 116



Page 67 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Failure to produce such evidence shall result in the vehicle being immediately liable to 
suspension on the date of expiry shown on the cover note or certificate of insurance 
previously produced to the Licensing Office. 
 
Where vehicle insurance documents are produced which do not specify the registration 
number of the vehicle or vehicles covered by the policy, it will be necessary to produce 
an endorsement to the policy which specifies the registration number of the vehicles 
covered by that policy. 
 
Failure to produce such an endorsement shall mean that the vehicle will be immediately 
liable to suspension on the date of expiry shown on the cover note or certificate of 
insurance. 
 
Only a driver licensed as a Private Hire driver with Doncaster Council, with appropriate 
insurance, is authorised to drive a Private Hire vehicle licensed by Doncaster Council. 
 
Private Hire Drivers’ Licence 
 
If the proprietor allows or employs any person to drive the vehicle as a Private Hire vehicle 
they must ensure that, before that person commences to drive the vehicle, a copy of his 
Private Hire driver’s licence is delivered to the proprietor.   
 
The proprietor shall then retain this in his possession until such a time as the driver 
ceases to be allowed or employed to drive that vehicle or any other vehicle belonging to 
the proprietor. 
 
Where the proprietor is not also the operator of the vehicle, the proprietor shall ensure 
that a copy of the driver’s Private Hire licence is also passed to the operator. 
 
Change of Address, Telephone Number or Email Address 
 
The proprietor shall notify the Council, in writing, including by email, of any change of his 
address, telephone number or email address during the period of the licence.   
 
Notice of the change shall be given within seven days of it taking place. 
 
Television Receiving Apparatus or Monitors (screens) 
 
No person shall install or use television receiving apparatus or monitors in a motor vehicle 
if the screen is partly or fully visible - directly or by reflection - to the driver while in the 
driving seat or if the controls - other than the sound volume control and the main switch 
- are within reach of the driver while in the driving seat. 
 
No person shall use television receiving apparatus, monitor or similar in a motor vehicle 
under circumstances or in a position where it might cause distraction to the driver of any 
other vehicle on the road. 
 
Luggage 
 
Any passenger luggage must be carried under cover. 
 
Roof racks are permitted but if personal luggage is carried on the outside of the vehicle 
then a suitable cover must be provided. 
  

Page 117



Page 68 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

No luggage may be carried in aisles, gangways or in such a manner as to obstruct 
entrance/exit routes. 
 
Luggage must be carried in a secure manner and be prevented from moving. 
 
The luggage compartment shall be kept empty except for the luggage of passengers, the 
spare wheel (where applicable) and essential tools. 
 
Use of Non-Standard Spare Wheels, Emergency Repair kits etc. 
 
A temporary use spare wheel, run flat tyres (when punctured) or puncture repair kit must 
only be used to enable the vehicle to be driven to a place of repair.   
 
Where use is required whilst carrying a fare the journey may be allowed to continue 
provided that the driver complies fully with the manufacturers’ operating restrictions.   
 
Any such non-standard wheel or tyre must be replaced before taking another fare. 
 
CCTV  
 
CCTV equipment fitted to a licensed vehicle must meet the specifications agreed by the 
Council (Appendix 20 of the Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy) 
 
Regulations 
 
All Regulations made by the Department of Transport must be complied with at all times. 
 
CB Radio, Mobile Phones or other Communication Devices 
 
The use or operation of any Citizen Band Radio, Mobile Phone or other Communication 
Device in the vehicle (other than one which allows communication between the 
passenger and driver) is prohibited at all times when carrying a fare paying passenger.   
 
The use of such equipment in the case of an emergency shall not constitute a breach of 
this condition. 
 
Convictions 
 
A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old, will be required annually 
for each individual / director / partner applying for a vehicle proprietor’s licence. It is 
recognised that where the applicant is also a licensed driver or operator they will already 
be subject to requirements to produce Disclosure Certificates and therefore will not be 
required to produce a further certificate when applying to licence a vehicle. However, 
should the vehicle licence holder cease to be a licensed driver and/or operator then a 
Basic Disclosure Certificate will be required immediately. 
 
The proprietor shall, within 48 hours, disclose to the Council, in writing, including by email, 
details of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any offence, (where the 
proprietor is a company or partnership, this shall include any director or partner) during 
the period of the licence. 
 
  

Page 118



Page 69 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Suspension of Vehicle Licence 
 
Where a vehicle licence is suspended, in addition to remedying the matters giving rise to 
the suspension, the proprietor of the Private Hire vehicle is required to pay the Council’s 
published suspension administration fee. 
 

Page 119



Page 70 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 12 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Limousine Private Hire Vehicle 
Specifications 

 
General Notes 
 

The licensing of Limousines will be dependent upon the Council being satisfied that the 
vehicle is suitable in size type and design for use as a Private Hire vehicle.   
 
The prime consideration of the Council is the safety and comfort of the travelling public. 
 
A limousine is a motor vehicle that has been lengthened by the insertion of an additional 
body section and modified by a coachbuilder to contain luxury facilities and fixtures. 
 
These standards apply to vehicles which are presented to Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council on primary application for licensing as a Private Hire Limousine and 
shall continue to apply at all times thereafter. 
 
No licence will be issued in respect of a Private Hire Limousine which does not comply 
with ALL of the following requirements. 
 
Suitability of Vehicle 
 
Vehicles may be left or right hand drive, providing that they have a vehicle registration 
document issued by the DVLA. 
 
The vehicle must be of a size, type and design suitable for use as a Limousine Private 
Hire vehicle and the make or design of the vehicle shall not be such as to be likely to lead 
any person to believe that it is a Hackney Carriage licensed by Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.   
 
A Limousine Private Hire Vehicle is a vehicle used only for bookings which are made in 
advance. 

 
All Limousine Private Hire Vehicles shall be converted motor vehicles holding a vehicle 
registration document issued by the DVLA. 

 
Any vehicle not complying with these basic vehicle specifications may be considered on 
an individual basis and may be subject to individual standards and conditions. 

 
Colour 
 
The vehicle must be finished in the original manufacturers colour without alterations 
unless otherwise approved by the Council.  
 
Condition 
 
The vehicle must meet the specification laid down by the Council in respect of 
mechanical, body and interior condition. 

 

Page 120



Page 71 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Damage to Vehicle 
 
Any damage to a vehicle which affects its safety, performance or appearance must be 
reported by the proprietor to the Council in writing, including by email, as soon as 
reasonably practicable and in any case within 72 hours of the occurrence of the damage. 
 
Engine 
 
The engine must be of the manufacturers recommended specification and fitment and of 
a type and capacity suitable for use as a Private Hire limousine. 
 
Wheels 
 
The vehicle shall have a minimum of four road wheels. 
 
Drive 
 
The vehicle may be a right or left hand drive. 
 
Doors and Windows 
 
The vehicle shall have at least four doors, of which two must be rear doors.   

 
It is recognised that the privacy provided by tinted glass in the passenger compartment 
is a central characteristic of a limousine.   
 
The driver cockpit must comply with Construction and Use Regulations i.e. the front 
window screen must allow at least 75% light to be transmitted and the front side windows 
must allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted through them. 
 
Seating Capacity 
 
Stretched large limousines which clearly seat more than eight passengers will not be 
licensed as a Private Hire Limousine because they are outside the licensing regime for 
Private Hire vehicles.  
 
In some circumstances a vehicle with space for more than eight passengers can be 
licensed as a Private Hire Limousine where the precise number of passenger seats is 
hard to determine. In these circumstances, the authority will consider the case on its 
merits in deciding whether to license the vehicle under the strict condition that the vehicle 
will not be used to carry more than eight passengers. 
 
No passengers will be allowed to travel within the front seat of the vehicle. 
 
The seats shall be covered with an appropriate material and must be properly 
upholstered and in good condition, free from rips, tears and holes. 
 
Alcoholic Drinks 
 
Under the Licensing Act 2003 alcohol may not be sold on a moving vehicle and a vehicle 
may not be licensed for this purpose. 
 
  

Page 121



Page 72 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

In-Car Entertainment 
 
Any entertainment that involves striptease, lap dancing, or similar performances, must 
not take place inside a licensed vehicle.   
 
Any video or DVD’s shown must be certified by the British Board of Film Classification 
and should only be viewed by the appropriate age group.  
 
R18 videos and DVDs must not be shown within a licensed vehicle. 
 
Luggage 
 
Provision for carrying luggage must be available.   
 
A safe and secure method of retaining luggage must be provided 

 
Regulations 

 
The vehicle must at all times comply with all aspects of any regulations and acts relating 
to motor vehicles in force at the time of licensing and where required must have a current 
MOT Certificate.   
 
The vehicle must also comply with the Council’s Conditions of Licence which may include 
all or parts of the Private Hire vehicle conditions as will be determined. 
 
Convictions 
 
A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old, will be required annually 
for each individual / director / partner applying for a vehicle proprietor’s licence. It is 
recognised that where the applicant is also a licensed driver or operator they will already 
be subject to requirements to produce Disclosure Certificates and therefore will not be 
required to produce a further certificate when applying to licence a vehicle. However, 
should the vehicle licence holder cease to be a licensed driver and/or operator then a 
Basic Disclosure Certificate will be required immediately. 
 
The proprietor shall, within 48 hours, disclose to the Council, in writing, including by email, 
details of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any offence, (where the 
proprietor is a company or partnership, this shall include any director or partner) during 
the period of the licence. 
 
CCTV  
 
CCTV equipment fitted to a licensed vehicle must meet the specifications agreed by the 
Council (Appendix 20 of the Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy). 
 
Driver 
 
The driver shall hold a full driving licence suitable for this type of vehicle in addition to the 
normal Private Hire driver’s licence issued by the Council. 
 

Page 122



Page 73 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 13 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Fire Engine Private Hire Vehicle 
Basic Standards 

 
General Notes 
 
The licensing of Fire Engines will be dependent upon the Council being satisfied that the 
vehicle is suitable in size type and design for use as a Private Hire vehicle.   
 
The prime consideration of the Council is the safety and comfort of the travelling public. 
 
These standards apply to Fire Engines, which are presented to Doncaster Council on 
primary application for licensing as a Private Hire vehicle and shall continue to apply at 
all times thereafter. 
 
No licence will be issued in respect of a Fire Engine, which does not comply with ALL of 
the following requirements. 
 
Suitability of Vehicle 
 
Fire Engines may be left or right hand drive, providing that they have a vehicle registration 
document issued by the DVLA. 
 
The vehicle shall be examined and issued with a certificate of Fitness (MOT or HGV 
equivalent) prior to initial licensing and then further proof of tests will be required at the 
recommended intervals. 
 
The vehicle must be of a size, type and design suitable for use as a Private Hire vehicle 
and the make or design of the vehicle shall not be such as to be likely to lead any person 
to believe that it is a Hackney Carriage licensed by Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  
 
A Private Hire vehicle is a vehicle used only for bookings, which are made in advance  
 
Any ladders should be removed or permanently fixed to the vehicle preventing them from 
being removed and used inappropriately. 
 
Alterations or adaptations in any form should be approved by the Council prior to any 
works carried out. 
 
Vehicle Fire Fighting Equipment, Lights and Siren 
 
All blue lights and signage that could be misinterpreted by the public to indicate that the 
Fire Engine is a working emergency vehicle must be removed or replaced with lights that 
are to the satisfaction of the Council.  
 
These lights are not to be used when on any public highway.  
 
All sirens / bells must be removed from the fire engine.  
 

Page 123



Page 74 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Any integral firefighting equipment [hose reels / pumps etc.] other than those required by 
the Private Hire vehicle licence conditions, should be disabled and unavailable for use. 
 
Condition 
 
The vehicle must meet the specification laid down by the Council in respect of 
mechanical, body and interior condition. 
 
Damage to Vehicle 
 
Any damage to a vehicle which affects its safety, performance or appearance must be 
reported by the proprietor to the Council in writing, including by email, as soon as 
reasonably practicable and in any case within 72 hours of the occurrence of the damage. 
 
Engine 
 
The engine must be of the manufacturers recommended specification and fitment. 
 
Wheels 
 
The vehicle shall have at least four road wheels. 
 
Doors and Windows 
 
The vehicle must have sufficient doors of sufficient size to allow passengers to get in and 
out safely.  
 
To comply with Construction and Use Regulations the front window screen must allow 
75% of light to be transmitted and the side windows must allow 70% of light to be 
transmitted. 
 
Steps or another suitable form of assistance must be provided to allow safe entrance and 
exit from the vehicle. These must be approved by the Council be available for use and 
carried on board at all times. 
 
All passengers shall be required to enter / leave the vehicle via the passenger doorway 
adjacent to the pavement. 
 
An audible alarm system shall be fitted to the rear passenger’s compartment doors and 
shall be in a working condition at all times. This must be approved by the Council. 
 
Seating and Internal Fittings 
 
The vehicle shall seat not more than eight passengers. 
 
The seats shall be covered with an appropriate material and must be properly 
upholstered and in good condition, free from rips, tears and holes.  
 
All seats should be suitably securely anchored to the floor of the vehicle. 
 
The fittings and furniture in the Fire Engine must be kept in a clean condition and well 
maintained. 
 
Vehicles shall be equipped at all times with seatbelts of an acceptable type in respect of 
every seat which can be used for the carriage of passengers.   

Page 124



Page 75 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
Seatbelts must be provided for all passengers and must comply with current legislation 
and be in proper working order at all times. 
 
Alcoholic Drinks 
 
Under the Licensing Act 2003 alcohol may not be sold on a moving vehicle and a vehicle 
may not be licensed for this purpose. 
 
Entertainment 
 
Any entertainment that involves striptease, lap dancing, or similar performances, must 
not take place inside the Fire Engine.  
 
Any video or DVD’s shown must be certified by the British Board of Film Classification 
and should only be viewed by the appropriate age group.  
 
R18 videos and DVDs must not be shown within a licensed vehicle. 
 
External Lockers 
 
All external lockers of the vehicle shall be secured to prevent access by passengers or 
members of the public. 
 
Regulations 
 
The vehicle must at all times comply with all aspects of any regulations and acts relating 
to motor vehicles in force at the time of licensing and where required must have a current 
MOT Certificate.   
 
The vehicle must also comply with the Council’s Conditions of Licence which may include 
all or parts of the Private Hire vehicle conditions as will be determined. 
 
Convictions 
 
A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old, will be required annually 
for each individual / director / partner applying for a vehicle proprietor’s licence. It is 
recognised that where the applicant is also a licensed driver or operator they will already 
be subject to requirements to produce Disclosure Certificates and therefore will not be 
required to produce a further certificate when applying to licence a vehicle. However, 
should the vehicle licence holder cease to be a licensed driver and/or operator then a 
Basic Disclosure Certificate will be required immediately. 
 
The proprietor shall, within 48 hours, disclose to the Council, in writing, including by email, 
details of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any offence, (where the 
proprietor is a company or partnership, this shall include any director or partner) during 
the period of the licence. 
 
CCTV  
 
CCTV equipment fitted to a licensed vehicle must meet the specifications agreed by the 
Council (Appendix 20 of the Councils Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy). 
 
 

Page 125



Page 76 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Driver 
 
The driver shall hold a full driving licence suitable for this type of vehicle in addition to the 
normal Private Hire driver’s licence issued by the Council. 
 
Uniform 
 
Any uniform worn by the driver or staff must not display any official fire and rescue 
lettering, logo’s, insignias or names which would give the general public the impression 
that they are members of any Fire and Rescue Emergency Service. 
 

Page 126



Page 77 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 14 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Horse Drawn Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licence Conditions 

 
General Notes 
 
The licensing of Horse Drawn Hackney Carriages is dependent upon the Council being 
satisfied that the vehicle is suitable in size type and design for use.   
 
The prime consideration of the Council is the safety and comfort of the travelling public. 
 
The vehicle must also comply with the Council’s Conditions of Licence which may include 
all or parts of the Hackney Carriage vehicle conditions as will be determined. 
 

Driver 
 
The driver shall hold a Hackney Carriage driver’s licence issued by the Council. 
 
Convictions 
 
A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old, will be required annually 
for each individual / director / partner applying for a vehicle proprietor’s licence. It is 
recognised that where the applicant is also a licensed driver or operator they will already 
be subject to requirements to produce Disclosure Certificates and therefore will not be 
required to produce a further certificate when applying to licence a vehicle. However, 
should the vehicle licence holder cease to be a licensed driver and/or operator then a 
Basic Disclosure Certificate will be required immediately. 
 
The proprietor shall, within 48 hours, disclose to the Council, in writing, including by email, 
details of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any offence, (where the 
proprietor is a company or partnership, this shall include any director or partner) during 
the period of the licence. 
 
Insurance 
 
The proprietor shall keep in force a policy of insurance appropriate to a carriage used for 
public hire and covering third party liability both in respect of physical injury or death AND 
in respect of damage to personal belongings.  
 
A valid copy of the insurance certificate or cover note shall be carried in the carriage at 
all times and shall be produced to an authorised Officer of the Council or a Police 
Constable for inspection whenever required.  
 
Safety 
 
The licence holder shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all reasonable steps to 
ensure the safety of passengers conveyed therein and persons entering and alighting 
from the carriage.  
 
  

Page 127



Page 78 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Damage to Carriage 
 
Any damage to a carriage which affects its safety, performance or appearance must be 
reported by the proprietor to the Council in writing, including by email, as soon as 
reasonably practicable and in any case within 72 hours of the occurrence of the damage. 
 
A carriage shall not be used to carry passengers until it has been competently repaired 
and/or assessed by a competent person and declared to be safe and compliant with all 
conditions and evidence of this assurance has been provided to the Council and the 
Council are satisfied.  
 
Code of Practice 
 
The proprietor shall at all times comply with the requirements of Department of 
Transport’s Code of Practice for Horse Drawn Vehicles.  
  
Groom 
 
The proprietor shall ensure that a suitable groom is in attendance to assist the driver at 
all times.  
 
The proprietor must be satisfied that the groom has been the subject of an appropriate 
Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) check and has no convictions which would cause 
any person to doubt his/her suitability. 
 
Passenger Numbers 
 
The proprietor or the driver shall not permit more than the prescribed number of persons 
to travel in the carriage than the number of persons the carriage is licensed to carry.  
 
Plates 
 
The external identification plate issued by the Council shall at all times be fixed to the 
outside rear of the carriage by the proprietor to the place provided by the manufacturer 
or in accordance with reasonable instructions of an Authorised Officer of the Council.  
 
The plate should be fitted in such a manner as to be easily removable by such officer or 
Police Constable.  
 
Pick Up Points 
 
All set down and pick up locations and routes must be approved by the Council prior to 
being used by a Horse Drawn Hackney Carriage vehicle.  
 
No signs shall be allowed at any of these picking up/dropping off points except with the 
express written consent of the Council, which consent shall be in addition to any Planning 
Permission or other consents or licences or parking permits which may be required.  
 
Traffic 
 
The driver of the vehicle shall take all reasonable steps not to hold up traffic and to allow 
other vehicles to pass  
 
  

Page 128



Page 79 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Inspections 
 
The carriage and harness shall be subject to an inspection by an Authorised Officer within 
the preceding twelve months as to its condition and suitability for the job.  
 
Occasional Checks 
 
The carriage and harness may be inspected and tested by an Authorised Officer of the 
Council or by a Police Officer at all reasonable times.  
 
Pre-Work Checks 
 
The proprietor shall ensure that the driver shall examine the horse/s and carriage 
carefully at the start of each day’s work and assure himself that everything is in good 
condition and in proper order.  
  
Powers of Officers 
 
If the Authorised Officer or Police Constable inspecting the carriage and/or harness is 
not satisfied as to the fitness of either, he may give written notice to the Proprietor to 
make the carriage and/or harness available for further inspection and testing at such 
reasonable time and place as may be specified, and the vehicle licence may be 
suspended until the Authorised Officer or Police Constable is satisfied as to the fitness 
of the carriage and/or harness. 
 
 
  

Page 129



Page 80 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 

Appendix 15 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 
 

Private Hire Operator 
Licence Conditions 

 
Record Keeping 
 
The record required to be kept by the operator under Section 56(2) of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a bound book in ink, 
the pages of which are numbered consecutively, or a suitable electronic database with 
sufficient storage capacity and back up, and the operator shall enter or cause to be 
entered therein, before the commencement of each journey, the following particulars of 
every booking of a Private Hire vehicle invited or accepted by him: 
 

 The time and date of the booking. 

 The name of the passenger/hirer. 

 How the booking was made (e.g. by telephone, personal call etc.) 

 The time of pick-up. 

 The location of pick-up. 

 The destination. 

 Any fare quoted at time of booking. 

 The name of the driver. 

 The driver’s licence number. 

 The registration number of the vehicle allocated for the booking, and the private 

hire vehicle plate number. 

 The name of any individual that responded to the booking request 

 The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle. 

 The time at which the driver was allocated to the booking. 

 Remarks (including details of any sub-contract). 

 
The operator shall also keep records of the particulars of all Private Hire vehicles 
operated by him.   
 
The records shall include details of the vehicle proprietor, registration number, 
licence/plate number and the drivers of such vehicles, together with any radio call sign 
used. 
 
Any record that is required to be kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of 
not less than one year following the date of the last entry, and shall be promptly 
produced, in a format suitable for inspection, if requested by an authorised officer of 
Doncaster Council or a Police Constable. 
 
Staff Records 
 
The operator is required to keep a register of all staff that will take bookings or dispatch 
vehicles.  
 

Page 130



Page 81 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

The register must evidence that the operator has had sight of a recently issued Basic 
DBS check for all individuals named in the register and that the frequency of checks 
and employment of persons with prior convictions are compatible with the operators 
own policy on employing ex-offenders. 
 
Safeguarding 
 
The Operator must undertake Doncaster Councils recognised refresher training at least 
once every 36 months.  
 
The Operator must demonstrate a commitment to cascade this knowledge to all staff 
directly involved with the day to day operation of the business in particular those 
involved in taking bookings and dispatching vehicles and drivers. 
  
Standard of Service 
 
The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the 
public at all reasonable times and for this purpose shall in particular:-  
 
Ensure that when a Private Hire vehicle has been hired to be in attendance at the 
appointed time and place, the vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient 
cause, punctually attend at that appointed time and place. 
 
Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the operator 
provides and to which the public have access, whether for the purpose of booking or 
waiting. 
 
Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate seating facilities. 
 
Ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment provided are maintained in a 
sound condition and that any defects are repaired promptly. 
 
Complaints 
 
The operator must record and investigate all customer complaints.   
 
All records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than one 
year following the date of the last entry, and shall be promptly produced, in a format 
suitable for inspection, if requested by an authorised officer of Doncaster Council or a 
Police Constable. 
 
The operator must immediately (no later than the next working day) notify the Council 
Licensing office in writing, including by email, of any complaints of a serious nature 
concerning a contract for hire or purported contract for hire relating to or arising from his 
business and of the action (if any) which the operator has taken or proposes to take in 
respect thereof.   
 
Complaints of a serious nature include allegations of sexual or violent misconduct. 
 
For complaints which are not covered by the above, the Operator shall inform the 
Licensing office in writing, including by email, of the name and licence number of any 
driver who has, in the opinion of the operator, acted in a way which has caused the 
operator to terminate his/her employment, and provide details of those reasons within 
seven days. 
 

Page 131



Page 82 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Change of Address, Telephone Number or Email Address 
 
The Operator shall notify the Council, in writing, including by email, of any change of his 
address, telephone number or email address during the period of the licence.   
 
Notice of the change shall be given within seven days of it taking place. 
 
Convictions 
 
A Basic Disclosure Certificate which is less than one month old, will be required annually 
for each individual / director / partner applying for a Private Hire Operator licence. It is 
recognised that where the applicant is also a licensed driver or vehicle licence holder 
they will already be subject to requirements to produce Disclosure Certificates and 
therefore will not be required to produce a further certificate when applying for a Private 
Hire Operators licence. However, should the Private Hire Operator cease to be a licensed 
driver and/or vehicle licence holder then a Basic Disclosure Certificate will be required 
immediately. 
 
The Operator shall, within 48 hours, disclose to the Council, in writing, including by email, 
details of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any offence, (where the 
Operator is a company or partnership, this shall include any director or partner) during 
the period of the licence. 
  
‘Out of Town’ Hackney Carriages acting as Private Hire Vehicles in the Doncaster 
Council District 
 
Schedule of Drivers 
 
The Private Hire Operator shall notify the Licensing Authority forthwith, and in any event 
within 72 hours of each and every Hackney Carriage driver employed or used for 
Private Hire bookings on the Operator Driver Schedule (Form OPDS/HCD); this will 
include Hackney Carriage drivers licensed by this or any other Licensing Authority. 
 
Where a Private Hire Operator ceases to employ or use any such licensed Hackney 
Carriage driver, the Operator shall forthwith, and in any event within 72 hours, notify the 
Licensing Authority in writing/email and present the form OPDS/HCD to the Licensing 
Authority for amendment by, or on behalf of, the Licensing Officer. 
 
The Private Hire Operator shall retain a copy of the Hackney Carriage driver licence 
granted by another Licensing Authority along with a copy of the driver’s DVLA licence, 
and any other driver of that vehicle, and forward a copy of those documents to the 
Doncaster Council Licensing Office forthwith, and in any event within 72 hours of 
registering that driver on the form (OPDS/HCD). 
 
Schedule of Vehicles 
 
The Private Hire Operator shall notify the Licensing Authority forthwith and in any event 
within 72 hours of each and every Hackney Carriage vehicle employed or used by the 
operator on the Operator Vehicle Schedule (Form OPVS/HCV), this includes those 
Hackney Carriage vehicles licensed by this or any other Licensing Authority. 
 
Where a Private Hire Operator ceases to employ or use any such licensed Hackney 
Carriage vehicle, the Operator shall forthwith, and in any event within 72 hours, notify 
the Licensing Authority in writing/email and present the form OPVS/HCV to the 
Licensing Authority for amendment by, or on behalf of, the Licensing Officer. 

Page 132



Page 83 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
The Private Hire operator shall retain a copy of the Hackney Carriage vehicle licence 
granted by another Licensing Authority along with a copy of the MOT certificate, 
certificate and policy of insurance and vehicle registration document and forward a copy 
of those documents to the Doncaster Council Licensing Office forthwith and in any 
event within 72 hours of registering that vehicle on the form (OPVS/HCV). 
 
Advertising on Vehicles 
 
Where a Hackney Carriage vehicle is licensed by another Licensing Authority, such a 
Hackney Carriage driver or Hackney Carriage vehicle is expressly prohibited from using 
any literature, any documentation, any advertising or displaying any signage associated 
to the Private Hire Operator or Doncaster Council which suggests or might lead to a 
misunderstanding that the vehicle is licensed by this Authority.  
 
Record of Bookings Allocated to Vehicles Not Licensed by Doncaster Council 
and the Provision of Information to Customers 
 
The receipt of advance bookings by the licensed Operator for Hackney Carriage 
vehicles licensed by another Licensing Authority or which are subsequently allocated to 
a Hackney Carriage Vehicle, licensed by another Licensing Authority, must be 
maintained in a completely separate register of bookings and in the same format as 
other bookings.   
 
If a computerised booking system is in place those booking records must be kept in a 
completely separate and distinct area of the systems hard drive to enable easy 
inspection by the Council. 
 
A separate telephone line and telephone number must be used and installed by the 
Private Hire Operator and used for Hackney Carriage vehicles licensed by another 
Licensing Authority which are undertaking Private Hire bookings within that operating 
base. 
 
There must be a pre-recorded intercept message on the unique booking telephone line 
which clearly states to prospective customers the following:  
 
“The driver and vehicle you are about to book are not licensed by Doncaster Council 
and Doncaster Council is not empowered to take licensing action against them in the 
event of a complaint.  In the event of a complaint customers will have to deal with that 
other Authority where they may be licensed.” 
 
The caller should then be reminded of the Private Hire Operators main telephone 
number and given the option to be redirected to “a Doncaster Council licensed driver 
and vehicle”. 
 
Where a booking is made in person, the Private Hire Operator must, at the time of 
making a booking, inform the customer verbally or by any means likely to bring the 
information to the attention of the customer of the following statement: 
 
‘’The driver and vehicle you are about to book are not licensed by Doncaster Council 
and Doncaster Council is not empowered to take licensing action against them in the 
event of a complaint.  In the event of a complaint customers will have to deal with that 
other Authority where they may be licensed.’’ 
 

Page 133



Page 84 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

The customer should then be given the option to be redirected to a ‘‘Doncaster Council 
licensed driver and vehicle’’ 
 
Where a booking is made via: 
 

a) The internet; 

b) Mobile App; or 

c) Anything similar to a) or b) 

 
The Private Hire Operator must inform the customer, by written terms visible when 
booking, of the following statement: 
 
‘’The driver and vehicle you are about to book are not licensed by Doncaster Council 
and Doncaster Council is not empowered to take licensing action against them in the 
event of a complaint.  In the event of a complaint customers will have to deal with that 
other Authority where they may be licensed.’’ 
 
The customer should then be given the option to be redirected to a ‘‘Doncaster Council 
licensed driver and vehicle’’ 
 
In any advertising literature or web information, a form of words must be used which 
clearly states to prospective customers the following: 
 
‘’The driver and vehicle you are about to book are not licensed by Doncaster Council 
and Doncaster Council is not empowered to take licensing action against them in the 
event of a complaint.  In the event of a complaint customers will have to deal with that 
other Authority where they may be licensed.’’ 
 
The customer should then be given information on how to be book a ‘‘Doncaster 
Council licensed driver and vehicle’’ 
 
PCV Drivers / PSV Vehicles 
 
The above condition shall also apply to the use of any driver who holds a PCV licence 
and the use of a Public Service Vehicle (PSV). 
 
The use of either to undertake a Private Hire vehicle booking is not be permitted without 
the informed consent of the booker and compliance with the above. 
 
 

Page 134



Page 85 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 16 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 
 

Private Hire Driver Licence Conditions &  
Licensed Driver Code of Conduct 

 
The following conditions shall apply to all Private Hire Driver’s licences and are the 
standard of behaviour and conduct expected of all licensed drivers.  
 
Should any driver fall short of the standard, the Council will then consider whether they 
remain a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
 
Conduct of Driver 
 
The driver shall behave in a professional, respectful, compliant and courteous manner 
at all times.  
 
The driver shall afford all reasonable assistance with passengers’ luggage. 
 
The driver shall at all times be clean and respectable in his dress and person and 
behave in a civil and orderly manner. 
 
The driver shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed 
in, entering or alighting from the vehicle driven by him/her. 
 
The driver shall not drink or eat in the vehicle at any time when carrying a passenger. 
 
The driver shall not play any radio or sound reproducing instrument or equipment in the 
vehicle without the express consent of the hirer other than for the purpose of sending or 
receiving messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle. 
 
The driver shall at no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other 
previously mentioned equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a source of 
nuisance or annoyance to any person, whether inside or outside the vehicle. 
 
The driver shall not behave in an inappropriate manner or participate in any behaviour 
of a sexual nature in the vehicle. 
 
The driver shall not smoke in the vehicle. 
 
The driver shall comply with the requirements of the vehicle licence conditions. 
 
Passengers 
 
The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in a licensed vehicle, a greater 
number of persons than that prescribed in the licence for the vehicle. 
  
The driver shall not without the consent of the hirer of a vehicle convey or permit to be 
conveyed any other person in that vehicle. 
 
The driver shall not smoke or permit smoking in the vehicle. 

Page 135



Page 86 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
Drivers must provide reasonable facilities for passengers with a disability. 
 
Without prejudice to the generality of the above, where the vehicle has been hired by or 
for a person with a disability who is accompanied by an assistance dog, or by another 
person who wishes to be accompanied by a person with a disability and an assistance 
dog, the driver must permit the assistance dog to travel in the vehicle and allow it to 
remain with that person. The driver must not make an additional charge for doing so. 
  
An exemption certificate may be granted by the Council on application by the licensed 
driver if the Council are satisfied that it is appropriate to do so on medical grounds. 
 
Where the vehicle is wheelchair accessible and capable of safely transporting a 
‘reference wheelchair’ (as defined in Schedule 1 of the Public Service Vehicle 
Accessibility Regulations 2000), the driver must not make an additional charge for 
doing so and, shall not refuse to carry a wheelchair user unless an exemption certificate 
has been granted by the Council on application by the licensed driver if the Council are 
satisfied that it is appropriate to do so on medical grounds. 
 
Any exemption certificate shall be displayed as directed by the Council and produced to 
any person on request. 
 
Drivers Badge 
 
The driver must at all times, when driving a licensed vehicle for hire or reward, wear the 
driver’s badge issued by the Council on a prominent visible place on the outer clothing.  
 
Drivers may wear their badge in the following ways: 
 

 A clip badge attached to clothing in a prominent position 

 A plain, block coloured lanyard around the neck 

 A plain, block coloured armband with a transparent pouch to be worn on the left 

arm, where a driver’s badge can be fitted into and is clearly visible to 

passengers. 

Return of Drivers Badge 
 
The driver’s badge remains the property of the Council.  
 
Upon expiry of the licence and badge (whether application to renew has been made or 
not) the badge must be returned to the Council within 7 days of expiry or other such 
time as the Council may specify. 
 
The badge must be returned to the Council immediately if the licence is suspended, 
revoked or becomes invalid for any reason (e.g. where it has expired). 
 
Lost Property 
 
The driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring of a Private Hire vehicle 
or as soon as practicable thereafter, carefully search the vehicle for any property which 
may have been accidentally left there. 
 
If any property accidentally left in a Private Hire vehicle by any person who may have 
been conveyed therein is found by or handed to the driver, he/she shall take it, as soon 
as possible, and in any event within twenty-four hours if not already claimed by or on 

Page 136



Page 87 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

behalf of its owner, to a convenient Police Station and leave it in the custody of the 
officer in charge. 
 
Written Receipts 
 
The Driver shall if requested by the hirer of the vehicle, provide the hirer with a written 
receipt for the fare paid. 
 
Animals 
 
The driver shall not convey in a vehicle any animal belonging to or in the custody of 
himself or the proprietor of the vehicle and he shall ensure that any animal belonging to 
or in the custody of any passenger is conveyed in the rear of the vehicle. 
 
Copy of Conditions 
 
The driver shall at all times when driving a licensed vehicle carry with him a copy of 
these conditions and the Vehicle Licence Conditions and shall make them available for 
inspection by the hirer or any other passenger on request. 
 
Deposit of Licence 
 
If the driver is permitted or employed to drive a vehicle of which the proprietor is 
someone other than him/her, he/she shall, before commencing to drive that vehicle, 
deposit his/her licensed vehicle drivers licence issued by the Council, with that 
proprietor for retention until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed 
to drive the vehicle. 
 
Change of Address, Telephone Number or Email Address 
 
The driver shall notify the Council, in writing, including by email, of any change of his 
address, telephone number or email address during the period of the licence.   
 
Notice of the change shall be given within seven days of it taking place. 
 
Notification of Convictions 
 
The driver shall, within 48 hours, disclose to the Council, in writing, including by email, 
details of any arrest and release, charge or conviction of any offence during the period of 
the licence. 
 
A driver who is required to appear at a Taxi Licensing Committee Hearing following a 
conviction for a driving offence may be required to undertake Doncaster Council’s 
practical driving assessment.  Failure to complete and pass the assessment may result 
in the driver having their driver’s’ licence revoked. 
 
Safeguarding 
 
The driver must undertake Doncaster Councils recognised refresher training at least 
once every 36 months.  
 
  

Page 137



Page 88 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

CB Radio, Mobile Phones or other Communication Devices 
 
The use or operation of any Citizen Band Radio, Mobile Phone or other Communication 
Device in the vehicle (other than one which allows communication between the 
passenger and driver) is prohibited at all times that the vehicle is hired.   
 
The use of such equipment in the case of an emergency shall not constitute a breach of 
this condition. 
 
Television Receiving Apparatus or Monitors (screens) 
 
No person shall use television receiving apparatus, monitor or similar in a motor vehicle 
under circumstances or in a position where it might cause distraction to the driver of any 
other vehicle on the road. 
 
Medical Fitness 
 
Unless restricted to a shorter period for medical reasons, all drivers will be required to 
produce a Group 2 standard medical certificate at five yearly intervals from the age of 
45 onwards and annually from age 65 onwards. 
 
Failure to comply with this condition will result in the licence being suspended.  
 
DVLA Driving Licence Checks 
 
All licensed drivers will be subject to an annual DVLA driving licence check.   
 
Where a licence holder refuses to give consent for checking a driving record the licence 
will be suspended.  
 
Criminal Record Checks 
 
All licensed drivers are required to subscribe to the DBS update service to enable the 
licensing authority to routinely check for new information every six months. 
 
Where the authority is unable to check the update service, and the licence holder fails to 
immediately produce a new Enhanced Disclosure Certificate which is less than one 
month old, the authority will suspend the licence with immediate effect.  

 
  

Page 138



Page 89 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 17 
 

Penalty Point System  
 

Use and Enforcement 

 

This document provides guidance in respect to the penalty point system for Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire enforcement.  

 

The system will operate without prejudice to the Council’s other enforcement powers in 

respect of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire controls. 

 

The operation of the system is not intended to fetter the council’s discretion to exercise 

the full range of its enforcement powers as it sees fit. 

 

It is intended that the penalty points system will be enforced by Doncaster Councils 

Licensing Officers who have the appropriate authorisation under the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and Town and Police Clauses Act 1847.  

 

In addition, any person may refer non-compliance along with the appropriate evidence 

to the Council’s Licensing Officers which in the Council’s discretion could result in the 

issuing of points.  

 

Points may also be issued arising from complaints from other third parties such as 

members of the public. 

 

The Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy will be considered 

when determining the manner in which any offence or breach of licensing conditions is 

dealt with. 

 

Whether or not penalty points have been issued, the Council reserves the right to 

suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a licence or to prosecute. 

 

Penalty points will be issued depending on the points designated for that specific 

breach or, as appropriate, a specific number of points within the designated range 

depending on the facts and circumstances. 

 

Notification of points imposed shall be sent to the licence holder in writing. 

 

Points shall remain current for 2 years from the date of non-compliance. If the licence 

lapses during this period, the points would be noted on the system and may be carried 

onto a new application.  

 

If the licensee applies again at a later date points may be carried forward for the 

remaining period that the points would have remained current. 

 

Any licence holder who has 12 or more current points shall be required to attend a Taxi 

Licensing Committee Hearing where their fitness to continue to hold a licence will be 

reviewed. (See Appendix 18) 

 

Page 139



Page 90 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Once the licence holder has been dealt with the points will be removed from his/her 

licence, however a file note will be kept for the life of the licence and on renewal.  

 

Right of Appeal 

 

Any licence holder appealing the issuing of penalty points by a Licensing Officer must 

do so in writing within 21 days of receiving the notice by submitting full details of their 

appeal via the Councils complaints procedure. 

 

Any appeal shall be determined by a person in the role of Licensing Manager or above. 

The outcome of the appeal may result in all or part of the penalty points being removed 

or additional points being added. 

 

Any decision made by the Taxi Licensing Committee can be appealed to the 

Magistrates’ Court and must be done within 21 days of the date of the decision. 

 

Changes to the Points System 

 

The Council reserves the right to make changes to the points system and, in particular, 

to vary the number of points which can be issued for a specified breach and to vary (by 

adding, removing or otherwise) the list of specified breaches. 

  

Page 140



Page 91 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Doncaster Council Penalty Points Scheme 
 

 

 
 

Details of Misconduct 
 

Penalty Points 
 

 

1 
 

 

Failure to notify the Council in writing, of a change of 
address, telephone number or email address, within 
7 calendar days. 
 

 

4 
 

 

2 
 

 

Refusal to accept hiring without reasonable cause. 
 

 

6 
 

 

3 
 

 

Unreasonable prolongation of journeys or any misconduct 
regarding the charging of fares. 
 

 

6 
 

 

4 
 

 

Plying for hire by Private Hire drivers or Hackney 
Carriage drivers plying for hire outside the district. 
 

 

12 
 

 

5 
 

 

Private Hire vehicle parking or waiting on a Hackney 
Carriage rank. 
 

 

6 
 

 

6 
 

 

Inappropriate behaviour at a Hackney Carriage rank. 
 

 

1-12 
 

 

7 
 

 

Leaving a Hackney Carriage unattended at a rank. 
 

 

4 
 

 

8 
 

 

Using an unlicensed vehicle or using a licensed 
vehicle without insurance or without a current 
inspection test. 
 

 

12 
 

 

9 
 

 

Failure to produce relevant documents within timescales 
when requested by an authorised officer. 
 

 

4 
 

 

10 
 

 

Unsatisfactory condition of vehicle, interior or exterior. 
 

 

4 
 

 

11 
 

 

Failure to undergo an inspection test on time resulting in 
the issue of a suspension notice. 
 

 

6 
 

 

12 
 

 

Failure to provide proof of insurance cover when requested, 
resulting in the issue of a suspension notice. 
 

 

6 
 

 

13 
 

 

Failure to attend safeguarding refresher training, resulting 
in the issue of a suspension notice. 
 

 

6 
 

 

14 
 

 

Failure to provide consent to check DVLA driving licence, 
resulting in the issue of a suspension notice. 
 

 

6 
 

 

15 
 

 

Failure to provide a valid medical, resulting in the issue of a 
suspension notice. 
 

 

6 
 

 

16 
 

 

Failure to allow checking of the DBS update service or 
failing to produce a valid Enhanced DBS, resulting in the 
issue of a suspension notice. 
 

 

6 
 

 

17 
 

 

Failure to produce Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
vehicle for visual / mechanical inspection when 
required. 
 

 

4 
 

 

18 
 

Using a vehicle subject to a suspension order issued by an 
authorised officer or a Police officer. 

 

12 

Page 141



Page 92 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 

19 
 

 

Using a vehicle for which the licence has been suspended 
or revoked. 

 

 

12 
 

 

20 
 

 

Failure to report, in writing, within 72 hours, an accident or 
damage to a licensed vehicle, which would cause the 
vehicle to breach licence conditions. 
 

 

4 
 

 

21 
 

 

Carrying more passengers than stated on the vehicle 
licence. 
 

 

12 
 

 

22 
 

 

Failure to correctly display the external licence plates, or 
internal licence plate. Or failure to correctly display 
appropriate door signs. 
 

 

6 
 

 

23 
 

 

Carrying an offensive weapon in the vehicle. 
 

 

12 
 

 

24 
 

 

Failure to notify a transfer of Private Hire or Hackney 
Carriage vehicle licence within 7 days of transfer. 
 

 

4 
 

 

25 
 

 

Failure to carry fire extinguisher. 
 

 

6 
 

 

26 
 

 

Failure to carry first aid kit. 
 

 

6 
 

 

27 
 

 

Displaying unauthorised advertisements in or on the 
vehicle. 
 

 

4 
 

 

28 
 

 

Failure to maintain records in accordance with conditions. 
 

 

4 
 

 

29 
 

 

Failure to produce records on request. 
 

 

8 
 

 

30 
 

 

Obstruction of an authorised officer or Police officer wishing 
to examine a licensed vehicle. 
 

 

12 
 

 

31 
 

 

Evidence of smoking in vehicle. 
 

 

4 
 

 

32 
 

 

Using a vehicle, the appearance or feature of which 
suggests that it is a Hackney Carriage. 
 

 

6 
 

 

33 
 

 

Failure to carry an assistance dog or reference wheelchair 
without requisite medical exemption certificate. 
 

 

12 
 

 

34 
 

 

Driver not holding a current DVLA licence. 
 

 

12 
 

 

35 
 

 

Failure to have the driver’s badge clearly displayed. 
 

 

4 
 

 

36 
 

 

Failure to notify, in writing, a change in medical 
circumstances which affects suitability to hold a licence. 
 

 

12 
 

 

37 
 

 

Failure to observe Hackney Carriage rank discipline. 
 

 

4 
 

 

38 
 

 

Misleading use of the word ‘Taxi’ on Private Hire 
advertising materials. 

 

 

4 
 

Page 142



Page 93 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 

39 
 

 

Failure to issue receipt on request. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

6 
 

 

40 
 

 

Using a licensed vehicle in a dangerous condition. 
 

 

12 
 

 

41 
 

 

Failure to return vehicle licence plate or drivers badge 
within 7 days after due notice following expiry, revocation or 
suspensions of such licence. 
 

 

6 
 

 

42 
 

 

Unsatisfactory behaviour or conduct of a driver. 
 1-12 

 

 

43 
 

 

Failure to notify the Council in writing within 7 days of 
receiving any motoring offence resulting in up to 3 DVLA 
penalty points. 
 

 

4 
 

 

44 
 

 

Failure to notify the Council in writing within 48 hours of any 
arrest and release, charge or conviction (including a 
caution) of any sexual offence, any offence involving 
dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence (greater 
than 3 DVLA penalty points) 
 

 

12 
 

 

45 
 

 

Having more than 6 active DVLA penalty points. 
 

 

3 points for 
each active 
DVLA point 
above 6 points 
 

 

46 
 

 

Failure to behave in a civil and orderly manner, or bringing 
the trade into disrepute. 
 

 

1-12 
 

 

47 
 

 

Failure to provide reasonable assistance to a passenger.  

1-12 
 

48 
 

 

Failure to display a correct up to date fare card in a 
Hackney Carriage. 

 

3 
 

 

49 
 

 

Carrying two or more separate fares without the 
appropriate consent. 

 

9 

 

50 
 

 

 

Failure to carry a legal spare wheel (or appropriate 
alternative) and the necessary tools to fit the spare wheel. 
 

 

4 
 

 

51 
 

 

Failure to attend punctually at appointed time and place 
without sufficient cause. 
 

 

4 
 

 

52 
 

 

A licensed vehicle with a bald or dangerous or defective 
tyre. 
 
 

6 
 

 

53 
 

Contravention of a parking or waiting restriction. 

 

4 
 

54 
 

 

Driving whilst using a hand held device (e.g. mobile phone) 
which did not result in conviction. 
 

 

9 

 

55 
 

 

Failure to provide a ‘Certificate of Good Character’ or 
similar (licence holder outside the UK for more than 3 
months) 
 

 

 

6 
 

 

  

Page 143



Page 94 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 18 
 

Taxi Licensing Committee Hearing 
 

Reasons for a Committee Hearing 
 
A Committee hearing may be required for; 
 

 New applicants who do not meet the minimum standards required for the grant 

of a licence without further investigation. 

 Existing licence holders whose actions have fallen below the standards of the 

Councils policy. 

 
Attendance, Assistance and Representation 
 
The applicant/licence holder who is the subject of the Committee hearing will be sent a 
notice of the time, date and location of the hearing. 
 
The applicant/licence holder shall also be sent a report outlining the reasons for the 
Committee hearing. 
 
The applicant/licence holder should complete the form ‘Notice of actions following 
receipt of notice of Committee hearing’ and give the notice to the Licensing Committee 
not later than five (5) working days before the day (or the first day) on which the 
Committee hearing is to be held. 
 
The subject should attend the Committee hearing at the appointed time and may be 
assisted or represented by any person whether or not that person is legally qualified. 
 
Hearings may be held in person or remotely. 
 
Committee Members 
 
The Committee will consist of a minimum of three elected members of the Licensing 
Committee. 
 
Also present at the hearing will be an officer of the Licensing department who will 
present the case to the Committee. This officer is not part of the Committee and is not 
involved in the decision making process. 
 
Representations and Supporting Information 
 
At the hearing you shall be entitled to — 
 

 Give further information in support of your application (where applicable) 

 Give a response to any of the questions raised by the Committee. 

 Give a response or make comment on any items contained within the hearing 

report or raised at the hearing. 

 Give a response to any of the reasons why the hearing is being held. 

 
  

Page 144



Page 95 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Failure to Attend the Committee Hearing 
 
If you have informed the authority that you are unable to attend the hearing. The 
Committee may -  
 

 With the agreement of all Committee members, rearrange the hearing to a later 

date of which you will be notified. 

 Proceed with the hearing in your absence. 

 
If you fail to attend and have not previously notified the authority. The Committee may – 
 

 Proceed with the hearing in your absence.  

 With the agreement of all Committee members, rearrange the hearing to a later 

date of which you will be notified. 

 
If you fail to attend a hearing where you have previously advised you would be in 
attendance. The Committee may – 
 

 Proceed with the hearing in your absence.  

 With the agreement of all Committee members, rearrange the hearing to a later 

date of which you will be notified. 

 
Where the Committee agrees to rearrange a hearing as a result of the above and sends 
notification of the new date on which the hearing will take place - the hearing will 
proceed on the date specified on the notice regardless of your attendance.  
 
Procedure at the Committee Hearing 
 
At the beginning of the hearing, the authority shall explain the reasons for the 
Committee hearing and the procedure which will be followed. 
 
All persons present at the hearing will introduce themselves. Any persons in attendance 
who have not been invited by the Committee, shall be required to explain their reason 
for attendance and their suitability to remain part of the hearing will be subject to the 
approval of the Committee members. 
 
The Committee hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the chair of the 
Committee. You will be given the opportunity to respond to any questions raised and to 
provide further detail on any matters arising which are relevant to the hearing. 
 
The Committee may require any person attending the hearing who in their opinion is 
behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and may — 
 

 Refuse to permit that person to return, or 

 Permit him to return only on such conditions as the Committee may specify. 

 
Closing Statement and Deliberations 
 
Once the Committee has concluded their questions, you will be invited to make a 
closing statement. This is your opportunity to address the Committee and raise any 
relevant points in support of your suitability to hold a licence. 
 
At the conclusion of the hearing, the meeting will close and you will be invited to leave. 
 

Page 145



Page 96 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

The Committee will enter into deliberations. You will not be required to wait for the 
deliberations to conclude as the Committee may need to conduct further checks and 
reconvene at a later date. 
 
Decisions and Appeals 
 
When making a decision the Committee will take into account the representations made 
at the hearing, the Councils Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy and, 
where a licence is already held, all relevant licence conditions and code of conduct. 
 
Where an applicant/licence holder has been convicted of a criminal offence, the Council 
cannot review the merits of the conviction [Nottingham City Council v. Mohammed 
Farooq (1998)] 
 
The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exemptions) Order 1975 provides that all 
convictions, irrespective of age, remain ‘’live’’ for the purposes of a Hackney Carriage 
or Private Hire driver’s licence, these occupations being added to the exemptions list 
from that time. 
 
Licensing authorities have a duty to ensure that any person to whom they grant a 
Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to 
be a licensee. It may be helpful when considering whether an applicant or licensee is fit 
and proper to pose oneself the following question: 
 
Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you allow 
a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in a 
vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night? 
 
If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’, the individual 
should not hold a licence. 
 
Licensing authorities have to make difficult decisions but the safeguarding of the public 
is paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licensee should be made 
on the balance of probability. This means that an applicant or licensee should not be 
‘given the benefit of doubt’. If the Committee members are only “50/50” as to whether 
the applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they should not hold a licence. The threshold 
used here is lower than for a criminal conviction (that being beyond reasonable doubt) 
and can take into consideration conduct that has not resulted in a criminal conviction. 
 
Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides a 
licensing authority with the ability to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence on the 
following grounds: - 
 

a) that he has since the grant of the licence— 

I. been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence; 

or 

II. been convicted of an offence under or has failed to comply with the 

provisions of the Act of 1847 or of this Part of this Act; 

aa) that he has since the grant of the licence been convicted of an immigration 

offence or required to pay an immigration penalty; or 

b) any other reasonable cause 

 

Licensing authorities have the option to suspend or revoke a licence should information 
be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and proper person. 

Page 146



Page 97 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Where the licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted of an 
immigration offence the licence should be revoked immediately. Guidance for licensing 
authorities to prevent illegal working in the taxi and private hire vehicle sector has been 
issued by the Home Office. As with the initial decision to license a driver, this 
determination must be reached based on the balance of probabilities, not on the burden 
of beyond reasonable doubt. 
 
Before any decision is made, the licensing authority must give full consideration to the 
available evidence and the driver should be given the opportunity to state his or her 
case. If a period of suspension is imposed, it cannot be extended or changed to 
revocation at a later date. 
 
A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing of a licence 
should further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a decision 
previously made. The decision to suspend or revoke was based on the evidence 
available at the time the determination was made. New evidence may, of course, 
become available later. 
 
New evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the court 
reaching a different decision to that reached by the council or an appeal may be settled 
by agreement between the licensing authority and the driver on terms which, in the light 
of new evidence, becomes the appropriate course. If, for example, the allegations 
against a driver were now, on the balance of probability, considered to be unfounded, a 
suspension could be lifted or, if the licence was revoked, an expedited re-licensing 
process used. 
 
A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can be 
addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would be returned to 
the driver once the training has been completed without further consideration. This 
approach is clearly not appropriate where the licensing authority believes that, based 
on the information available at that time, on the balance of probability it is considered 
that the driver presents a risk to public safety. 
 
A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence 
does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a 
vehicle or Private Hire vehicle operator licence; these decisions must be independent of 
a driver licence refusal and based on the appropriate information i.e. it should not 
consider information that would only be available via an enhanced DBS check but 
instead that which would be disclosed on a basic check. DBS certificate information can 
only be used for the specific purpose for which it was requested and for which the 
applicant’s full consent has been given. 
 
A failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing authority is 
subsequently advised of might be seen as behaviour that questions honesty and 
therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome of the initial 
allegation. 
 
Where the Committee are unable to reach a unanimous decision, a majority decision 
will be accepted. 
 
The Committee will endeavour to inform you of the decision within 7 working days or, 
where they are unable to make the decision within 7 working days; they will inform you 
within 7 working days of when a decision is likely to be made. 
 
A decision notice will be sent to you in writing. 

Page 147



Page 98 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
Where the decision of the Committee is to suspend / revoke / refuse a licence, the 
notice will also include a statement explaining your right to appeal that decision to the 
Magistrates Court within 21 days. 
 
Deviation for Serious Offences 
 
In circumstances where it is in the interest of public safety to take immediate action 
against an existing licence holder due to the serious nature of the incident which 
questions the suitability for the continuation of a licence, it may be necessary for the 
Council to deviate from this policy. 
 
Committee Hearings will be convened urgently and may consist of less than 3 elected 
members. Notice of the hearing may be given by telephone and the determination will 
be made at the first hearing even if the licence holder does not attend.  
 
Where an immediate risk to the public is identified. The Head of Service, Licensing 
Manager and Licensing Officer have delegated powers to authorise the revocation of a 
licence with immediate effect without the need for a hearing. In these circumstances the 
officer taking the decision will engage with the Chair / Vice Chair of the Licensing 
Committee to advise them of the reasons for the deviation at, or as soon as reasonably 
practicable, after authorising the revocation. 
 
Any deviation from this policy will not remove the licence holders right to appeal the 
decision to a Magistrates Court. 
 
Referrals 
 
Any decision to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is thought to present a risk 
of harm to a child or vulnerable adult, shall be referred to the Disclosure & Barring 
Service (DBS). 
 
Information may also be disclosed to South Yorkshire Police Disclosure Unit. 
 
Where a licence is refused or revoked, an entry will be recorded on the National 
Register of Revocations and Refusals (NR3) database.  

Page 148



Page 99 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 19 
 

Delegation 
 
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 
Approval of revisions to the Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy is 
delegated to the Licensing Committee.  
 
Determination of New Applications and Renewals (where minimum standards are 
met) 
 
Where an application meets or exceeds all of the required minimum standards, the 
decision to grant or renew a licence is delegated to authorised officers. 
 
Determination of New Applications and Renewals (which do not meet the 
minimum standards) 
 
Where an application falls below the required minimum standards, the decision to grant 
or refuse a New or Renewal application is delegated to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Suspension of Licence (where certain conditions are not met) 
 
Where the licence holder has failed to provide required documents or failed to allow for 
continuing checks of their suitability to hold a licence in accordance with conditions of 
licence (e.g. vehicle insurance, criminal record checks, medicals etc.), the suspension 
of licence is delegated to authorised officers. 
 
Suspension or Revocation of Licence (Conduct) 
 
In cases where consideration is given to the suspension or revocation of a licence, 
these decisions are delegated to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Immediate Revocation of Licence (Public Safety) 
 
Where information is received which, in the opinion of the Council, requires 
consideration for the immediate revocation of a licence, determination is delegated to 
the Head of Service, Licensing Manager or Licensing Officer. 
  

Page 149



Page 100 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

Appendix 20 
 

CCTV Technical Specification 
 

The following technical specifications and system requirements must be met before a 
camera system can be considered suitable to be installed in a Doncaster licensed 
vehicle. 
 

 1. Operational Technical Specifications  
 

Reference Specification Details 

1.1 100% solid state design or a 
proven vibration and shock 
resistant system. 

The system should not have any fan and the 
recording should be vibration and shock proof, i.e.: 
Flash-based SSD (100% industrial grade), Hard disk 
with both mechanical anti-vibration and anti-shock 
mechanism and self-recovery and self-check file writing 
system. 

1.2 8 to 15 Volts DC Operational between 8 and 15 volts DC 

1.3 Reverse polarity protected System to be protected against reverse voltage. 

1.4 Short circuit prevention System to be protected against short circuits 

1.5 Over voltage protection System to be protected against high voltage transients 
likely to be encountered in the vehicle electrical 
system. 

1.6 Automotive Electromagnetic 
Compatibility Requirements 

The in-vehicle taxi camera system must be 
compliant with the Council Directives: 

- 2004/108/EC on Electromagnetic 
Compatibility (CISPR 22/EN55022), 

- 2004/104/EC on Radio Interference (sections 6.5, 
6.6, 6.8 and 6.9) 

 
The camera equipment should therefore be e-
marked or CE-marked with confirmation by the 
equipment manufacturer as being non-immunity 
related and suitable for use in motor vehicles. 

1.7 System activation (on / off) 
switch to be located in a 
position where it is not 
accessible from inside the 
vehicle (i.e. in the boot / 
engine compartment). 

The system is required to be active at all times that 
the vehicle is being used as a licensed vehicle.  
This will allow the facility for the system to be 
deactivated during times when the vehicle is being 
used for private purposes (e.g. domestic use).  
The switch that deactivates the system must be 
located within the vehicles boot or engine 
compartment (i.e. it must only be possible to 
deactivate the system from outside of the vehicle). 

1.8 First-in/first-out buffer 
recording principle 

 

1.9 Built-in, automatic logging of 
all access actions, including 
date and personnel names 

 

1.10 Security, duration and auto- 
clearing of log files 

 

1.11 Image export formats and 
media 

Images must be exported in commercially available 
formats. 

1.12 Image protection during 
power disruption 

Images must be preserved in the event of loss of 
power. Battery back-up will not be permitted 

Page 150



Page 101 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

1.13 Unit must operate without 
the ignition being turned on. 

The Unit must have the ability to operate for at least 2 
hours without power from the ignition. 

1.14 Image and audio data shall 
be recorded and stored in a 
unit separate from the 
camera head. 

 

1.15 GPS capability System must be compatible to allow for GPS 
capability. 

1.17 The system shall not record 
audio except when audio 
recording is activated by 
means of an approved 
trigger. 

The system should have the ability to start recording 
audio data by means of at least two trigger buttons 
(see also 1.26 below). 
 
One trigger button must be capable of being 
activated by the driver.  
Once the trigger is activated the system must begin 
to record audio data.  
The system will continue to record audio until the 
same trigger is activated again.  
The second activation of the trigger must result in the 
cessation of audio recording (e.g. a button could be 
pressed to begin audio recording, pressing the 
button again would stop audio recording). 

 
The second trigger button must be capable of being 
activated by the passengers in the vehicle 
independently of the driver.  
Once the trigger is activated the system must begin 
to record audio data.  
The system will continue to record audio until the 
same trigger is activated again. The second 
activation of the trigger must result in the cessation 
of audio recording (e.g. a button could be pressed to 
begin audio recording, pressing the button again 
would stop audio recording). 
 
Both audio activation triggers must be independent 
of each other – this means that audio recording can 
only be deactivated by means of the same trigger 
(driver or passenger) that was used to activate the 
audio recording. 

1.16 The system must be 
capable of recording audio 
time synchronized to the 
recorded images. 

 

1.18 The audio playback, 
when triggered, shall be 
in ‘real time’ and 
synchronised with the 
images that are captured. 

 

1.19 Digital sampling of the 
audio signal must exceed 
8KHz 

 

1.20 Digital resolution of the 
audio samples must 
exceed 10 bits. 

 

Page 151



Page 102 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

1.21 The audio microphone 
shall be integrated within 
the camera head. 

 

1.22 Audio data and image 
data must be stored 
together, not in separate 
files, and must be 
protected against 
unauthorised access or 
tampering. 

 

1.23 The system must support 
testing of the audio 
function for installation 
set-up and inspection 
purposes. 

 

1.24 The system must ‘go to 
sleep’ to reduce battery 
drain during prolonged 
idle time.  
It must be capable of 
immediate reactivation 

 

1.25 Images recorded by the 
system shall not be 
displayed within the 
vehicle. 

 

1.26 The system must have at 
least two emergency 
activation triggers (panic 
buttons). 

One of the triggers / panic buttons must be capable 
of being operated by the driver – this must be 
independent of the audio recording activation 
switch. 

 
At least one other trigger / panic button must be 
capable of being operated by a passenger from any 
passenger seat in the vehicle. Once activated, this 
switch must trigger the recording of video and audio 
in accordance with section 6.1 below. 

1.27 The system must include 
a visual indicator that will 
clearly show when audio 
recording is taking place. 
This indicator must be 
visible to all passengers 
within the vehicle. 

This may take the form of an indicator LED built into 
the audio activation switch, or a remote LED that can 
clearly be seen by passengers. 

 
2. Storage Capacity Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

2.1 Minimum of twenty-one 
days of recording capacity 

The camera system must be capable of recording and 
storing a minimum of twenty-one days of images of 
HD1 (720/288) size or better. 

2.2 Images must be clear in all 
lighting conditions 

System to provide clear images in bright sunshine, 
shade, dark and total darkness.  
Also, when strong back light is present. 

 
  

Page 152



Page 103 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

3. Camera Head Technical Specification 
 

Reference Specification Details 

3.1 Camera installation non- 
obstructive 

The camera and all system components shall be 
installed in a manner that does not interfere with the 
driver’s vision or view of mirrors or otherwise normal 
operation of the vehicle. 

3.2 Protected camera 
disconnect 

The camera head shall be designed to disconnect for 
ease of removal and replacement by maintenance 
personnel. 

3.3 Special tools for 
adjustment/removal 

To prevent inappropriate interference only tools 
supplied to authorised fitters should be capable of 
carrying out adjustments or removal. 

3.4 Field of view to capture all 
passengers in the vehicle 

The lens of the camera must be of a type that captures 
the driver and all passengers of the vehicle on the 
recorded image.  
The lens must be of a style not to create a “fishbowl” 
effect. 

3.5 Images must be clear System to provide clear images in all lighting 
conditions and allow different skin tones to be detected 

3.6 Compatible for use in 
vehicles with a partition 
screen 

The camera system must be adaptable to provide clear 
images when a vehicle is equipped with a partition 
screen.  
This may be accomplished with the use of multiple 
camera heads. 

3.7 Multiple cameras The unit shall be capable of supporting up to four (4) 
cameras.  
Four cameras may be required to provide adequate 
coverage in larger vehicles and/or certain purpose 
built vehicles. 

 
4. Storage Device (Recorder) Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

4.1 Impact and shock resistance The recorder shall be impact resistant, sufficient to 
withstand a typical car accident, or striking with a large, 
heavy object such as a suitcase. 

4.2 Controller in concealed 
location 

The storage unit shall be concealed from view and 
effectively inaccessible except by authorised 
personnel. 

4.3 Download port provision The recorder shall be equipped with a communication 
port for downloading by authorised personnel. 

4.4 Download port shall be 
located in an easily 
accessible location 
such as a glove 
compartment. 

The recorder download port shall be located in the 
glove box if practicable, if not then in a location that 
does not require the removal of panels and is 
accessible. 

4.5 Download port cable length 
(300 millimetres minimum) 

Download port shall be at least 300 millimetres in 
length for ease of download. 

4.6 Recorder to be securely 
affixed to the vehicle 

 

4.7 Log to register each user 
access 

 

Page 153



Page 104 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

4.8 Log to register camera 
system parameter 
modifications 

 

4.9 Log to register each image 
download session 

 

4.10 Log to register 
modification / 
manipulation of 
downloaded 
images 

 

4.11 Log to register exporting of 
downloaded images 

 

4.12 Log to register exporting of 
downloaded clips 

 

4.13 Log file protected against 
un-authorised access 

 

4.14 Time/date stamp All stored images must be time and date stamped. 

4.15 Vehicle ID number stamp All stored images must have two fields for vehicle 
identification (VIN & number plate). 

4.16 Controller non-modifiable ID 
code stamp 

Each recorded image shall be automatically stamped 
with a unique and non-modifiable code that identifies 
the controller that was used to record the image. 

4.17 Controller (Storage 
Recorder) 

Manufacturer to supply Doncaster Council 
with a supply of specialised tools to allow for 
removal of the controller and download of 
data when required. 

 
5. Specifications for Video and Audio Recording Rate 

 

Reference Specification Details 

5.1 Video image recording on 
system activation (when 
audio is not activated). 

The system shall record images at the rate of four 
images per second. 

5.2 Video image recording when 
audio is activated. 

The system shall record images at the rate of 
twenty five images per second during periods when 
audio recording is activated (either due to time 
requirement, or through activation by the driver 
trigger switch or passenger panic button). 

5.3 When activated, audio 
recording must be in real 
time and synchronised 
with the video recording. 

 

5.4 System to continue to 
record images (and audio 
when applicable) when 
engine is off. 

System must continue to record images (and audio 
when applicable) for 30 minutes after engine / ignition 
is switched off. 

 
6. Specification for Activation via Driver or Passenger Trigger / Panic Buttons 

 

Reference Specification Detail 

6.1 The activation of a trigger 
button must provide for 
overwrite-protected image 
storage when activated by 
driver or passenger. 

The system must be fitted with at least two trigger 
buttons that once activated will trigger the protected 
recording of audio and video (see also 1.17 and 1.26 
above). 

Page 154



Page 105 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

6.2 Emergency image overwrite 
protection capability 

Image sequences resulting from emergency activation 
shall be recorded in an area of memory which is 
protected from being overwritten 

6.3 Overwrite protection 
capacity for at least 3 
activations 

 

6.4 Overwrite protection self-
clear on 96 hour timer 

 

 
7. Downloading Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

7.1 Time to download complete 
memory not to exceed 30 
minutes 

Time to download to be accomplished in 30 minutes or 
less. 

7.2 Provision of necessary 
software, cables, security 
keys to the Council’s 
Licensing Team. 

 

7.3 Windows 10 compatible.  

7.4 Downloaded images stored 
in non-volatile media 

 

7.5 Downloaded images stored 
in secure format 

 

7.6 Verifiable image authenticity Each image shall be stamped with controller ID and 
vehicle ID and be tamperproof. 

7.7 Provision of technical 
support to Doncaster 
Councils Licensing Officers 
when necessary. 

To assist in accessing system in case of damage to the 
vehicle or to the system in case of accident within 1 
hour during normal working hours and within 8 hours 
otherwise. 

7.8 Wireless Download 
Prohibited 

Unit must not allow for wireless downloads.  
Wireless diagnostic may be used.  
All wireless hardware to be disabled. 

7.9 Filter the specific images for 
events and times for the 
approximate time of the 
crime committed. 

 

 
8. Requirements in relation to System Information 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

8.1 Provision of service log 
sheet with each unit shipped 

The unit manufacturer shall have a service log 
shipped with the unit.  
The manufacturer shall also enclose detailed 
instructions for the drivers with each unit shipped.  
An installation manual shall also be furnished to 
authorised installers and fleet operators. 

8.2 Serial number indication on 
service log 

The unit will be marked with a serial number 

8.3 Installation date indication 
on service log 

The provision for the installer to indicate the installation 
date 

8.4 Provision of driver 
instruction card with each 
unit shipped 

 

Page 155



Page 106 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

8.5 Provision of installation 
manual to installers and 
fleet operators 

 

8.6 Clarity of operating 
instructions 

The system shall be provided with clear and concise 
operation instructions which are written with due 
consideration to varying levels of literacy. 

8.7 Installation by authorised 
agents 

The unit shall be installed by manufacturer’s authorised 
agents, or other installers approved by the Council 
(subject to agreement with the manufacturer). 

8.8 Provision of authorised 
agents list to Doncaster 
Councils Licensing Officers 

The manufacturer shall provide a list of all authorised 
agents to Doncaster Councils Licensing Officers. 

8.9 Documentation The manufacturer must provide clear and concise 
operating instructions which are written in layman’s 
terms. (Details on how the system records the images) 

8.10 Image Protection All captured images must be protected using 
encryption software that meets or exceeds the current 
FIPS 140-2 (level 2) standard or equivalent. 

 
9. System requirements in relation to Vehicle Inspection Facility – Inspections 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

9.1 Provision of system 
status/health indicator 

The driver shall have an indicator showing when the 
system is operational and when there is a malfunction. 

9.2 Mounting location of 
system status/health 
indicator to be seen by 
driver only 

The indicators shall be mounted/installed for the 
driver’s vision only.  
The indication system must be in accordance with 
section 9.3 and 9.4 below. 

9.3 Additional indicator 
requirement 

Where a system is fitted with an indicator to show that 
the system is on, this indicator shall be separate to 
those listed above or of a different colour to avoid any 
possible confusion on the part of the drivers using the 
system. 

9.4 Designed / installed to be 
testable by Doncaster 
Councils Licensing 
Officers (or persons acting 
on behalf of the Council – 
such as vehicle 
inspectors) 

The system shall be designed and installed such that 
the system may be easily tested by Doncaster Council 
Licensing staff to ensure that all features are operating 
and that images are being recorded as prescribed. 

 
10. General System Requirements 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

10.1 Vandal and tamper 
resistance 

 

10.2 Provision of statement of 
compliance 

In addition to a formal test of all aspects of this 
requirement specification, a statement of compliance 
shall be provided and signed by an officer of the 
company. 

10.3 Reliability in operational and 
environmental conditions 

The system shall provide reliable and full functionality 
in all operational and environmental conditions 
encountered in the operation of licensed vehicles. 

10.4 Programmability of image 
timing parameters 

It shall be possible to change timing and parameters 
without the requirement to change components. 

Page 156



Page 107 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

10.5 Training and Technical 
Support and Equipment 

Manufacturer must provide Doncaster Council 
Licensing Officers with a Training and Technical 
Manual.  
Supply a working unit to Doncaster Council Licensing 
for testing purposes. 

10.6 Software and Hardware Manufacturer to supply Doncaster Council Licensing 
Officers with a supply of cables and software to be 
installed under the supervision of the Council’s 
authorised staff. 

10.7 Agreement between the 
Camera Manufacturer and 
Doncaster Council 

Agreement to allow Doncaster Council access to the 
relevant software from the manufacturer so that in 
the event the manufacturer goes out of business, 
council will be able to support the system. 

 
  

Page 157



Page 108 of 108 

Revision Date 25 January 2021  Policy Version 10.1 

 
Contact Details: 
 
Licensing Department 
Doncaster Council 
Civic Office 
Waterdale 
Doncaster  
DN1 3BU 
 
www.doncaster.gov.uk/licensing  
 
Email: licensing@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 158



 
  

 
APPENDIX B 

 
Change Log 
 
The below document shows the proposed amendments to the existing specification 
document contained in the Policy. 
 

CCTV Technical Specification 
 

The following technical specifications and system requirements must be met before a 
camera system can be considered suitable to be installed in a Doncaster licensed 
vehicle. 
 

 1. Operational Technical Specifications  
 

Reference Specification Details 

1.1 100% solid state design or a 
proven vibration and shock 
resistant system. 

The system should not have any fan and the 
recording should be vibration and shock proof, i.e.: 
Flash-based SSD (100% industrial grade), Hard disk 
with both mechanical anti-vibration and anti-shock 
mechanism and self-recovery and self-check file writing 
system. 
SD cards will not be acceptable 

1.2 8 to 3615 Volts DC Operational between 8 and 3615 volts DC 

1.3 Reverse polarity protected System to be protected against reverse voltage. 

1.4 Short circuit prevention System to be protected against short circuits 

1.5 Over voltage protection System to be protected against high voltage transients 
likely to be encountered in the vehicle electrical 
system. 

1.6 Automotive Electromagnetic 
Compatibility Requirements 

The in-vehicle taxi camera system must be 
compliant with the Council Directives: 

- 2004/108/EC on Electromagnetic 
Compatibility (CISPR 22/EN55022), 

- 2004/104/EC on Radio Interference (sections 6.5, 
6.6, 6.8 and 6.9) 

 
The camera equipment should therefore be e-
marked or CE-marked with confirmation by the 
equipment manufacturer as being non-immunity 
related and suitable for use in motor vehicles. 

1.7 System override activation 
(on / off) switch to be 
located in a position where it 
is not accessible from inside 
the vehicle (i.e. in the boot / 
engine compartment).The 
override switch must be 
illuminated when switched 
‘’on’’ 

The system is required to be active at all times that 
the vehicle is being used as a licensed vehicle.  
This will allow the facility for the system to be 
deactivated during times when the vehicle is being 
used for private purposes (e.g. domestic use).  
The switch that deactivates the system must be 
located within the vehicles boot or engine 
compartment (i.e. it .must not be possible to 
deactivate the system immediately or from inside of 
the vehicle) it must only be possible to deactivate the 
system from outside of the vehicle). 

1.8 First-in/first-out buffer 
recording principle 

The system must automatically overwrite to create a 
constant cycle recording 

Page 159



 

1.9 Access record 
Built-in, automatic logging of 
all access actions, including 
date and personnel names 

A service log must be kept and maintained by the 
approved installer and the local authority. 

1.10 Security, duration and auto- 
clearing of log files 

 

1.11 Image recording formats 
and mediaImage export 
formats and media 

Images must be encrypted to a minimum of FIPS 140/2 
Images must be exported in commercially available 
formats. 

1.12 Image protection during 
power disruption 

Images must be preserved in the event of loss of 
power. Battery back-up will not be permitted 

1.13 Unit must operate without 
the ignition being turned on. 

The Unit must have the ability to operate for at least 21 
hours without power from the ignition. 
The device must be hard wired to both constant and 
ignition supply. 

1.14 Image and audio data shall 
be recorded and stored in a 
unit separate from the 
camera head. 

Self-contained storage cards within the camera head 
will not be acceptable. 

1.15 GPS capability System must have be compatible to allow for GPS 
capability. 

1.167 The system must be 
capable of recording audio 
time synchronized to the 
recorded images.The 
system shall not record 
audio except when audio 
recording is activated by 
means of an approved 
trigger. 

If activated, the audio must record within the video 
file. 
The system should have the ability to start recording 
audio data by means of at least two trigger buttons 
(see also 1.26 below). 
 
One trigger button must be capable of being 
activated by the driver.  
Once the trigger is activated the system must begin 
to record audio data.  
The system will continue to record audio until the 
same trigger is activated again.  
The second activation of the trigger must result in the 
cessation of audio recording (e.g. a button could be 
pressed to begin audio recording, pressing the 
button again would stop audio recording). 

 
A separate independent trigger button must be 
located on each passenger row of seating within the 
vehicle and be capable of being activated by any 
passenger occupying that row.The second trigger 
button must be capable of being activated by the 
passengers in the vehicle independently of the 
driver.  
Once the trigger is activated the system must begin 
to record audio data.  
The system will continue to record audio until the 
same trigger is activated again. The second 
activation of the trigger must result in the cessation 
of audio recording (e.g. a button could be pressed to 
begin audio recording, pressing the button again 
would stop audio recording). 
 
Both audio activation triggers must be independent 
of each other – this means that audio recording can 

Page 160



 

only be deactivated by means of the same trigger 
(driver or passenger) that was used to activate the 
audio recording. 

1.176 The system shall not 
record audio except when 
audio recording is 
activated by means of an 
approved trigger 
switchThe system must be 
capable of recording audio 
time synchronized to the 
recorded images. 

The system should have the ability to start recording 
audio data by means of a trigger switch. 

1.18 The audio playback, 
when triggered, shall be 
in ‘real time’ and 
synchronised with the 
images that are captured. 

All audio files must simply be added to the video files 
as a voiceover, not in separate files 

1.19 Digital sampling of the 
audio signal must exceed 
8KHz 

 

1.20 Digital resolution of the 
audio samples must 
exceed 10 bits. 

 

1.21 The audio microphone 
shall be integrated within 
the camera head. 

 

1.22 Audio data and image 
data must be stored 
together, not in separate 
files, and must be 
protected against 
unauthorised access or 
tampering. 

 

1.23 The system must support 
testing of the audio 
function for installation 
set-up and inspection 
purposes. 

 

1.24 The system must ‘go to 
sleep’ to reduce battery 
drain during prolonged 
idle time.  
It must be capable of 
immediate reactivation 

 

1.25 Images rRecorded 
images by the system 
shall not be displayed 
within the vehicle. 

Any monitors may only display live images as clearly 
visible by having a glance around as per ICO 
specifications, it must not display recorded images 

1.26 The system must have at 
least two trigger switches 
for audio activationThe 
system must have at 
least two emergency 
activation triggers (panic 
buttons). 

If activated, the audio must record within the video 
file. 
The system should have the ability to start 
recording audio data by means of at least two 
trigger buttons. 
 
One trigger button must be capable of being 

Page 161



 

activated by the driver.  
 
A separate independent trigger button must be 
located on each passenger row of seating within 
the vehicle and be capable of being activated by 
any passenger occupying that row.One of the 
triggers / panic buttons must be capable of being 
operated by the driver – this must be independent 
of the audio recording activation switch. 
 
At least one other trigger / panic button must be 
capable of being operated by a passenger from any 
passenger seat in the vehicle. Once activated, this 
switch must trigger the recording of video and audio 
in accordance with section 6.1 below. 

1.27 The system must include 
a visual indicator that will 
clearly show when audio 
recording is taking place. 
This indicator must be 
visible to all passengers 
within the vehicle. 

This may take the form of an indicator LED built into 
the audio activation switch, or a remote LED that can 
clearly be seen by passengers. 

 
2. Storage Capacity Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

2.1 Minimum of 28 days  
i.e. (28 x 24 hours) of 
recording capacityMinimum 
of twenty-one days of 
recording capacity 

The camera system must be capable of recording and 
storing a minimum of twenty eight days of images of 
HD1 (720/288) size or better.The camera system must 
be capable of recording and storing a minimum of 
twenty-one days of images of HD1 (720/288) size or 
better. 

2.2 Images must be clear in all 
lighting conditions 

System to provide clear images in bright sunshine, 
shade, dark and total darkness. Also, when strong 
back light is present without the need for additional 
components.System to provide clear images in bright 
sunshine, shade, dark and total darkness.  
Also, when strong back light is present. 

 
3. Camera Head Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

3.1 Camera installation non- 
obstructive 

The camera and all system components shall be 
installed in a manner that does not interfere with the 
driver’s vision or view of mirrors or otherwise normal 
operation of the vehicle. 

3.2 Protected camera 
disconnect 

The camera head shall be designed to disconnect for 
ease of removal and replacement by maintenance 
personnel. 

3.3 Special tools for 
adjustment/removal 

To prevent inappropriate interference only tools 
supplied to authorised fitters should be capable of 
carrying out adjustments or removal. 

3.4 Field of view to capture all 
passengers in the vehicle 

The lens or the position of the camera must be of a 
type that captures the driver and all passengers of the 
vehicle on the recorded image. The lens must be of a 
style not to create a “fishbowl” effect.The lens of the 

Page 162



 

camera must be of a type that captures the driver and 
all passengers of the vehicle on the recorded image.  
The lens must be of a style not to create a “fishbowl” 
effect. 

3.5 Images must be clear System to provide clear images in all lighting 
conditions and allow different skin tones to be detected 

3.6 Compatible for use in 
vehicles with a partition 
screen 

The camera system must be adaptable to provide clear 
images when a vehicle is equipped with a partition 
screen.  
This may be accomplished with the use of multiple 
camera heads. 

3.7 Multiple cameras The unit shall be capable of supporting up to four (4) 
cameras. Four cameras may be required to provide 
adequate coverage in larger vehicles and/or certain 
purpose built vehicles or external images.The unit 
shall be capable of supporting up to four (4) 
cameras.  
Four cameras may be required to provide adequate 
coverage in larger vehicles and/or certain purpose 
built vehicles. 

 
4. Storage Device (Recorder) Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

4.1 Impact and shock resistance The recorder shall be impact resistant, sufficient to 
withstand a typical car accident, or striking with a large, 
heavy object such as a suitcase. 

4.2 Controller in concealed 
location 

The storage unit shall be concealed from within the 
passenger compartment and effectively inaccessible 
except by authorised personnel. For example in the 
luggage areaThe storage unit shall be concealed from 
view and effectively inaccessible except by authorised 
personnel. 

4.3 Download port provision The recorder shall be equipped with a communication 
port within the hard drive housing for downloading by 
authorised officerThe recorder shall be equipped with a 
communication port for downloading by authorised 
personnel. 

4.4 Download port shall be 
located in an easily 
accessible location 
such as a glove 
compartment. 

The recorder download port shall be located in the 
glove box if practicable, if not then in a location that 
does not require the removal of panels and is 
accessible. 

4.5 Download port cable length 
(300 millimetres minimum) 

Where required, any Ddownload port shall be at least 
300 millimetres in length for ease of download. 

4.6 Recorder to be securely 
affixed to the vehicle 

 

4.7 Log to register each user 
access 

 

4.8 Log to register camera 
system parameter 
modifications 

 

4.9 Log to register each image 
download session 

 

4.10 Log to register  

Page 163



 

modification / 
manipulation of 
downloaded 
images 

4.11 Log to register exporting of 
downloaded images 

 

4.12 Log to register exporting of 
downloaded clips 

 

4.13 Log file protected against 
un-authorised access 

 

4.14 Time/date stamp All stored images must be time and date stamped. 

4.15 Vehicle ID number stamp All stored images must have vehicle identification (VIN 
& or number plate).All stored images must have two 
fields for vehicle identification (VIN & number plate). 

4.16 Controller non-modifiable ID 
code stamp 

Each recorded image shall be automatically stamped 
with a unique and non-modifiable code that identifies 
the controller that was used to record the image. 

4.17 Controller (Storage 
Recorder) 

Manufacturer to supply Doncaster Council 
with a supply of specialised tools to allow for 
removal of the controller and download of 
data when required. 

 
5. Specifications for Video and Audio Recording Rate 

 

Reference Specification Details 

5.1 Video image recording on 
system activation (when 
audio is not activated). 

The system shall record images at a minimum rate of 
twenty five (25) images per second.The system shall 
record images at the rate of four images per second. 

5.2 Video image recording when 
audio is activated. 

The system shall record images at the rate of 
twenty five images per second during periods when 
audio recording is activated (either due to time 
requirement, or through activation by the driver 
trigger switch or passenger panicaudio button). 

5.3 When activated, audio 
recording must be in real 
time and synchronised 
with the video recording. 

When activated, audio recording must be in real time 
and synchronised with the video recording. 

5.4 System to continue to 
record images (and audio 
when applicable) when 
engine is off. 

System must continue to record images (and audio 
when applicable) for 1 hour after engine / ignition or 
override switch is switched off.System must continue to 
record images (and audio when applicable) for 30 
minutes after engine / ignition is switched off. 

 
6. Specification for Activation via Driver or Passenger Trigger / AudioPanic Buttons 

 

Reference Specification Detail 

6.1 The activation of a trigger 
button when activated by 
driver or passenger.The 
activation of a trigger button 
must provide for overwrite-
protected image storage 
when activated by driver or 
passenger. 

The system must be fitted with at least two trigger 
buttons that once activated will trigger the protected 
recording of audio and video (see also 1.17 and 1.26 
above). 

Page 164



 

6.2 Emergency image overwrite 
protection capability 

Image sequences resulting from emergency activation 
shall be recorded in an area of memory which is 
protected from being overwritten 

6.3 Overwrite protection 
capacity for at least 3 
activations 

 

6.4 Overwrite protection self-
clear on 96 hour timer 

 

 
7. Downloading Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

7.1 Time to download complete 
memory not to exceed 30 
minutes 

Time to download to be accomplished in 30 minutes or 
less. 

7.2 Provision of necessary 
software, cables, security 
keys to the Council’s 
Licensing Team. 

 

7.3 Windows 10 compatible. Once downloaded and converted 

7.4 Downloaded images stored 
in non-volatile media 

 

7.5 Downloaded images stored 
in secure format 

 

7.6 Verifiable image authenticity Each image shall be watermarked with vehicle ID, and 
time and date, and be tamperproof.Each image shall 
be stamped with controller ID and vehicle ID and be 
tamperproof. 

7.7 Provision of technical 
support to Doncaster 
Councils Licensing 
Officersteam when 
necessary. 

To assist in accessing system in case of damage to the 
vehicle or to the system in case of accident within a 
reasonable time frameTo assist in accessing system in 
case of damage to the vehicle or to the system in case 
of accident within 1 hour during normal working hours 
and within 8 hours otherwise. 

7.8 Wireless Download 
Prohibited 

Unit must not allow for wireless downloads.  
Wireless diagnostic may be used.  
All wireless hardware to be disabled. 

7.9 Filter the specific images for 
events and times for the 
approximate time of the 
crime committed. 

The playback software must list the files in date and 
time slot order for ease of location of required file. 

 
8. Requirements in relation to System Information 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

8.1 Provision of service log  
Provision of service log 
sheet with each unit shipped 

The unit manufacturer shall have a service log. The 
manufacturer shall also provide detailed instructions for 
the drivers with each unit.The unit manufacturer shall 
have a service log shipped with the unit.  
The manufacturer shall also enclose detailed 
instructions for the drivers with each unit shipped.  
An installation manual shall also be furnished to 
authorised installers and fleet operators. 

8.2 Serial number indication on 
service log 

The unit will be marked with a serial number 

Page 165



 

8.3 Installation date indication 
Installation date indication 
on service log 

A certificate of installation must be provided which will 
indicate the installation dateThe provision for the 
installer to indicate the installation date 

8.4 Clarity of operating 
instructions 
Provision of driver 
instruction card with each 
unit shipped 

The system shall be provided with clear and concise 
operation instructions which are written or presented 
with due consideration to varying levels of literacy. 

8.5 Installation by authorised 
agentsProvision of 
installation manual to 
installers and fleet operators 

The unit shall only be installed by manufacturer’s 
authorised agents. 

8.6 Provision of authorised 
agents list to the Council 
Licensing TeamClarity of 
operating instructions 

The manufacturer or supplier shall provide a list of all 
authorised agents to the Council Licensing Team.The 
system shall be provided with clear and concise 
operation instructions which are written with due 
consideration to varying levels of literacy. 

8.7 Documentation 
Installation by authorised 
agents 

The manufacturer must provide clear and concise 
operating instructions which are written or presented in 
layman’s terms. (Details on how the system 
operates)The unit shall be installed by manufacturer’s 
authorised agents, or other installers approved by the 
Council (subject to agreement with the manufacturer). 

8.8 Image Protection 
Provision of authorised 
agents list to Doncaster 
Councils Licensing Officers 

All captured images must be protected using 
encryption software that meets or exceeds the current 
FIPS 140-2 (level 2) standard or equivalent.The 
manufacturer shall provide a list of all authorised 
agents to Doncaster Councils Licensing Officers. 

8.9 Documentation The manufacturer must provide clear and concise 
operating instructions which are written in layman’s 
terms. (Details on how the system records the images) 

8.10 Image Protection All captured images must be protected using 
encryption software that meets or exceeds the current 
FIPS 140-2 (level 2) standard or equivalent. 

 
9. System requirements in relation to Vehicle Inspection Facility – Inspections 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

9.1 Provision of system 
status/health indicator 

The driver shall have an indicator showing when the 
system is operational and when there is a malfunction. 
.This should include the images as shown to verify the 
status of each camera. 

9.2 Mounting location of 
system status/health 
indicator to be 
seenMounting location of 
system status/health 
indicator to be seen by 
driver only 

The indicators shall be mounted in such a way so 
as to allow for ease of view.The indicators shall be 
mounted/installed for the driver’s vision only.  
The indication system must be in accordance with 
section 9.3 and 9.4 below. 

9.3 Design and or installation to 
be testable as part of the 
vehicle compliance test (or 
persons acting on behalf of 
the council – such as 
vehicle inspectors)Additional 
indicator requirement 

The system shall be designed and installed such that 
the system may be easily tested as part of vehicle 
compliance test as prescribed. 
Where a system is fitted with an indicator to show that 
the system is on, this indicator shall be separate to 
those listed above or of a different colour to avoid any 
possible confusion on the part of the drivers using the 
system. 

Page 166



 

9.4 Designed / installed to be 
testable by Doncaster 
Councils Licensing 
Officers (or persons acting 
on behalf of the Council – 
such as vehicle 
inspectors) 

The system shall be designed and installed such that 
the system may be easily tested by Doncaster Council 
Licensing staff to ensure that all features are operating 
and that images are being recorded as prescribed. 

 
10. General System Requirements 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

10.1 Vandal and tamper 
resistance 

All component parts must be securely mounted, hard 
wired and small and discreet enough to remove the 
risk of tampering. 

10.2 Provision of statement of 
compliance 

In addition to a formal test of all aspects of this 
requirement specification, a statement of compliance 
shall be provided and signed by an officer of the 
company. 

10.3 Reliability in operational and 
environmental conditions 

The system shall provide reliable and full functionality 
in all operational and environmental conditions 
encountered in the operation of licensed vehicles. 

10.4 Programmability of image 
timing parameters 

It shall be possible to change timing and parameters 
without the requirement to change components. 

10.5 Training and Technical 
Support and Equipment 

Manufacturer must provide Doncaster Council 
Licensing TeamOfficers with a Training and Technical 
Support. Manual.  
Supply a working unit to Doncaster Council Licensing 
for testing purposes. 

10.6 Software and Hardware Manufacturer to supply Doncaster Council Licensing 
TeamOfficers with a supply of cables and software to 
be installed under the supervision of the Council’s 
authorised staff. 

10.7 Agreement between the 
Camera Manufacturer and 
Doncaster Council 

Agreement to allow Doncaster Council access to the 
relevant software from the manufacturersupplier so 
that in the event the manufacturer goes out of 
business, council will be able to support the system. 

 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL 

Page 1 of 3 

OFFICIAL 

Doncaster Taxi Data

METHODOLOGY

Compiled by Ben Stone SCS Intelligence Analyst Owner Mark Payling 

EXT AnalystRequests@southyorks.pnn.police.uk Ref 
AN21JUL44 – 
Doncaster Taxis 

Data Period 01/04/19 – 23/07/21 

Protective 
Marking & 
Handling 
Instructions 

Official 

Aim & 
Purpose 

The aim of this analysis is to highlight the extent of crime associated with taxis and whether the 
introduction of the requirement for taxi firms to install CCTV might help prevent and/or reduce some 
of these crimes. 

The purpose is to support a requirement to change licensing conditions. 

Sources & 
Parameters 

Data is extracted from Connect on 23/07/21 (using ‘First Date Committed’) and has been identified 
using one of the following caveats: 

• Premise Type is equal to/is in ‘Taxi Rank’

• Initial MO contains any ‘taxi’ or Investigation Summary contains any ‘taxi’

• MO Desc 2 is equal to/is in ‘Taxi – Hackney/Minicab/Private Hire; Taxi Driver; Taxi Driver –

Private hire, mini cab, hackney cab; Taxi Office; Taxi Rank’ or MO Desc 3 is equal to/is in ‘Taxi

Driver; Taxi Driver – Private hire, mini cab, hackney cab; Taxi Rank’

• Vehicle Make Model is equal to/is in ‘GRANADA TAXI; TAXI/HIRE CAR; LONDON TAXIS INT;

TAXI/HIRE CAR AUTO’ or Vehicle Make Desc is equal to/is in ‘LONDON TAXIS INT’ or Vehicle

Type Desc is equal to/is in ‘Taxi’ or Vehicle Style is equal to/is in ‘CARBODIES LONDON TAXI;

CARBODIES TAXI; Carbodies Taxi/Hire Cae; E7 TAXI; E7 XS TAXI; Euro Taxi; EUROTAXI LX;

EXPERT E7 TAXI; LEVC VISTA COMFORT PLUS TAXI; London taxi’s; Peugeot E7 taxi; Taxi

estate; VITO 111 CDI TAXI RWS A’

Limitations 

Due to the methods of data extraction and anomalies with the geocoding of data, any figures 
provided within this report should be treated as unaudited.  The force has a clear policy on the issuing 
of unaudited data externally and should you wish to share this data externally you take full 
responsibility for doing so. 

This report is the position of South Yorkshire Police as of 28/07/2021. Any changes to the data 
following this date will not be captured within the report. Therefore, if the data held within the report 
is required for use elsewhere in the future, due to the Retain, Review and Delete requirements of 
MOPI, additional checks may be required to ensure accuracy of information.  

The methodology as outlined extracted data where ‘Taxi’ was contained within the Initial MO or 
Investigation Summary fields, this returned over 500 results and provided the majority of the volumes 
outlined in this report (93%).  

A small dip check of these highlighted that approximately half of the sample referred to a taxi but 
was used to transport either the victim/suspect at some point in the timeline for the incident. 
Therefore, the volumes in this report does not necessarily mean that the incident took place in the 
taxi. For example, the victim/suspect took a taxi to arrive at the location where the offence would 
later take place, or the victim is waiting in a taxi rank but there are no taxis present. Therefore, please 
keep in mind, CCTV within the taxi may not prevent/reduce some of the above crimes. 

APPENDIX C

Page 169



OFFICIAL 
 

Page 2 of 3 

OFFICIAL 

Summary: 
There were a total of 623 Offences highlighted during the time period stated. 
The majority of these were VAP Offences (32.6%), followed by Theft (26.6%).  
 
The table below shows a breakdown of offences by HO Group & Sub Group: 
 

HO Group & Sub Group No. of Offences % of Total 

ARSON AND CRIMINAL DAMAGE 67 10.8% 

CRIMINAL DAMAGE 67 10.8% 

BURGLARY 16 2.6% 

BURGLARY BUSINESS AND COMMUNITY 4 0.6% 

BURGLARY RESIDENTIAL 12 1.9% 

DRUG OFFENCES 5 0.8% 

POSSESSION OF DRUGS 3 0.5% 

TRAFFICKING OF DRUGS 2 0.3% 

MISCELLANEOUS CRIMES AGAINST SOCIETY 14 2.2% 

MISC CRIMES AGAINST SOCIETY 14 2.2% 

POSSESSION OF WEAPONS 7 1.1% 

POSSESSION OF WEAPONS 7 1.1% 

PUBLIC ORDER OFFENCES 76 12.2% 

OTHER OFFENCES PUBLIC ORDER 8 1.3% 

PUBLIC FEAR, ALARM OR DISTRESS 55 8.8% 

RACE OR RELIGIOUS AGG PUBLIC FEAR 12 1.9% 

VIOLENT DISORDER 1 0.2% 

ROBBERY 10 1.6% 

ROBBERY OF BUSINESS PROPERTY 1 0.2% 

ROBBERY OF PERSONAL PROPERTY 9 1.4% 

SEXUAL OFFENCES 33 5.3% 

OTHER SEXUAL OFFENCES 20 3.2% 

RAPE 13 2.1% 

THEFT 166 26.6% 

OTHER THEFT 151 24.2% 

SHOPLIFTING 4 0.6% 

THEFT FROM THE PERSON 11 1.8% 

VEHICLE OFFENCES 26 4.2% 

AGGRAVATED VEHICLE TAKING 1 0.2% 

INTERFERING WITH A MOTOR VEHICLE 2 0.3% 

THEFT FROM A VEHICLE 14 2.2% 

THEFT OR UNAUTH TAKING OF A MOTOR VEH 9 1.4% 

VIOLENCE AGAINST THE PERSON 203 32.6% 

STALKING AND HARASSMENT 40 6.4% 

VIOLENCE WITH INJURY 78 12.5% 

VIOLENCE WITHOUT INJURY 85 13.6% 

Grand Total 623  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



OFFICIAL 
 

Page 3 of 3 

OFFICIAL 

The graph below shows the total volume of offences per month for the time period: 
 

 
 
There are four noticeable peaks during this time period: 
September & December 2019, August 2020 and May 2021. 
 
Although since April 2020 there has been a significant decline in the average number of offences. 
 

 Average 

Pre-April 2020 27 

Post-April 2020 18 
 
Therefore, it can be strongly inferred that Covid-19 restrictions have had a significant impact on the number of crimes 
related to taxis. With very few premises open and little NTE, the use of taxis will have drastically reduced during the 
national lockdowns.  
It can also be inferred that the two peaks in August 2020 and May 2021 are due to the easing of restrictions from the 
first lockdown in July 2020 and the third in April 2021. 
It appears that current volumes are not ‘true’ volumes and that once restrictions are fully eased, volumes of offences 
involving taxis are likely to increase and revert to the volumes seen in 2019 and early 2020. 
 
 
 

32

20

25 26
23

35

9

24

45

35 34

21

10
12

17
21

37

20

15 14
17 16

13

20

15

36

21

10

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

A
p

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
p

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

O
ct

N
o

v

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
p

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

2019 2020 2021

Total Offences per Month

Total

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C1 

 

Licensing Complaint Statistics 

 

Background 

 

The licensing authority is responsible for the granting and enforcement of ‘taxi’ 

licences. 

 

When a ‘taxi’ complaint is received it is recorded on the Councils database under 

one of four categories: 

 

 Operator 

 Vehicle 

 Driver 

 Driver – Inappropriate Behaviour 

 

Examples of how complaints are allocated to each category 

 

 ‘’I telephoned Example Cabs and booked a taxi to take me to the train station 

but the taxi did not arrive’’. – This would be recorded as an Operator 

complaint 

 

 ‘’I was driving behind taxi number 1234 and his right rear brake light is not 

working’’ – This would be recorded as a Vehicle complaint 

 

 ‘’I was travelling in taxi number 4321 and he charged me £10 for a journey 

which normally costs me £7’’ – This would be recorded as a Driver 

Complaint. 

 

 ‘’I was travelling alone late at night in the back of taxi number 5678, during 

the journey the driver pulled over and asked me to get in the front passenger 

seat, I told him no. At the end of the journey he asked if he could have my 

phone number, I told him no. The driver made me feel uncomfortable about 

travelling alone’’. – This would be recorded as the more serious category of 

Driver Inappropriate Behaviour.  

 

In order to produce statistical data for this report, the licensing officer reviewed the 

number of ‘Driver’ and ‘Driver – Inappropriate Behaviour’ complaints received by 

licensing for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021. 

 

Each complaint was assessed to see if CCTV would have assisted in the 

investigation in to the complaint. 

 

Page 173



The first requirement is that the incident which lead to the complaint being made 

would have to have happened inside the licensed vehicle so that it would have been 

captured on in-car CCTV. 

 

Complaints which were solely regarding allegations that the vehicle was believed to 

be speeding, or the driver was not taking the most direct route were discounted as 

CCTV would not record the speed or direction of travel. 

 

Complaints regarding disputes over the fare are included in the figures on the basis 

that any in-car CCTV system would have the ability to record audio and would 

capture the conversation between the driver and passengers. 

 

Complaints which were resolved through investigation, regardless of the outcome, 

are also included in the figures as it is reasonable to expect that the ability to review 

CCTV would have meant that the investigation would have been concluded sooner, 

saving officer time. 

 

The outcome of the investigation in to the complaints have not been included in the 

report but it should be noted that not all complaints resulted in formal action being 

taken against a licensed driver.  

 

In most cases, without CCTV, a complaint is between 2 individuals, the driver and 

the passenger, and the investigating officer must consider both parties version of 

events without any evidence to support either side. 

 

There were also a number of complaints where the complainants’ version of events 

were shown to be inconsistent or the complainant would not engage with 

investigating officers. 

 

False or exaggerated complaints can and do happen. The effect of a complaint on a 

driver’s ability to work and earn a living can be immediately impacted by suspension 

or revocation of their licence even if the complaint is investigated and found to be 

malicious and unfounded and the licence is reinstated, the driver would not be able 

to work during the investigation and would therefore suffer a financial loss.  

 

It is important to make the point that where present, the benefits of protecting an 

individual due to the presence of an in-car CCTV system are as much for the driver 

as they are for the passenger.  

 

In order to allow for a comparison between the ‘costs versus the benefits’ of installing 

an in-car CCTV system, the complaint categories have been kept separate. The 

benefits of resolving a high number of ‘minor’ ‘Driver’ complaints (where the outcome 

is unlikely to result in the suspension or revocation of licence) may not be perceived 

to outweigh the cost to the licence holder of installing a CCTV system. Equally, the 

benefit of reviewing CCTV in order to evidence and resolve an allegation of a serious 

Page 174



offence to or by a driver or passenger may well exceed the financial cost of installing 

a CCTV system. 

 

Results 

 

The number of complaints the authority received during the period 1 April 2018 - 31 

March 2021, which were assigned to the category of ‘Driver Complaint’. 

 

2018/19 86 

2019/20 126 

2020/21 51 

Total for the period 263 

Number where CCTV would have been beneficial 31 (11.79%) 

 

The number of complaints the authority received during the period 1 April 2018 – 31 

March 2021, which were assigned to more serious category of ‘Driver – 

Inappropriate Behaviour’. 

 

2018/19 5 

2019/20 4 

2020/21 1 

Total for the period 10 

Number where CCTV would have been beneficial 5 (50%) 

 

Combined figures 

 

Combined total of complaints received 2018-2021 273 

Combined total of complaints where CCTV would have assisted 36 (13.19%) 

 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C2 

 
Article 1  
 

Police have released an image of a man 
after an attack on a taxi in Doncaster 
 

Police have released a CCTV image of a man they 
would like to speak to in connection to an incident of 
criminal damage in Armthorpe. 
 
It is reported that on December 21, 2020, at around 4.45am two men got into a taxi 
with a dog in Mansfield Crescent.  
 
After being asked by the driver to remove the dog from the seat to the footwell, the 
men exited the vehicle and became violent.  
 
One of the men is reported to have kicked the passenger side door repeatedly, 
causing damage.  
 
The taxi driver was uninjured and was able to drive away from the scene. 
 
An investigation was launched and since the incident occurred police have 
conducted a number of enquiries to track down the men.  

 
Source: Doncaster Free Press, 8 April 2021 

  

Page 177



Article 2  
 

Doncaster woman who made racially 
aggravated threats and skipped taxi fare 
given curfew 
 
A Doncaster woman who threatened a South Yorkshire 
man and skipped a taxi fare has been put on an 
electronically-monitored curfew, court records show. 
 
____ ____ carried out the offences on December 12, 2019 and appeared before 
Doncaster Magistrates’ Court to find out her fate more than a year later. 
 
Records show that the 25-year-old, of ____ Avenue, Doncaster, refused to pay her 
taxi fare in the Rotherham area, and used threatening words or behaviour intended 
to cause harassment, alarm or distress, court records show. 
 
Magistrates found her offending was racially aggravated, when she admitted them to 
the court at an earlier hearing on December 12 last year. 
 
The case was adjourned until this week to allow the Probation Service to prepare 
pre-sentence reports. 
 
____ was given a community order to include a six-week electronically-monitored 
curfew between 7pm and 7am at an address in _____ Road, Doncaster, until 
February 22 this year. 
 
She must pay £66 in compensation, an £85 victim surcharge and £40 costs. 
 

Source: Doncaster Free Press, 12 January 2021 
 
  

Page 178



 
Article 3  
 

Man hunted over taxi driver robbery in 
Doncaster 

 
A man who threw a liquid over a Doncaster taxi driver 
and stole his mobile phone is being hunted by the 
police. 
 
He flagged the taxi down on Linden Walk, Toll Bar, at around 12.30am on 
Wednesday, June 13 before opening the car door and throwing an unknown 
substance over the driver. 
 
The crook then grabbed the taxi driver’s phone before fleeing towards the Manor 
Estate, Toll Bar. 
 
South Yorkshire Police said the 55-year-old taxi driver was unharmed. 
 
The substance hurled at the man is not believed to have been noxious. 
 
An E-fit has been released of the man wanted over the incident. 
 
A South Yorkshire Police spokesman said: "Officers investigating have carried out 
enquiries in the area and explored CCTV opportunities and are now asking for your 
help to identify the man in the E-fit image. 
 

Source: The Star, 28 June 2018 

 
  

Page 179



Article 4  
 

NEWS: Man jailed for taxi driver robbery 
 
A 22-year-old man has been jailed for over two years for 
robbing a taxi driver in Rotherham last year. 
 
____ ____, formerly of ____ Close, Rotherham, appeared at Sheffield Crown Court 
on Tuesday 5 March where he was sentenced to two-and-a-half years in prison. 
 
He pleaded guilty to robbery at an earlier hearing. 
 
In January 2018, ____ ordered a taxi from a pub in Swallownest.  
 
Once he was in the taxi, ____ threatened the driver and assaulted him, demanding 
he hand over cash. 
 
The driver handed over some cash before ____ fled the taxi, but the whole incident 
was captured on CCTV and ____ was subsequently arrested and charged. 
 
PC Paul McIntyre, the investigating officer, said: “I am pleased that ____ accepted 
responsibility for his crimes and has received a custodial sentence. 
 
“His victim was left deeply affected by the incident, and now no longer works at night 
due to fear. I hope that the victim is reassured by the sentence given to ____ and 
this should send a message that this type of behaviour will not be tolerated.” 
 

Source: South Yorkshire Police Facebook Page, 19 March 2019 

 
 
 

Page 180



APPENDIX C3 

 

Indicative pricing for the supply and installation of an in-car CCTV system 

 

Company 1. 

 

Standard vehicles (Saloon/Hatchback) £550 - £750 

Special (Electric, Hybrid and stop/start) vehicles £560 - £770 

Large Vehicles (Minibuses & MPV’s) £550 - £750 

 

Additional equipment (if required) 

CAN Bus contactless reader & CANNECT Unit £49.00 

Additional Panic Button £40.00 

Additional (3rd) camera £97.00 

 

Yearly System Check £50 

Repairs & maintenance £40 - £50 per hour 

Technical Support £50 - £65 per hour 

 

Company 2. 

 

Equipment and Installation (installed in Manchester) £500 

Equipment and Installation (Local installer) £600 

 

Company 3. 

 

Equipment and Installation £450 

 

Swap an existing system to another vehicle £160 

 

Company 4. 

 

Equipment and Installation £2620.24 

 

Company 5. 

 

Equipment and Installation £600 - £700 plus VAT 

 

Company 6. 

 

Equipment and Installation £600 - £700 plus VAT 

 

Conclusion 

 

Disregarding the price provided by Company 4, which is disproportionate to the 
prices provided by the other companies, the approximate cost to the vehicle licence 
holder ranges from £450 - £770. 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C4 

 

Extracts from the Department for Transport document ‘Statutory Taxi & Private 

Hire Vehicle Standards’ (July 2020) 

 

1.1 There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a 

high-risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in 

abuse and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in 

some cases perpetrated by the trade and the number of sexual crimes 

reported which involve taxi and private hire vehicle drivers. Links between the 

trade and child sexual abuse and exploitation have been established in many 

areas and other investigations continue. Data on reported sexual assaults by 

taxi and private hire vehicle drivers evidence the risk to passengers; data from 

Greater Manchester and Merseyside suggest that, if similar offence patterns 

are applied across England, 623 sexual assaults per year are reported. These 

figures do not however account for the under reporting of crime which is 

estimated to be as high as 83 percent in the Crime Survey for England and 

Wales. 

 

1.2 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the Secretary of State for Transport 

to issue statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle 

licensing functions to protect children and vulnerable individuals who are over 

18 from harm when using these services. For the purposes of this document, 

a child is defined as anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday; and 

the term “vulnerable individual” has the same meaning as the definition of a 

‘vulnerable adult’ for the purpose of section 42 of the Care Act 2014, which 

applies where a local authority has reasonable cause to suspect that an adult 

in its area (whether or not ordinarily resident there): 

 

(a) has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is 

meeting any of those needs), 

 

(b) is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and 

 

(c) as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself 

against the abuse or neglect or the risk of it. 

 

1.3 Whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards is on 

protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will benefit from the 

recommendations contained in it. There is consensus that common core 

minimum standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire 

vehicle sector, and the recommendations in this document are the result of 

detailed discussion with the trade, regulators and safety campaign groups. 

The Department therefore expects these recommendations to be 

implemented unless there is a compelling local reason not to. 

Page 183

https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/sex_attacks_2
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/taxi_private_hire_related_rapes#incoming-286178
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/sexualoffencesinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017#main-points
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/sexualoffencesinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017#main-points
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/42/enacted


1.4 It should be noted that as policing and criminal justice is not a devolved 

matter, the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued under 

the Policing and Crime Act 2017 will continue to have effect in Wales although 

responsibility for taxi and private hire vehicle policy was devolved to the 

Welsh Assembly in April 2018. Should the Welsh Government introduce 

legislation to regulate on these issues, the standards in this document would, 

cease to apply. 

 

1.5 All local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types 

of services, including licensing authorities, have a statutory duty to make 

arrangements to ensure that their functions and any services that they 

contract out to others are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of children. This means that licensing authorities 

should have in place arrangements that reflect the importance of safeguarding 

and promoting the welfare of children. This includes clear whistleblowing 

procedures, safe recruitment practices and clear policies for dealing with 

allegations against people who work with children, as set out in the Working 

Together to Safeguard Children statutory guidance. 

 

1.6 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards reflect the significant 

changes in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas 

since the 2010 version of the Department’s Best Practice Guidance. This 

includes extensive advice on checking the suitability of individuals and 

operators to be licensed; safeguarding children and vulnerable adults; the 

Immigration Act 2016 and Common Law Police Disclosure (which replaced 

the Notifiable Occupations Scheme). 

 

1.7 The standards in this document replace relevant sections of the Best Practice 

Guidance issued by the Department in 2010, where there is a conflict 

between the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and the Best 

Practice Guidance the Department issue on taxi and private hire vehicle 

licensing, the standards in this document take precedence. 

 

4.33 In terms of investigating complaints CCTV footage of an incident can provide 

an invaluable insight, providing an ‘independent witness’ to an event. This can 

assist in the decision whether to suspend or revoke a licence. 

 

In-vehicle visual and audio recording – CCTV 

7.7 Government has acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when 

passengers travel in taxis and private hire vehicles. It is unfortunately the case 

that no matter how complete the information available to licensing authorities 

is when assessing whether to issue any taxi or private hire vehicle licence, nor 

how robust the policies in place are and the rigor with which they are applied, 

it will never completely remove the possibility of harm to passengers by 

drivers. 

 

Page 184

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


7.8 The Department’s view is that CCTV can provide additional deterrence to 

prevent this and investigative value when it does. The use of CCTV can 

provide a safer environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire vehicle 

passengers and drivers by: 

 deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime; 

 reducing the fear of crime; 

 assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime; 

 assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents. 

 

7.9 All licensing authorities should consult to identify if there are local 

circumstances which indicate that the installation of CCTV in vehicles would 

have either a positive or an adverse net effect on the safety of taxi and private 

hire vehicle users, including children or vulnerable adults, and taking into 

account potential privacy issues. 

 

7.10 While only a small minority of licensing authorities have so far mandated all 

vehicles to be fitted with CCTV systems, the experience of those authorities 

that have has been positive for both passengers and drivers. In addition, the 

evidential benefits of CCTV may increase the level of reporting of sexual 

offences. According to the Crime Survey for England and Wales only 17 

percent of victims report their experiences to the police, 28 percent of rape or 

sexual assault victims indicated that a fear they would not be believed as a 

factor in them not reporting the crime. The evidential benefits CCTV could 

provide are therefore an important factor when considering CCTV in vehicles. 

 

7.11 The mandating of CCTV in vehicles may deter people from seeking a taxi or 

private hire vehicle licence with the intent of causing harm. Those that gain a 

licence and consider perpetrating an opportunistic attack against a vulnerable 

unaccompanied passenger may be deterred from doing so. It is however 

unfortunately the case that offences may still occur even with CCTV 

operating. 

 

7.12 CCTV systems that are able to record audio as well as visual data may also 

help the early identification of drivers that exhibit inappropriate behaviour 

toward passengers. Audio recording should be both overt (i.e. all parties 

should be aware when recordings are being made) and targeted (i.e. only 

when passengers (or drivers) consider it necessary). The recording of audio 

should be used to provide an objective record of events such as disputes or 

inappropriate behaviour and must not be continuously active by default and 

should recognise the need for privacy of passengers’ private conversations 

between themselves. Activation of the audio recording capability of a system 

might be instigated when either the passenger or driver operates a switch or 

button. 

 

7.13 Imposition of a blanket requirement to attach CCTV as a condition to a licence 

is likely to give rise to concerns about the proportionality of such an approach 

Page 185



and will therefore require an appropriately strong justification and must be 

kept under regular review. More information and guidance on assessing the 

impacts of CCTV and on an authority mandating CCTV is annexed to this 

document (Annex – CCTV guidance). 

 

Annex – CCTV Guidance 

It is important to note that, in most circumstances, a licensing authority which 

mandates the installation of CCTV systems in taxis and private hire vehicles will be 

responsible for the data – the data controller. It is important that data controllers fully 

consider concerns regarding privacy and licensing authorities should consider how 

systems are configured, should they mandate CCTV (with or without audio 

recording). For example, vehicles may not be exclusively used for business, also 

serving as a car for personal use - it should therefore be possible to manually switch 

the system off (both audio and visual recording) when not being used for hire. 

Authorities should consider the Information Commissioner’s view on this matter that, 

in most cases, a requirement for continuous operation is unlikely to be fair and lawful 

processing of personal data. 

 

The Home Office ‘Surveillance Camera Code of Practice’ advises that government is 

fully supportive of the use of overt surveillance cameras in a public place whenever 

that use is: 

 in pursuit of a legitimate aim; 

 necessary to meet a pressing need; 

 proportionate; 

 effective, and; 

 compliant with any relevant legal obligations 

 

The Code also sets out 12 guiding principles which, as a ‘relevant authority’ under 

section 33(5) of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, licensing authorities must 

have regard to. It must be noted that, where a licence is granted subject to CCTV 

system conditions, the licensing authority assumes the role and responsibility of 

‘System Operator’. The role requires consideration of all guiding principles in this 

code. The failure to comply with these principles may be detrimental to the use of 

CCTV evidence in court as this may be raised within disclosure to the Crown 

Prosecution Service and may be taken into account. 

 

The Surveillance Camera Commissioner (SCC) has provided guidance on the 

Surveillance Camera Code of Practice in its ‘Passport to Compliance’ which provides 

guidance on the necessary stages when planning, implementing and operating a 

surveillance camera system to ensure it complies with the code. The Information 

Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has also published a code of practice which, in this 

context, focuses on the data governance requirement associated with the use of 

CCTV such as data retention and disposal, which it is important to follow in order to 

comply with the data protection principles. The SCC provides a self-assessment tool 

to assist operators to ensure compliance with the principles set of in the Surveillance 

Camera Code of Practice. The SCC also operate a certification scheme; authorities 

Page 186



that obtain this accreditation are able to clearly demonstrate that their systems 

conform to the SCC’s best practice and are fully compliant with the Code and 

increase public confidence that any risks to their privacy have been fully considered 

and mitigated. 

 

The Data Protection Act 2018 regulates the use of personal data. Part 2 of the Data 

Protection Act applies to the general processing of personal data, and references 

and supplements the General Data Protection Regulation. Licensing authorities, as 

data controllers, must comply with all relevant aspects of data protection law. 

Particular attention should be paid to the rights of individuals which include the right 

to be informed, of access and to erasure. The ICO has provided detailed guidance 

on how data controllers can ensure compliance with these. 

 

It is a further requirement of data protection law that before implementing a proposal 

that is likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of people, an impact 

assessment on the protection of personal data shall be carried out. The ICO 

recommends in guidance that if there is any doubt as to whether a Data Protection 

Impact Assessment (DPIA) is required one should be conducted to ensure 

compliance and encourage best practice. A DPIA will also help to assess properly 

the anticipated benefits of installing CCTV (to passengers and drivers) and the 

associated privacy risks; these risks might be mitigated by having appropriate 

privacy information and signage, secure storage and access controls, retention 

policies, training for staff how to use the system, etc. 

 

It is essential to ensure that all recordings made are secure and can only be 

accessed by those with legitimate grounds to do so. This would normally be the 

police if investigating an alleged crime or the licensing authority if investigating a 

complaint or data access request. Encryption of the recording to which the licensing 

authority, acting as the data controller, holds the key, mitigates this issue and 

protects against theft of the vehicle or device. It is one of the guiding principles of 

data protection legislation, that personal data (including in this context, CCTV 

recordings and other potentially sensitive passenger information) is handled securely 

in a way that ‘ensures appropriate security’, including protection against 

unauthorised or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction or 

damage, using appropriate technical or organisational measures. 

 

All passengers must be made fully aware if CCTV is operating in a vehicle. Given 

that audio recording is considered to be more privacy intrusive, it is even more 

important that individuals are fully aware and limited only to occasions when 

passengers (or drivers) consider it necessary. The recording of audio should be used 

to provide an objective record of events such as disputes or inappropriate behaviour 

and must not be continuously active by default and should recognise the need for 

privacy of passengers’ private conversations between themselves. Activation of the 

audio recording capability of a system might be instigated when either the passenger 

or driver operates a switch or button. As well as clear signage in vehicles, 

information on booking systems should be introduced. This might be text on a 

Page 187



website, scripts or automated messages on telephone systems; the Information 

Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has issued guidance on privacy information and the 

right to be informed on its website. 

Page 188



APPENDIX C5 

 

Extracts from the Department for Transport document ‘Taxi and Private Hire 

Vehicle Licensing - Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in 

England (2022 - consultation version)’ 

 

3. The role of licensing authorities 

 

3.11 Licensing authorities should ensure that their various licensing requirements 

are proportionate to the risk they aim to address or the policy objective they 

are seeking to achieve. The cost of a requirement, in terms of its effect on the 

availability of transport to the public, should be at least matched by its benefit 

This might include increased safety or accessibility. A detailed, quantitative, 

cost-benefit assessment is not needed in each case, but local licensing 

authorities are urged to look carefully at the costs, financial or otherwise, 

imposed by each of their licensing policies and of the equality impacts as 

required by law. 

 

Personal security 

 

8.32 The Health and Safety Executive list the installation of CCTV with visible 

signage as a successful measure to improve safety. (…) Research has shown 

that anti-social behaviour and crime affects taxi and private hire vehicle 

drivers and control centre staff. It is therefore important that the personal 

security of those working in the sector is considered. 

 

In-vehicle visual and audio recording – CCTV 

 

8.36 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards set-out the 

Department’s position on this matter; that CCTV can provide additional 

deterrence to prevent crime and investigative value when it occurs. The use of 

CCTV can provide a safer environment for the benefit of taxi and private hire 

vehicle passengers and drivers by: 

• Deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime. 

• Reducing the fear of crime. 

• Assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime. 

• Assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents. 

 

8.37 The Statutory Standards state that all licensing authorities should consult to 

identify if there are local circumstances which indicate that the installation of 

CCTV in vehicles would have either a positive or an adverse net effect on the 

safety of taxi and private hire vehicle users, including children or vulnerable 

adults, and taking into account potential privacy issues. Signs in the vehicle 

are required to highlight the presence of CCTV to passengers and an extra 

indicator is required to show when audio recording has been activated. The 

Department’s view is that CCTV in vehicles can enhance both drivers’ and 

Page 189



passengers’ safety and consideration of the merits of CCTV by licensing 

authorities must include both aspects. 

 

8.38 Licensing authorities should review the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards for further information on consideration of mandating 

CCTV in taxis and private hire vehicles. 

 

8.39 Other security measures include guidance, talks by the local police and 

conflict avoidance training. The Department has issued guidance for taxi and 

private hire vehicle drivers to help them improve their personal security. 

These are attached at Annex G and Annex H. 

 

Annex G: Staying safe: guidance for taxi drivers 

 

Installing CCTV cameras has been shown to lead to reduced threats and violence 

against drivers. Signs in the vehicle are required to highlight the presence of CCTV 

to passengers and an extra indicator is required to show when audio recording has 

been activated. Cameras can be bought or rented, and the cost may be offset by 

reduced insurance premiums. They can be useful when there is a dispute with a 

passenger as it is not just the driver’s word against theirs. When installing CCTV, the 

system must comply with the licensing authority’s requirements. 

 

A report of the Sheffield Taxi Safety Camera Pilot Study found that, based on drivers’ 

feedback, installing CCTV cameras reduced the number of incidents from 1 in 7 

fares to less than 1 in 100 with a very significant reduction in threats and violence 

against drivers. 

Page 190



APPENDIX D 

 

Euro emissions standards 

The tables below shows the Euro emissions standards for diesel and petrol cars. 

The dates when the standards were introduced can give a good indication of the 

emissions standard that a diesel vehicle conforms to.  

 

If a vehicle was first registered after the date when the Euro standard came into 

force then there's a good chance it conforms to that standard. However, vehicles 

which conform to the standards are often sold before the date the standard is 

introduced and, models that don't meet the standard are sometimes registered after 

that date.  

 

Euro emissions standards: diesel 

Euro Standard Date CO NOx 

Euro 1 July 1993 2.72 0.97 

Euro 2 January 1997 1 0.7 

Euro 3 January 2001 0.64 0.5 

Euro 4 January 2006 0.5 0.25 

Euro 5a September 2011 0.5 0.18 

Euro 6 September 2015 0.5 0.08 

 

Euro emissions standards: petrol 

Euro Standard Date CO NOx 

Euro 1 July 1993 2.72 0.97 

Euro 2 January 1997 2.2 0.5 

Euro 3 January 2001 2.3 0.15 

Euro 4 January 2006 1 0.08 

Euro 5 September 2011 1 0.06 

Euro 6 September 2015 1 0.06 

 

*Doncaster’s current fleet: diesel 

Euro Standard Hackney Carriage Private Hire % of Total Fleet 

Euro 1 0 0 0 

Euro 2 0 0 0 

Euro 3 4 10 1.91% 

Euro 4 86 143 31.28% 

Euro 5a 68 206 37.43% 

Euro 6 14 124 18.85% 

 

*Doncaster’s current fleet: petrol (including hybrid) 

Euro Standard Hackney Carriage Private Hire % of Total Fleet 

Euro 1 0 0 0 

Euro 2 0 0 0 

Euro 3 0 5 0.68% 

Euro 4 or above 0 72 9.84% 
 

*Total Fleet 732, of which 655 are diesel and 77 are petrol/hybrid 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



UK domestic transport emissions 2019

 

 
 

 

 
 

D
om

es
tic

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 E

m
is

si
on

s 
M

tC
O

2e
 

67
.7

55.4% – Cars and taxis 

15.9% – Heavy goods vehicles 

15.7% – Light duty vehicles 

5% – Domestic shipping 

2.5% – Buses and coaches 

1.4% – Rail 
1.2% – Domestic aviation 
0.4% – Motorcyles and mopeds 
0.6% – Other road transport 
1.9% – Other transport 

19
.2

19
.5 3.

1

0.
5 1.
7

1.
4

0.
7 

6.
1 

2.
4 

% Greenhouse 
gas emissions 
by transport 
mode, 2019 

C
ar

s 
an

d 
ta

xi
s 

H
ea

vy
 g

oo
ds

 v
eh

ic
le

s 

Li
gh

t d
ut

y 
ve

hi
cl

es
 

D
om

es
tic

 s
hi

pp
in

g 

B
us

es
 a

nd
 c

oa
ch

es
 

R
ai

l 

D
om

es
tic

 a
vi

at
io

n 

M
ot

or
cy

le
s 

an
d 

m
op

ed
s 

O
th

er
 ro

ad
 tr

an
sp

or
t 

O
th

er
 tr

an
sp

or
t e

m
is

si
on

s 
Total Domestic Transport 

Emissions  = 122.15 MtCO2e 

APPENDIX D1

Page 193

davidsm
Highlight

davidsm_1
Highlight



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D2 

 

Extract from Doncaster Environment and Sustainability Strategy 2020 - 2030 

 

 Foreword from the Mayor of Doncaster 

 

Welcome to Doncaster’s Environment and Sustainability strategy. 

 

Global, national, regional and local leaders all agree on the need to protect the 

environment and limit global temperature change to 1.5oC above pre-industrial 

levels. Failure to do so may cause irreversible damage to the planet causing 

detrimental impact to all life on earth. 

 

This threat does not exist merely in the future;  

Doncaster is experiencing major environmental issues now. The recent devastation 

caused by flooding and moor fires are just two examples that show the need for us 

all to act now to protect communities from the impact of climate change both now 

and in the future, and to ensure there is still a habitable planet for future generations. 

 

This environment emergency is broad and interrelated to many other policy areas. 

Our economic, housing, health, transport, education and environment strategies 

must all be consistent with and complimentary to each other and with our new 

borough strategy, ensuring that the challenges and opportunities identified in each 

are considered and tackled together to support the achievement of our strategic 

wellbeing goals. 

 

This strategy draws upon the opinion, insight, feedback and recommendations 

collected from residents, elected representatives and partners – much of which came 

from the Climate and Biodiversity Commission and Doncaster Talks public 

engagement exercises. 

 

As we continue to rebuild and grow our economy post Covid-19, we must take 

advantage of the growth in both existing and new green technology sectors, as well 

as benefiting financially from energy efficiency improvements and the re-use, 

removal or reduction of waste. We can tailor today’s homes to the standards of 

tomorrow, removing the need for costly retrofitting in the future, and potentially 

saving residents considerable money via reduced energy bills. As transport changes 

to introduce new technologies, we must position ourselves to take advantage of new, 

cleaner options, both individually and commercially; and continue our transition to 

cleaner sources of electricity, bringing clean and renewable energy into our homes 

and industry. 

 

The scale of the challenge should not be underestimated. We must overcome the 

environmental impact of decades of industrialisation and change what could be a 

lifetime of habits and behaviours. We all need to make our own contributions – 

individuals, families, businesses, community groups and public sector organisations, 

Page 195



which collectively will make a different to the future of our borough and help with the 

collective effort to combat climate change. 

 

Some changes and interventions are easier than others, and for some, the impact 

will be greater and seen quicker than others. Some however, will be significant, 

could take longer to achieve and see the benefit from, and could be quite costly. 

However, the cost of not acting will be greater – both to individual and organisational 

finances, our health, safety and our overall way of life. 

 

We are the generation that will need to take the difficult decisions, to take the ‘short-

term pain’, in order to achieve the longer-term gain that results from our actions 

today. 

 

Although we face a significant challenge, this agenda also brings massive 

opportunities for Doncaster – be it in the form of economic gain for existing and new 

businesses, increased jobs and better paid jobs for our local workforce; cleaner, 

safer and more pleasant neighbourhoods for locals and visitors to enjoy, and 

improved public health and well-being for our residents. 

 

I call on all Doncaster residents, businesses and organisations to put the 

environment at the forefront of their thinking in the way they live their lives and 

manage their organisations. If we all work together, then we can continue to enjoy 

the improvements we have seen over recent years, and we can continue to enjoy a 

borough that is a pleasant place to live, work and visit for everyone. 

 

If Doncaster is going to make its contribution to this national and international effort, 

then we need to act now. 

 

Ros Jones, Elected Mayor of Doncaster 

  

Page 196



Extract from Doncaster Environment and Sustainability Strategy 2020 - 2030 

 

 8. Transport 

 

Air quality has a demonstrable effect on health, with children and older people being 

more susceptible to the effects of air pollution. It is heavily affected by emissions 

from transport and industry, with traffic emissions being the major factor. These 

pollutants do not just affect the areas with greater traffic, given certain conditions, 

pollutants could be transported, great distances to affect areas far from the pollution 

source. Secondary pollutants such as ozone, created by reactions between sunlight 

and traffic emissions are also a problem across both urban and rural areas. 

 

The use of cars, buses, lorries, and trains are an established part of our everyday 

lives, both for leisure and industry use; and a significant proportion of our economy is 

reliant on our fantastic transport links within Doncaster, regionally, national and 

internationally. We must minimise the environmental impact vehicular transport has 

and offset against any unavoidable damage it causes. 

 

Aims Outcome 

Remove the 'Air Quality Management Area' status of the eight 
Doncaster areas with high nitrogen dioxide levels. 

Improved 
air quality 
across 
the 
borough. 

Reduce vehicular emissions, by reducing the emissions from the 
vehicles using our roads and reducing the number of vehicles on the 
road. 

 

  

Page 197



Extract from Doncaster Environment and Sustainability Strategy 2020 – 2030 

 

 Shared Responsibilities 

 

This section identifies a series of activity and/or commitments that we will need to 

deliver on if we are going to achieve our vision for Doncaster. In the same way that 

multiple stakeholders have contributed to the development of the strategy, its 

implementation is equally dependent on the collective effort and contribution of us 

all. 

 

It is clear from the sort of interventions discussed in this strategy that different 

stakeholders will have different roles to play; and it is acknowledged that within any 

given cohort, different people and organisations will be able to make different scales 

of intervention according to their own particular circumstances. 

 

Businesses and Public Sector Organisations 

(The list includes the following extracts) 

 

- Consider, and where possible, prioritise longer-term benefits and savings 

against short-term costs. 

- Invest in electrification of fleet vehicles. 

 

Residents 

(The list includes the following extracts) 

 

- Consider the environment when making transport choices: cycling, walking, 

using public transport, car sharing, and investing in Ultra Low Emission 

Vehicles where possible. 

Page 198



APPENDIX D3 

 

Examples of a Policy on Emissions Limits  

for Licensed Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Vehicles  

 

Example 1 – Affects only vehicles applying for the initial grant of a licence 

 

Date Change Vehicles Affected 

Operative Date 
(as agreed by Licensing Committee) 

(1) No vehicle will be 
GRANTED a New Private 
Hire or New Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle Licence 
unless it meets or 
exceeds: 

 Euro 6 diesel 

 Euro 4 petrol 

 Euro 1, 2, 3, 4 and 
5 diesel vehicles 

 Euro 1, 2 and 3 
petrol vehicles  
 

Which are not currently 
licensed as Hackney 
Carriage / Private Hire 
vehicles with Doncaster 
Council. 

 

Example 2 – Affects vehicles applying for the initial grant of a licence and all existing 

licensed vehicles. 

Date Change Vehicles Affected 

First Operative Date 
(as agreed by Licensing Committee) 

(1) No vehicle will be 
GRANTED a New Private 
Hire or New Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle Licence 
unless it meets or 
exceeds: 

 Euro 6 diesel 

 Euro 4 petrol 

 Euro 1, 2, 3, 4 and 
5 diesel vehicles 

 Euro 1, 2 and 3 
petrol vehicles  
 

Which are not currently 
licensed as Hackney 
Carriage / Private Hire 
vehicles with Doncaster 
Council. 

Second Operative Date 
(e.g. 1 year after first operative date) 

(1) No vehicle will have 
an existing Private Hire or 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licence RENEWED 
unless it meets or 
exceeds: 

 Euro 4 diesel 

 Euro 4 petrol 

Existing Hackney 
Carriage / Private Hire 
Vehicles which are: 

 Euro 1, 2 or 3 
diesel 

 Euro 1, 2 or 3 
petrol 

Third Operative Date 
(e.g. 1 year after second operative 
date) 

(1) No vehicle will have 
an existing Private Hire or 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licence RENEWED 
unless it meets or 
exceeds: 

 Euro 5 diesel 

Existing Hackney 
Carriage / Private Hire 
Vehicles which are: 

 Euro 4 diesel 

Page 199



Fourth Operative Date 
(e.g. 1 year after third operative date) 

(1) No vehicle will have 
an existing Private Hire or 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licence RENEWED 
unless it meets or 
exceeds: 

 Euro 6 diesel 

Existing Hackney 
Carriage / Private Hire 
Vehicles which are: 

 Euro 5 diesel 

 

Where the vehicles Euro Standard is not easily identifiable, the vehicle owner should 

seek confirmation from the vehicle manufacture. 

 

The tables below is a guide to Euro Standards based on the date on which the 

vehicle was first registered: 

 

Euro emissions standards: diesel 

Euro Standard Date CO NOx 

Euro 1 July 1993 2.72 0.97 

Euro 2 January 1997 1 0.7 

Euro 3 January 2001 0.64 0.5 

Euro 4 January 2006 0.5 0.25 

Euro 5a September 2011 0.5 0.18 

Euro 6 September 2015 0.5 0.08 

 

Euro emissions standards: petrol 

Euro Standard Date CO NOx 

Euro 1 July 1993 2.72 0.97 

Euro 2 January 1997 2.2 0.5 

Euro 3 January 2001 2.3 0.15 

Euro 4 January 2006 1 0.08 

Euro 5 September 2011 1 0.06 

Euro 6 September 2015 1 0.06 

 

Page 200



APPENDIX D4 

 

Extracts from the Department for Transport document ‘Taxi and Private Hire 

Vehicle Licensing - Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in 

England (2022 - consultation version)’ 

 

3. The role of licensing authorities 

 

3.11 Licensing authorities should ensure that their various licensing requirements 

are proportionate to the risk they aim to address or the policy objective they 

are seeking to achieve. The cost of a requirement, in terms of its effect on the 

availability of transport to the public, should be at least matched by its benefit 

This might include increased safety or accessibility. A detailed, quantitative, 

cost-benefit assessment is not needed in each case, but local licensing 

authorities are urged to look carefully at the costs, financial or otherwise, 

imposed by each of their licensing policies and of the equality impacts as 

required by law. 

 

Environmental considerations 

 

8.48 The UK is committed to a 2050 net zero target. This puts the UK on track to 

end our contribution to climate change, becoming one of the first major 

economies to legislate for net zero emissions. On transport, Government is 

phasing out the sale of new petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2030, and, 

from 2035, all new cars and vans must be zero emissions at the tailpipe. 

 

8.49 Where Clean Air Zones are introduced, local authorities will already be 

working to address local environmental considerations under the Clean Air 

Zones Framework. More widely, local licensing authorities, in discussion with 

those responsible for environmental health issues, will wish to consider how 

its vehicle licensing policies can and should support any environmental 

policies adopted by the local authority. This will be particularly important in 

designated Air Quality Management Areas or low/ultra-low emission zones. 

 

8.50 Licensing teams should work with council colleagues with air quality and 

climate responsibilities to ensure taxi and private hire vehicle fleets play their 

part in work to tackle local emissions. Leading areas cite largescale change in 

these fleets needs a longer-term strategy, with a coordinated approach across 

council teams and local trades, that considers licencing requirements, other 

supportive policies (e.g. try before you buy scheme), and, in the context of 

moving to a fully zero emission vehicle fleet, a strategy for supporting the 

installation of electric vehicle charge points. 

 

8.51 Taxis and private hire vehicles that operate predominantly in urban areas can 

be significant contributors to poor local air quality, if not properly maintained 

and regularly checked, due to their higher usage. This might suggest that 

Page 201



emissions testing for vehicle that use petrol and diesel (including hybrids and 

range extenders) should be carried out more frequently than the annual MOT 

vehicle test/inspection. 

 

8.52 Local authorities should carefully and thoroughly assess the impact of vehicle 

emission requirements to enable the sector to plan for the future. The short-

term objective should be to mitigate the harm from internal combustion 

engines through the setting of high EURO emission standards e.g. EURO 6 

but, in the long-term, the trade will have to transition to zero emission 

vehicles. Licensing authorities should set out their long-term plan as soon as 

possible. 

 

8.53 In response to local air quality concerns,, many licensing authorities are 

considering how to support the use of ultra-low or zero emission vehicles 

given the growing range of vehicles available. As stated in the ‘Vehicle age 

limit’ section’, greater flexibility regarding the age of vehicles licensed can 

result in more rapid improvement in air quality than mandating new ‘clean’ 

internal combustion engine vehicles. 

Page 202



Statistical Release 30 June 2021

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Statistics, England: 2021

Responsible Statistician: Julie Sullivan            Email: taxi.stats@dft.gov.uk

Further Information: Media: 020 7944 3066 Public: 020 7082 6602  

About this release
This statistical release 
presents information on taxis 
and private hire vehicles 
in England as at 31 March 
2021. This includes PHV 
operators and drivers who 
use app-based technology. 
However, we are not able to 
disaggregate which drivers 
are using these apps in the 
figures presented. 

Figures are updated every 
year through surveying each 
licensing authority (a unitary 
or lower tier authority) in 
England and Wales.

This release refers to 
England only but data for 
Wales can be found online  
here. 

Between 2020 and 2021 the total number 
of licensed taxi and private hire vehicles 
and licensed drivers in England fell.

Chart 1: Total licensed taxi and private hire vehicles and drivers: England, 
since 2005 (TAXI0102)

242.1

343.8

184.5

251.1

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021

Thousands Sta istics published annually from 2017

Licensed Vehicles

Licensed Drivers

The total number of licensed 
vehicles in England decreased 
by 15.9% since 2020, to 251,100. 
Just over three quarters (77%) of 
licensed vehicles are Private Hire 
Vehicles (PHVs). 

in England in 2021
251,100 15.9%

since 2020

Total licensed taxi and private hire
vehicles

There were 343,800 driver licences 
in 2021, a decrease of 5.7% 
compared to the previous year.

in England in 2021

343,800 5.7%
since 2020

Total taxi and PHV driver licences

The decreases in the numbers of licensed vehicles and diver licences has 
largely been attributed to the coronavirus pandemic. The rate of decrease 
has been greater for licensed vehicles at least in part because licence 
lengths for vehicles are generally shorter than those for drivers.

Comment on coronavirus (COVID-19) impact 
The data covered by this release is for the year ending March 2021, which coincides 
with the measures implemented from March 2020 onward to limit the impact of the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

In this publication

Factsheet 2

Summary table 3

Licensed vehicles 4

Licensed taxi and PHV 
drivers 7

Licensed PHV operators 8

Accessibility 9

Policies 10

Taxi drivers 12

Taxi passengers 14

Passenger satisfaction 17

Background notes 18

APPENDIX E

Page 203

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 2

Taxi and PHV Factsheet: England, 2020/21
Licenced Vehicles

2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021

251,100

184,500

 16%
since 2020

 36%
since 2005

64.2

120.4

58.3

192.7

Taxis

PHVs

Numbers of vehicles, thousands

2021
2005

PHVs
77%

Taxis
23%

Licensed 
Vehicles

Around three quarters of all licensed 
vehicles are PHVs

Licensed Drivers Licensed Operators

2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021

15,100

13,800

 6%
since 2020

 9%
since 2005

Drivers [LFS]

7% 93%

The majority of 
drivers are men

Self-employed

Employee

Employment 
status

Most drivers are 
self-employed

The average age
of drivers is 48.

22% of drivers 
are under 40.

Passenger journeys per person per year, 2019 [NTS]

Page 204



Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 3

Thousands

Total licensed vehicles 91.0  -20.9% 160.1  -12.8% 251.1  -15.9%
Taxis 13.4  -29.2% 44.9  -8.1% 58.3  -14.0%

wheelchair accessible taxis 13.4  -29.2% 18.3  -8.3% 31.7  -18.5%
Private Hire Vehicles (PHVs) 77.5  -19.2% 115.2  -14.6% 192.7  -16.5%

wheelchair accessible PHVs 0.5  -8.3% 4.2  1.0% 4.7  -0.1%
Licensed PHV operators 2.0  -7.9% 13.1  -5.2% 15.1  -5.6%
Total licensed drivers 126.1  -5.9% 217.6  -5.7% 343.8  -5.7%

Taxi only licences 20.8  -7.2% 25.3  -7.1% 46.1  -7.1%
PHV-only licences 105.3  -5.6% 113.9  -6.5% 219.3  -6.1%
Dual licences 0.0  0.0% 74.1  -5.3% 74.1  -5.3%
Both Taxi and PHV licences 0.0  0.0% 4.2  30.5% 4.2  30.5%

London England outside London England
March 2021 figure and percentage change compared to March 2020

Long term taxi trends

Between 1972 and 2015 the numbers of licensed taxis in London, and in 
England and Wales outside London, both broadly followed an increasing 
trend, albeit at different rates.  Since 2015 however the numbers have 
decreased although are still substantially higher as compared to 1972: the 
numbers of licensed taxis quadrupled in England and Wales outside of 
London (increasing from 12,400 to 49,500), while over the same period the 
numbers in London increased by a third (increasing from 10,100 to 13,400).  
Prior to 2005 the only data available relates to the number of licensed taxis 
and the number of licensed taxi drivers for England and Wales.  Other than 
for London, data at a lower geographical level is not available. 
Chart 2: Licensed taxi vehicle numbers in London, and England and Wales 
outside London, from 1972 (TAXI0101)

Following the Transport 
Act 1985, the number 
of taxis outside London 
increased as more dis-
trict councils licensed 
taxis

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

1972 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2021

Thousands

London

299%
from 1972 

 32%
from 1972

England and Wales outside London

Taxis
Taxis, also known as 
hackney carriages, are  
available for immediate 
hire, can be hailed in 
the street (‘ply for hire’) 
or accept pre-bookings. 
Taxis have two types 
of licences: a vehicle 
licence (issued to the 
owner of the taxi) and a 
driving licence.

Private Hire 
Vehicles (PHVs) 
Private hire vehicles, 
also known as minicabs, 
must be pre-booked and 
cannot use taxi ranks. 
It is illegal for PHVs to 
ply for hire. PHVs have 
three types of licences: a 
vehicle licence, a driving 
licence and an operator 
licence. 

2021 summary

Table 1 summarises the 2021 taxi and PHV licensing statistics. Figures for 
licensed vehicles, PHV operators and drivers are shown for London, England 
outside London, and England.  Transport for 

London 

Table 1: Summary of 2021 taxi and private hire vehicle licensing figures 
compared with 2020 (TAXI0102)

publish taxi and PHV 
statistics. For more 
information see here.

Further statistics 
on the number of 
licensed taxis and 
PHVs in Scotland 
(which operates under 
a different licensing 
regime) are collected by 
the Scottish Government 
and published in Scottish 

Transport Statistics here.

Page 205

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.transport.gov.scot/publication/scottish-transport-statistics-no-38-2019-edition/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/taxis-and-private-hire/


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 4

Licensed vehicles

There were 251,100 licensed taxis and PHVs in England in 2021. Around a quarter (58,300) of 
these vehicles were taxis (see chart 3). The total number of licensed vehicles decreased by 15.9% 
from 2020, which has been largely attributed to the pandemic.  While the decrease in taxis and 
PHVs have been broadly similar, the decrease has been slightly more pronounced in London (with 
a decrease in the total number of vehicles of 20.9%) as compared to England outside of London 
(which saw a decrease of 12.8%). Overall the total number of licensed vehicles in England has 
increased by 36.1% since 2005. 

Chart 3: Licensed vehicles by type and area: England, since 2005 (TAXI0101)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Licensed vehicles (thousands)

PHVs England 
outside London

Taxis London

 43%
since 2005

 35%
since 2005

Statistics published annually from 2017

There were 58,300 licensed taxis in 2021, a 14.0% decrease from 2020. There was 
a larger decrease in taxis in London compared to England outside of London, 29.2% 
and 8.1% respectively.  

There were 192,700 licensed PHVs in 2021,  a 16.0% decrease from 2020.  There 
was a larger decrease in PHVs in London compared to England outside of London, 
19.2% and 14.6% respectively.  

Licensing authorities (outside London) are able to impose limits on the numbers of taxis licensed 
to operate within their area.  However, they are unable to impose such limits on PHVs. In 2021 77 
licensing authorities (28% of licensing authorities with licensed taxis) applied a limit on the numbers 
of licensed taxis, with a further 8 setting limits in some, but not all, of the areas they cover.  This 
rate has been the same since 2019  

Of those licensing authorities with a limit on the numbers of taxis, 58 licensing authorities (75% of 
those with a limit) have conducted an unmet demand survey within the last five years.

Page 206

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 5

Licensed vehicles: Regional and local trends

In England total licensed vehicle numbers decreased between 2020 and 2021 in all regions, 
although there were variations in the rates of decrease.   

Table 2: Change in licensed vehicles by region between 2020 and 2021, England (TAXI0103)
Thousands

England 251.1  -15.9% 58.3  -14.0% 192.7  -16.5%
North East 9.2  -13.4% 3.6  -10.1% 5.7  -15.3%
North West 32.3  -12.8% 7.8  -2.7% 24.5  -15.5%
Yorkshire and the Humber 20.7  -9.9% 3.6  -4.3% 17.1  -11.0%
East Midlands 13.0  -4.8% 4.8  -5.9% 8.1  -4.1%
West Midlands 27.0  -16.7% 4.9  -11.5% 22.1  -17.8%
East of England 17.9  -12.4% 6.1  -9.1% 11.8  -14.1%
London 91.0  -20.9% 13.4  -29.2% 77.5  -19.2%
South East 25.8  -15.0% 8.8  -10.7% 17.0  -17.0%
South West 14.3  -12.3% 5.3  -9.7% 9.0  -13.7%

Licensed PHV
March 2021 figure and percentage change compared to March 2020
Total licensed vehicles Licensed taxis

Licensed taxi and PHV vehicles per 1,000 people

In 2021 there were on average 4.5 licensed taxi and PHV vehicles per 1,000 people in England, a 
reduction from 5.3 in 2020.  The number of licensed vehicles per 1,000 people generally decreases 
as areas become more rural.

In London there were 10.1 licensed vehicles per 1,000 people, more than double the national 
average, with 3.4 licensed PHVs and 1.0 licensed taxis per 1,000 people. 

Chart 4: Number of licensed taxis and private hire vehicles per 1,000 people by urban/rural 
classification, England 2021 (TAXI0105)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

London Urban with
Major

Conurbation

Urban with
Minor

Conurbation

Urban with
City and Town

Urban with
Significant

Rural

Largely Rural Mainly Rural

Number of vehicles per thousand people

Urban Rural

Licensed taxis

Licensed private hire 
vehicles

Page 207

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 6

Map 1: Licensed vehicles (taxis and PHV) per 1,000 people by licensing authority, England 
(TAXI0105)

Up to 2
2 to 4
4 to 6
6 to 8
8 to 10
10+

Contains National Statistics data © Crown copyright and database right 2021

Table 3: The licensing authorities with the largest and smallest number of licensed 
vehicles per 1,000 of the population , England (TAXI0105)

Local Authority Vehicles 
(per 1,000) Local Authority Vehicles 

(per 1,000)

Wolverhampton 37.0 Newark and 
Sherwood 0.7

Uttlesford 25.9 Staffordshire 
Moorlands 0.7

Sefton 15.6 Forest of Dean 0.7
London 10.1 Mid Suffolk 0.7

Local level changes 
Large year on year changes 
can occur in a licensing 
authority for a number of 
reasons, such as a large 
operator moving in or out of 
a given licensing area, or 
significant changes in local 
licensing policy

Page 208

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 7

Thousands

England 343.8  -5.7% 46.1  -7.1% 219.3  -6.1% 74.1  -5.3%
North East 12.8  -4.2% 3.0  -12.7% 6.9  -0.3% 2.1  -9.4%
North West 45.5  -4.2% 7.8  -5.7% 28.2  -6.2% 7.3  -4.6%
Yorkshire and the Humber 27.6  -3.7% 2.5  8.7% 14.8  -5.1% 9.9  -3.4%
East Midlands 16.9  -4.9% 0.9  -6.4% 3.8  -4.8% 12.2  -4.8%
West Midlands 39.9  -6.1% 3.0  -7.3% 27.8  -5.5% 9.0  -7.7%
East of England 22.5  -5.0% 1.5  -8.6% 7.1  -9.7% 13.9  -2.0%
London 126.1  -5.9% 20.8  -7.2% 105.3  -5.6% 0.0  0.0%
South East 34.8  -8.9% 3.6  -13.6% 17.3  -10.2% 13.7  -7.2%
South West 17.6  -7.5% 3.1  -6.7% 8.1  -8.7% 6.0  -7.8%
1. The components may not sum to the total as this table excludes the numbers holding both a taxi and PHV licence

March 2021 figure and percentage change compared to March 2020
Total driver licences1 Taxi driver licences PHV driver licences Dual driver licences

Licensed drivers

There were 343,800 driver licences 
in England, 20,900 (5.7%) less than 
in 2020. 

Of the total licences, 64% were 
PHV-only licences, 13% were taxi-
only licences and 22% were dual 
taxi/PHV licences.

343,800
total driver 
licences

PHV 
driver 

licences 
64%

Taxi driver 
licences

13%

Both taxi and 
PHV licences

1%

Dual driver 
licence 
A combined licence 
allowing the holder to 
drive both taxis and 
PHVs.

In England total licensed driver numbers decreased between 2021 and 2020.  Decreases were 
seen in the number of PHVs across all regions, although there were variations in the rates of 
decrease.   Decreases were also seen in the number of taxis except for in the Yorkshire and the 
Humber.

Table 4: Change in total driver licences (taxi-only, PHV-only and dual) by region between 
2020 and 2021, England (TAXI0103)

Licensed PHV operators

The number of licensed PHV operators decreased by 5.6% to 15,100 from 
the previous year, and 8.6% lower than the peak in PHV operators at 16,500 
in 2009. PHV operators declined by 7.9% to 2,000 operators in London and 
decreased by 5.2% to 13,100 operators in England outside London. 

Private Hire 
Vehicle operators 
need to be licensed 
to accept bookings 
and dispatch PHVs to 
customers.”

in 2021
2,000 7.9%

since 2020

Total licensed PHV operators in 
London

In the year ending 31 March 2021, 1,431 applications were made by new PHV operators (either 
new companies, or existing operators not already licensed by that licensing authority).    

in 2021
13,100 5.2%

since 2020

Total licensed PHV operators in 
England outside London

Page 209

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 8

Accessibility

In England, 15% of all licensed vehicles were wheelchair accessible. 54% of all taxis were 
wheelchair accessible in 2021 while 2% of PHVs were wheelchair accessible.  This is similar to the 
proportions in 2020.

In England outside London 15% of all licensed 
vehicles were wheelchair accessible.  However all 
13,400 London taxis were wheelchair accessible 
as required by Transport for London’s ‘Conditions 
for Fitness’ taxi licensing policy.  

In England outside London 14% of all licensed 
vehicles were wheelchair accessible.  However 
this varies by area and vehicle type: 81% of taxis 
in metropolitan areas were wheelchair accessible 
areas. When looking at PHVs, only 1% of licensed 
vehicles in London were wheelchair accessible, 
but this increased to 9% in rural areas

Chart 5: Proportion of licensed vehicles that 
were wheelchair accessible in 2021 by urban/
rural classification, England (TAXI0105)

London
15% Metropolitan 

areas
14%

Other urban
15%

Rural
11%

Map 2: Proportion of licensed vehicles that were wheelchair accessible 
in 2021 by licensing authority, England (TAXI0104)

Urban/rural 
classification 
Metropolitan areas 
represent the Passenger 
Transport Executives. 
Other urban and rural 
categories were defined 
using the Department for 
Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs urban and 
rural classification which 
can be found here.

Note 
Some areas are unable 
to provide numbers of 
wheelchair accessible 
taxis and/or PHVs.  
Estimates should be 
treated with caution. 

Contains National Statistics data © Crown copyright and database right 2021

Page 210

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2011-rural-urban-classification-of-local-authority-and-other-higher-level-geographies-for-statistical-purposes


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 9

46%

54%

Disability 
Awareness 
Training:  

PHV drivers

49%

51%

Disability 
Awareness 
Training: 

Taxi drivers 

No

Yes

No

Yes

Accessibility policies

Training requirements (TAXI0110)

The increase in the number of authorities requiring 
disability awareness training for taxi and PHV 
drivers has continued in 2021. The number of 
authorities requiring disability awareness training 
for taxi drivers has increased from 44% in 2019 
to 49% in 2021, while the number of authorities 
requiring disability awareness training for PHV 
drivers has increased from 41% to 46%.

Wheelchair policies (TAXI0110)

66% of authorities require all or part of the taxi fleet to be wheelchair accessible, a small 
increase from 65% in 2019.  However, only 5% of authorities require all or part of the PHV fleet 
to be wheelchair accessible. 79% of authorities maintain a list of wheelchair accessible taxis in 
accordance with section 167 of the Equality Act 2010 (an increase from 72% in 2019), while 70% 
maintain a list of wheelchair accessible PHVs (an increase from 63% in 2019).

Equality Act 2010 Prosecutions in England and Wales

In the year ending 31 December 2020 there were 14 prosecutions for offences committed by taxi 
and private hire vehicle drivers and operators in relation to sections 168 and 170 (assistance dog 
refusals by taxi and PHV drivers), and section 165 (wheelchair user discrimination by taxi and PHV 
drivers) in England and Wales, a decrease on the number in 2019. However this decrease reflects 
the restricted operation of courts as a result of the pandemic.
Chart 6: Prosecutions for offences by taxi and PHV drivers and 
operators under the Equality Act 2010, England and Wales, 2011 to 
2020

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2011/2013 2012/2014 2013/2015 2014/2016 2015/2017 2016/2018 2017/2019 2018/2020

Failed to accept booking 
to carry assistance dog

Assistance dog 
discrimination by driver

Wheelchair user 
discrimination by driver

Imposed additional 
charge for carrying
assistance dog

Number of prosecutions
(3-year rolling average)

Total

Over this time period the majority of prosecutions were for failing to accept 
bookings to carry assistance dogs (70%).  In 2019, 81% of prosecutions led 
to a conviction. This conviction rate has been fairly stable since 2013, and 
most convictions result in a fine.

Further 
information
Defendants for whom 
these offences were the 
principal offences for which 
they were dealt with. When 
a defendant has been 
found guilty of two or more 
offences it is the offence 
for which the heaviest 
penalty is imposed. 

This is bespoke analysis 
from the Criminal Justice 
System quarterly statistical 
series, year ending 
December 2020. More 
information can be found 
here

Page 211

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/criminal-justice-statistics-quarterly
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-justice/about/statistics 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 10

Safeguarding policies

Over four-fifths of authorities required taxi drivers (85% or 236 out of 278) 
and PHV drivers (85% or 239 out of 281) to complete child sexual abuse 
(CSA) or child sexual exploitation (CSE) training. These proportions have 
increased from 70% and 71% (for taxi and PHV drivers respectively) in 
2018. 49% of licensing authorities require both CSA/CSE training and 
county lines training.

Chart 7: Number of authorities requiring child sexual abuse/child sexual awareness training 
and county lines training, England 2021 (TAXI0109)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Both CSA/CSE only No safeguarding

Taxi drivers

PHV drivers

Security checks (TAXI0109)
All authorities required an enhanced DBS (Disclosure and Barring Service) security 
check for taxi and PHV drivers.

The majority of authorities also required barred lists checks for taxi drivers (95%, 263 
out of 278) and PHV drivers (95%, 267 out of 281). The proportions of authorities 
requiring enhanced DBS and barred list checks has grown from 79% (for both taxi and 
PHV drivers) in 2017.

CCTV (TAXI0108)
Similar to the previous year, 5% of authorities had a requirement for all licensed taxis 
to have CCTV fitted (14 out of 278) and 4% had a requirement for all licensed PHVs 
to have CCTV fitted (12 out of 281). Of the authorities with the CCTV requirement, 8 
had a requirement for the CCTV to have the facility to record audio in taxis, and 8 had 
this requirement for PHVs, the same as in 2020.

Almost all of the authorities without the CCTV requirement did allow licensed vehicles 
to have CCTV fitted (97%, 257 out of 278, for licensed taxis and 98%, 263 out of 281 
for licensed PHVs).   

National register of Revocations and Refusals (NR3) (TAXI0112)

As at 31 March 2021 48% of authorities submitted data to NR3, and 50% used the NR3 when 
making licensing decisions. An increase from 39% and 40% respectively at 31 March 2020.

Further information 
The total number of English 
licensing authorities may 
not always be 281 as some 
authorities were not required 
to provide a response or did 
not answer the question.

Page 212

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/taxi01-taxis-private-hire-vehilces-and-their-drivers


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 11

Taxi drivers

The Labour Force Survey collects information about individuals in the labour 
market. The data can be used to provide insight into taxi and PHV drivers.

There were an estimated 119,000 drivers operating in England during 
2020/21, which is 31% lower than 2019/20 (171,000) and 36% lower than 
ten years ago (186,000 in 2010/11).  

Chart 9: Number of “Taxi and cab drivers and chauffeurs”, England, 
2008/09 to 2020/21 (Labour Force Survey)

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Who drives taxis?
The majority of drivers were male 
(93%) in 2020/21. The proportion 
of female drivers has increased 
from 2% in recent years to 7% in 
2020/21.

Similar to last year, the average age of a driver was 48 years old, with 22% 
of drivers being aged under 40. Those aged 60 or over made up 20% of 
drivers. There has been a slight shift in the age profile of drivers over the 
past ten years, with a slightly smaller proportion of younger drivers and a 
slightly larger proportion of older drivers.

The two main ethnic groups of drivers were White and Asian or Asian British 
in 2020/21, making up 43% and 44% of drivers respectively. This compares 
to 63% and 29% respectively in 2009/10. There was an increase in the 
proportion of non-UK nationals working as drivers in England, rising from 
13% in 2009/10 to 25% in 2020/21.

93% 7%

Labour Force 
Survey 
The Labour Force 
Survey (LFS) is a large 
study of the employment 
circumstances of the 
UK population, run by 
the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). More 
information can be found  
here.

Licences vs. 
drivers 
The majority of this 
release talks about 
licences held, rather 
than drivers. Since the 
respondent self-reports 
their current occupation, 
it is possible for a person 
to hold a licence and not 
work as a driver, or for 
a person to not hold a 
licence but still claim to 
work as a driver.

Drivers 
The drivers in this section 
are defined using the 
Standard occupational 
classification system, 
SOC 2020, as “Taxi 
and cab drivers and 
chauffeurs” (code 8213), 
which will contain taxi 
drivers, PHV drivers 
and chauffeurs. The 
respondent reports 
their occupation to the 
interviewer and is then 
classified in this way 
during the interview, so 
the exact occupation of 
each respondent cannot 
be determined. As part of 
the interview respondents 
are asked whether they 
are employed or self-
employed, but this may 
differ to their status under 
employment legislation

Page 213

https://www.ons.gov.uk/surveys/informationforhouseholdsandindividuals/householdandindividualsurveys/labourforcesurveylfs


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 12

Chart 10: Age profile of “Taxi and cab drivers and chauffeurs”, England, 2010/11 and 2020/21 
(Labour Force Survey)

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Under 35 35-39 40-49 50-59 60+

2021
2011

What are drivers’ working patterns?

The proportion of self-employed drivers (83%) and the 
proportion of part-time drivers (22%) have been broadly 
stable over the last ten years.

83%

17%

Self-employed

Employee

Employment 
status

Most drivers are 
self-employed

In October to December 2020, 23% of drivers usually worked 7 days a week, back to the levels 
seen prior to the first national lockdown in 2020 where the proportion of drivers working 7 days a 
week dropped to 9%. The majority of drivers (40%) usually worked 5 days a week. 

Chart 11: Profile of usual number of days worked by “Taxi and cab drivers and chauffeurs”, 
England, October to December 2020 (Labour Force Survey)

15%

40%

21% 23%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

4 days or less 5 days 6 days 7 days

Usual number of days worked

Page 214



Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 13

Taxi passengers

The National Travel Survey (NTS) gathers data on personal travel 
behaviour across England. Data from the NTS can be used to analyse 
the users of taxis and PHVs. Note that data collected on specific travel by 
taxi/PHV cannot identify which type of service was used or if app-based 
technology was used to hail/book.

In 2019, the average person in England made 11 taxi or PHV trips and 
travelled 59 miles by taxi or PHV, which is an increase from 10 trips and a 
decrease from 62 miles in 2018. The distance travelled by taxi or PHV has 
increased by 10% over the last 10 years (from 54 miles in 2009), but the 
number of trips has remained broadly stable. The average taxi trip in 2019 
lasted 20 minutes, the same as in 2018.

Why do people travel by taxi or PHV?
Over half (51%) of trips on taxis or PHVs were taken for leisure purposes, a small increase on  
2018 (47%). The second most common trip purpose when using a taxi was shopping (14% of trips). 

Chart 12: Purpose share of taxi or PHV trips, 2019 (NTS0409)

51% 14% 11% 11% 8%

4% 3%

Leisure
Shopping
Commuting
Personal business
Education
Other
Business

How often do people use taxis or PHVs?

Most people (58%) rarely use a taxi or PHV (at most twice a year). However around a quarter 
(28%) travel by taxi or PHV at least once a month and 9% of people travel by taxi or PHV on a 
weekly basis. This has been broadly stable since 2010.

Chart 13: Frequency of taxi or PHV usage, England, 2010 and 2019 (NTS0313)
Once a 
week or 
more

Less than once 
a week, at least 
once a month

Less than once a month, 
more than once or twice 
a year

Once or twice 
a year

Less than 
once a year

National Travel 
Survey 
The National Travel 
Survey is a household 
survey carried out 
on around 15,000 
individuals in England 
every year. The results 
in this release are based 
on the 2019 results, 
and as such do not 
reflect the changes in 
travel patterns from the 
pandemic. For more 
information see here.

Page 215

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-travel-survey-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 14

Who uses taxis?

Mobility difficulties

In 2019, the number of taxi or PHV trips made by adults aged 16 or over with mobility difficulties 
has increased from 16 trips per person per year in 2010 to 21 trips per person per year. Similar 
to last year, adults with mobility difficulties use taxis or PHVs more than people without mobility 
difficulties (21 trips per person vs. 11 trips per person). 

Taxi or PHV usage makes up 3% of all trips for those with mobility difficulties, compared to just 1% 
for those without mobility difficulties. These figures have remained broadly stable since 2010.

Chart 14: Taxi or PHV trips per person per year, by mobility difficulty, England, 2019 
(NTS0709)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
0

5

10

15

20

25
Trips per person per year

With a mobility 
difficulty

No mobility 
difficulty

Mobility 
difficulties 
The NTS definition 
of having a mobility 
difficulty is based 
on those adults who 
responded to say 
they have difficulties 
travelling on foot, by 
bus or both.

Age and gender

In 2019, on average, women made more taxi or PHV trips than men (12 trips per person per year 
compared with 10 trips per person per year respectively). Women aged 70+ made 61% more 
trips than men of this age (13 trips per person per year compared with 8 trips per person per year 
respectively).

Although women make more taxi or PHV trips, both men and women travelled 59 miles per person 
by taxi or PHV in 2019.

Chart 15: Taxi or PHV trips per person per year, by gender, England, 2019 (NTS0601)

0-16 17-20 21-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70+
0

5

10

15

20

25

Age group

Trips per person per year

Page 216

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts07-car-ownership-and-access
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 15

Car access 

In 2019, on average, people in households without access to a car made 4 times as many taxi or 
PHV trips than those with access to a car (28 trips per person vs. 7 trips per person respectively), 
and travelled over twice as far (103 miles per person vs. 50 miles per person respectively). This 
pattern has remained broadly stable since 2002.

Chart 16: Taxi or PHV trips and distance travelled by taxi or PHV, England, 2019 (NTS0702)

27

8

28

7

No vehicle At least one
vehicle

2002
2019

95

49

103

50

No vehicle At least one
vehicle

2002
2019

Trips Distance (miles)

Household income

Similar to 2018, people in the lowest real household income quintile made 15 taxi or PHV trips, 
more than any other income quintile. However, those in the highest real household income level 
travelled further by taxi or PHV, on average 70 miles per person per year, while those in the lowest 
quintile travelled 69 miles per person per year. 

How far are taxi or PHV trips?
In 2019, the majority (48%) of taxi or PHV trips were between 2 and 5 miles. This was almost 
double the proportion of trips of the same distance travelled by all modes (25%). In contrast, the 
majority (43%) of all trips were under 2 miles: just under a quarter (24%) of taxi or PHV trips were 
under 2 miles.

Chart 17: Trip length distribution, for taxi or PHV trips and all modes, England, 2019 
(NTS0308)

Under 1 mile 1 to under 2 
miles

2 to under 5 
miles

5 to under 10 
miles

10 to under 25 
miles

25 miles and 
over

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Taxi or PHV     All modes

Page 217

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 16

Passenger satisfaction with taxis and PHVs

The National Highways and Transport Public Satisfaction Survey collects 
public perspectives on, and satisfaction with, highway and transportation 
services on behalf of several local authorities to inform performance 
management and local transport plans.

The National 
Highways and 
Transport Public 
Satisfaction 
Survey 
was launched in 2008. 
The survey is carried out 
in July-August of each 
year. The latest data 
available is for 2020 
and covered 109 local 
authorities in England.

Detailed statistics 
The data at LA level 
is captured through a 
randomly selected postal 
survey of households. 
However, because not 
all LAs participate the 
estimates may not be 
accurate at the national 
level.

We have excluded 
London from the analysis 
because the coverage in 
London is low.

The National Highways 
and Transport Survey 
results can be found 
here.

These figures are not 
National Statistics.

On average, in the areas outside of London surveyed in England in 2020, 
the overall public satisfaction with taxis and PHVs was 66%, the same as in 
2018 and 2019.

Chart 18: Satisfaction with elements of taxi/PHVs for taxi users (who 
use taxis/PHVs at least once a month) and non-users, England outside 
of London 2020

72

77 75

61

65

70 69

53

45

50

55

60

65

70

75

80

Overall Availability Reliabilty Cost

Taxi user

Non-taxi user

Overall satisfaction was 7 percentage points higher for those who use taxi/
PHVs at least once a month (72%) compared to non-users (65%).  This 
was reflected across other elements of satisfaction.

Of people who use a taxi/PHV at least once a month, 75% of those with a 
disability were satisfied compared to 71% of those without a disability.   in England outside of 

London in 2020

66%

Overall passenger 
satisfaction

in England outside of 
London in 2020

71%

Passenger satisfaction with 
reliability

in England outside of 
London in 2020

71%

Passenger satisfaction with 
availability

in England outside of 
London in 2020

55%

Passenger satisfaction with 
cost

Page 218

http://www.nhtnetwork.org/nht-public-satisfaction-survey/findings/


Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: England 2021 - Page 17

Background information

Users and uses of these statistics
These statistics are used within DfT to inform the development and monitoring of policy relating to taxis and 
PHVs (for example monitoring how many taxis and PHVs are wheelchair accessible) and for ministerial 
briefing or to answer public enquires. 

These statistics will also be used to monitor the implementation of the Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards issued in July 2020. 

Outside DfT, the statistics are of interest to various industry bodies and provide information for licensing 
authorities to compare themselves with other areas.  

Strengths and weaknesses of the data
The data collected will cover PHV operators and enlisted drivers who use app-based technology, such as 
Uber. However, we are not able to disaggregate which drivers are using these apps in the figures presented.

More information can be found in the Background Quality Report. 

National Statistics

The continued designation of these statistics as National Statistics was confirmed in February 2013. 
National Statistics are produced to high professional standards set out in the National Statistics Code of 
Practice. They undergo regular quality assurance reviews to ensure they meet customer needs. For details 
of ministers and officials who receive pre-release access to these statistics up to 24 hours before release: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxis-statistics-pre-release-access-list 

Next Release
The next taxi and private hire vehicle statistics release is due to be published in 2022.

To hear more about DfT statistics publications as they are released please follow us on Twitter 
via our @DfTstats account. TWITTER, TWEET, RETWEET and the Twitter logo are trademarks 
of Twitter, Inc. or its affiliates

Page 219

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-statistics-information
https://www.statisticsauthority.gov.uk/archive/assessment/assessment/assessment-reports/confirmation-of-designation-letters/letter-of-confirmation-as-national-statistics---assessment-report-221.pdf
https://code.statisticsauthority.gov.uk/
https://code.statisticsauthority.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxis-statistics-pre-release-access-list
http://www.twitter.com/DfTstats


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Licensing Committee Meeting held on 25 November 2021
	5 Terms of Reference, Procedures and Delegations.
	6 Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005 and General Licensing Update.
	7 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy.
	APPENDIX A - Taxi Policy
	APPENDIX B - CCTV Specification with tracked changes
	APPENDIX C - SYP report
	APPENDIX C1 - Driver Complaints
	APPENDIX C2 - News Reports
	APPENDIX C3 - CCTV Quotes
	APPENDIX C4 - Extracts from the Statutory Standards
	APPENDIX C5 - Extracts from Best Practice 2022
	APPENDIX D - Euro Emissions Standards
	APPENDIX D1 - Decarbonising Transport (EXTRACT)
	Cover
	Contents
	Decarbonising Transport
	Summary of Commitments
	Introduction
	Part 1 – Our path to net zero transport
	1a Vision: Clean transport is better transport
	1b How will we deliver this?
	1c The impact of this plan on transport’s emissions

	Part 2 – The plan in detail
	2a Decarbonising all forms of transport
	Increasing cycling and walking
	Zero emission buses and coaches
	Decarbonising our railways
	A zero emission fleet of cars, vans, motorcycles, and scooters
	Accelerating maritime decarbonisation
	Accelerating aviation decarbonisation

	2b Multi-modal decarbonisation and key enablers
	Delivering a zero emission freight and logistics sector
	Delivering decarbonisation through places
	Maximising the benefits of sustainable low carbon fuels
	Hydrogen’s role in a decarbonised transport system
	Future transport – more choice, better efficiency
	Supporting UK research and development as a decarbonisation enabler
	Unlocking green finance


	References

	APPENDIX D2 - Doncaster Environment  Sustainability Strategy 2020 - 2030 (Extract)
	APPENDIX D3 - Emissions Policy Examples
	APPENDIX D4 - Extracts from best Practice Emissions
	APPENDIX E - National Statistics
	About this release
	Taxi and PHV Factsheet
	Long term taxi trends
	2021 summary
	Licensed vehicles
	Licensed vehicles: Regional and local trends
	Licensed taxi and PHV vehicles per 1,000 people
	Licensed drivers
	Licensed PHV operators
	Accessibility
	Accessibility policies
	Safeguarding policies
	Taxi drivers
	Taxi passengers
	Passenger satisfaction
	Background information



	Button 6: 
	Page 1: 

	Licences vs: 


